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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The following cautionary statements idfgrimportant factors that could cause our actesbuits to differ materially from those
projected in forward-looking statements made is #hmnual Report on Form 10-K and in other reponid documents published by us from
time to time. Any statements about our beliefshpjabjectives, expectations, assumptions, futueats or performance are not historical
facts and may be forward-looking. These statemamt®ften, but not always, made through the useoodis or phrases such as “will likely
result,” “are expected to,” “will continue,” “is #éinipated,” “estimated,” “intend,” “plan,” “proje@n” and “outlook.” Any forward-looking
statements are qualified in their entirety by refiee to the factors discussed throughout this ArReport on Form 10-K and in other reports
and documents published by us from time to timetjqadarly the risk factors described under “Busise-Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this

Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Among the significant factors that coaltise our actual results to differ materially frdmose expressed in the forward-looking
statements are:

» our pending merger with XM Satellite Radio Holdirigs. (“XM Radio”), including related uncertaintiesnd risks and the impact on
our business if the merger is not comple

« the useful life of our satellites, which have exgeced circuit failures on their solar arrays attteo component failures and are not
insured,;

» our dependence upon third parties, including mastufars of SIRIUS radios, retailers, automakers@odgramming providers; ar

e our competitive position versus other forms of aualid video entertainment including terrestriaigahternet radio, cell phones, XM
Radio and emerging next generation networks arttht@ogies

Because the risk factors referred to almuld cause actual results or outcomes to difierially from those expressed in any
forward-looking statements made by us or on oualieyou should not place undue reliance on anthese forward-looking statements. In
addition, any forward-looking statement speaks @slypf the date on which it is made, and we unklema obligation to update any forward-
looking statement or statements to reflect eventiroumstances after the date on which the statémenade, to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events or otherwise. New factors gméom time to time, and it is not possible fotagpredict which will arise or to assess
with any precision the impact of each factor on lowsiness or the extent to which any factor, orlwoation of factors, may cause actual
results to differ materially from those containachny forward-looking statements.

PART |
Item 1. Business

On February 19, 2007, we and XM Radi®mt into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “wrAgreement”), pursuant to which
we and XM Radio will combine our businesses thraugherger of XM Radio and a newly formed, whollpegevsubsidiary of us (the
“Merger”). Our Board of Directors and the Board @firectors of XM Radio have approved the Merger #ra@lMerger Agreement.

The completion of the Merger is subjectdrious closing conditions, including obtainirgetapproval of our stockholders and XM
Radic's stockholders and receiving certain regulatondamtitrust approvals (including from the Federaf@munications Commission and
under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvemeidsof 1976, as amended). See “Pending Merger ¥ithRadio” for a further
description of the Merger. The information presertethis Annual Report on Form 10-K does not giffect to the Merger.

We are a satellite radio provider in thdted States. We offer over 130 channels to obsstibers—69 channels of 100% commercial-
free music and 65 channels of sports, news, taterinment, traffic, weather and
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data content. The core of our enterprise is prograng; we are committed to creating the best prognarg in all of radio.

Our primary source of revenue is subsionipfees, with most of our customers subscribm&ItRIUS on an annual or a monthly basis.
As of December 31, 2006, we had 6,024,555 subssribeaddition, we derive revenue from activatieas, the sale of advertising on some
of our non-music channels, and the direct saldRfl$S radios and accessories.

Most of our subscribers receive our sErthrough SIRIUS radios, which are sold primabojyautomakers, consumer electronics
retailers and mobile audio dealers and throughnalosite. Various brands of SIRIUS radios are ab#&lén more than 25,000 retail locations,
including Best Buy, Circuit City, Crutchfield, Cast, Target, Wal-Mart and through RadioShack onxarusive basis.

As of December 31, 2006, SIRIUS radiosensvailable as a factory and dealer-installedoopith 132 vehicle models and as a dealer
only-installed option in 17 vehicle models. We hagegeements with DaimlerChrysler, Ford, Mitsubi&¥W, Volkswagen, Kia, Bentley
and Rolls-Royce to offer SIRIUS radios as factargealer-installed equipment in their vehicles)uding Chrysler, Dodge, Jeep, Mercedes,
Ford, Lincoln, Mercury, Volvo, Mazda, Jaguar, Vallkegen, Audi, Kia, Land Rover, Mitsubishi, BMW, MINBentley and Rolls-Royce
vehicles and Freightliner and Sterling heavy trudke also have relationships with Nissan, Infinfibyota, Lexus, Scion and Subaru to offer
SIRIUS radios as factory or dealer-installed equapmin 2006, we signed new agreements with VoliggméAudi, Kia, Bentley and Rolls-
Royce. SIRIUS radios are also offered to rentetdertz vehicles at airport locations nationwide.

We offer our programming over multiplabrms in addition to our satellite and terrestrigoeater network. In 2006, we launched
SIRIUS Internet Radio, which we refer to as SIRR &l an internet service offering a CD-quality gimtet-only version of our service. SIR
delivers a simulcast of more than 75 channels otalld, entertainment, sports and music programm@wy music channels are also available
to certain DISH satellite television subscriberg] a select number of our music channels are dlaita certain subscribers to the Nationv
Sprint PCS Network.

We also offer, or are developing, angjllservices. In 2006, we introduced a service phatides graphic information as to road
closings, traffic flow and incident data to consusnith in-vehicle navigation systems and a mavieather service that provides a range of
information, including sea surface temperatureseNgeights and extended forecasts, to recreatimabrs. In 2007, we plan to introduce a
video service that will offer premium video conteleisigned primarily for children in the backseaveficles.

In 2005, SIRIUS Canada Inc., a Canad@paration owned by us, Canadian Broadcasting Gatjpm, and Standard Radio Inc.,
launched service in Canada. SIRIUS Canada currefflys 110 channels of commercial-free music aes) sports, talk and entertainment
programming, including 11 channels of Canadian@uintAs of February 13, 2007, SIRIUS Canada had 80@,000 subscribers.

Pending Merger with XM Radio

On February 19, 2007, we entered intdgreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreeeasith newly XM Satellite Radio
Holdings Inc. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement me %M Radio will combine our businesses througheager of XM Radio and a newly
formed, wholly owned subsidiary of ours (the “Merge

Each of SIRIUS and XM has made customepyesentations and warranties and covenants ikénger Agreement. The completion
of the Merger is subject to various closing comahi§i, including obtaining the approval of our and XRddio’s stockholders and receiving
certain regulatory and antitrust approvals (inahgdirom the Federal Communications Commission arateuthe Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust
Improvements Act of 1976, as amended). The Mesgarténded to qualify as a reorganization for fatlercome tax purposes.

At the effective time of the Merger (theffective Time”), by virtue of the Merger and without any action ba part of any stockholde
each share of common stock of XM Radio (the “XM @oom Stock”) issued and outstanding immediatelyrgodhe Effective Time will
generally be converted into the right to receiveshares




of our common stock. Each share of Series A CoiblerPreferred Stock of XM Radio issued and outditagn immediately prior to the
Effective Time will be similarly converted at théf&ctive Time into the right to receive 4.6 shapésa newly-designated series of our
preferred stock having substantially the same psydssignations, preferences, rights and qualifioaf limitations and restrictions as the
stock so converted.

Mel Karmazin, currently our chief exeeegtiofficer, will become chief executive officer thie combined company and Gary M. Pars
currently chairman of the board of directors of X@ddio, will become chairman of the board of direstof the combined company. The
combined company’s board of directors will consis12 directors, including Messrs. Karmazin andsBas, four independent members
designated by each of SIRIUS and XM Radio, as aglbne representatives of each of General Motar#\arerican Honda.

The Merger Agreement contains certaimieation rights for both us and XM Radio. If the ider Agreement is terminated under
certain circumstances specified in the Merger Agrer, we or XM Radio, as the case may be, willdzpiired to pay the other a termination
fee of $175,000,000.

Our Board of Directors and the Board @febtors of XM Radio has approved the Merger amdNterger Agreement.

This description of the Merger Agreemeéogs not purport to be complete and is qualifieitisientirety by reference to the Merger
Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the f@mt Report on Form 8-K dated February 21, 200d,isincorporated herein by reference.

The Merger Agreement contains represismsiand warranties that SIRIUS and XM Radio madesaich other as of specific dates. The
assertions embodied in those representations amdnti@s were made solely for purposes of the Mefgeeement between SIRIUS and >
Radio and may be subject to important qualificagiand limitations agreed to by SIRIUS and XM Rddioonnection with negotiating its
terms. Moreover, the representations and warrant@sbe subject to a contractual standard of naditgrthat may be different from what
may be viewed as material to stockholders, or naasetbeen used for the purpose of allocating riswéen SIRIUS and XM Radio rather
than establishing matters as facts. For the foregmasons, no person should rely on the reprasergand warranties as statements of
factual information at the time they were madetheowise.

Programming

We offer a dynamic programming lineug8éfchannels of 100% commercial-free music; 54 casnof sports, news, talk, and
entertainment; 11 channels of traffic and weathed informational data services. Our programmingup changes from time to time as we
strive to attract new subscribers, to create cdrlext appeals to a broad range of audiences asatigfy our existing subscribers.

Music Programming

Our music channels offer an extensivect&n of music genres—from rock, pop and hip-f@pduntry, dance, jazz, Latin and
classical. Within each genre we offer a range ohfis, styles and recordings, many of which areamatlable on terrestrial radio.

All of our music channels are broadcashmercial-free. Our channels are produced, progragnamd hosted by a team of experts in
their fields, including musical performers suchEmsinem, Jimmy Buffett, Little Steven Van Zandt, ater unique personalities such as
Cousin Brucie, Tony Hawk, and the original MTV veagg. Each channel is operated as an individuab rstdtion, with a distinct format and
branding.

In 20086,

. we launched Metropolitan Opera Radio, consistinlivefand archived operas from the famed MetropaliDpera in New York
City;

. we broadcasted concerts from Jimmy Buffett’'s Pattyhe End of the World tour exclusively on our Radargaritaville
channel;

. we broadcasted the final performance at New ’s legendary CBGBs Club; a
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. we broadcasted numerous live performances origigdtom our broadcast facility in Rockefeller Cen

In addition to our regular channels, ferochannels focused on the works of specificsestiDuring 2006, such special feature char
were dedicated to the music of Elvis Presley, Bisgengsteen, Pink Floyd, The Rolling Stones, ThHeo\eind George Strait. Some of these
feature channels are available only for a limiietkt

In January 2007, we announced a partipevgth Frank Sinatra Enterprises to create a remfiorchannel dedicated to the music, time
and spirit of Frank Sinatra.

Sports Programming

Live play-by-play sports is an importgatrt of our programming strategy. We are the CdfiGatellite Radio Partner of the National
Football League, with exclusive satellite radichtgyto use the NFL logo and collective NFL teandéraarks. We carry all NFL regular
season, pre-season and post-season games. Inarest we carry both the home and visiting team daoedcasts, as well as Spanish
language broadcasts of select games. We alsotba&§uper Bowl, which we broadcasted in 2007 iresdanguages. We also produce and
broadcast “SIRIUS NFL Radio,” an around-the-clogklasive channel of NFL content for our subscrib€ar agreement with the NFL
expires at the end of the 2010-2011 NFL season.

Starting in 2007, we broadcast live alSCAR Nextel Cup Series, NASCAR Busch Series andBRAR Craftsman Truck Series ra
over a five-year period. We have created “SIRIUSSCAR Radio,” a new around-the-clock channel of esisie NASCAR-related
programming, including Tony Stewart Live and raogarage. In addition to the live race broadcaststake fans into the cars and pits by
devoting additional “Driver2Crew Chatter” channtiat carry the driver-to-crew communications oftafd.0 different race teams during
NASCAR Nextel Cup Series races. We are the Offigatellite Radio Partner of NASCAR with exclusivedemark and marketing rights a
the right to sell advertising time on the NASCARanhel and during races.

We are the exclusive Official Satellitad® Partner of the NBA and carry NBA Radio, a tetlannel devoted to the NBA. We transmit
live play-by-play broadcasts of more than 1,000 Nd@nes during each season, including the NBA pfayarfd the NBA finals.

We also broadcast live play-by-play brcasis of up to 1,000 NHL games each season, assvdie Stanley Cup playoffs and finals
through the 2006-2007 season. We are the OfficitdIte Radio Partner of the NHL through the 2@D®7 season.

We expanded our international soccerwffgs in 2006. As the official satellite radio bdzaster of Barclays English Premier League
soccer, we have the right to air matches of the2bplubs in the United Kingdom, including Mancleedtinited. We are also the exclusive
satellite radio provider of the League’s Chelseztliall club. Every Chelsea match features an ekaysre-game show co-hosted by soccer
giant Giorgio Chinaglia. Our soccer coverage atuides live matches from the UEFA Champions League

We carry extensive live play-by-play caage of college football and basketball games. ioadcasts include football, basketball and
other sports from schools in 20 NCAA Division | ¢éerences. We also have the right to broadcastatigy of the NCAA Division | men’s
basketball tournament through 2009.

Our sports channels include ESPN RadiR M News and ESPN’s Spanish language programmBigNEDeportes.
Talk and Entertainment Programming
We offer 30 talk and entertainment chdsfar a variety of audiences.

In January 2006, Howard Stern moved &dar show to SIRIUS from terrestrial radio as dirtwo channels being programmed by
Howard Stern and us. Our agreement with Stern eggin December 31, 2010. Our
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talk radio offerings also feature dozens of poptaéc personalities, most creating radio shows #ira¢xclusively on SIRIUS, including
Senator Bill Bradley, Deepak Chopra, Richard Simsydfartha Stewart and Barbara Walters. Our divepsetrum of talk programming is a
significant differentiator from terrestrial radio.

Our comedy channels present a rangembhon the channels Laugh Break, Blue Collar Coraaaty Raw Dog Comedy and our other
entertainment channels include Cosmo Radio, MAXI&IR, Road Dog Trucking Radio, Playboy Radio andi&®isney — all exclusively
broadcast on SIRIUS. In January 2007, we annouplzets to launch “The Foxxhole”, an exclusive urlbamedy, entertainment and lifestyle
channel with Jamie Foxx.

We also broadcast the Catholic Channéthvis programmed with the assistance of the Arotele of New York.
News and Information Programming

We offer 25 news and information chann€lese channels present a range of nationalpetienal and financial news, including ne
from BBC World News, Bloomberg Radio, CNBC, CNN, X@®ews, NPR and the World Radio Network.

We offer continuous, local traffic repofor 20 metropolitan markets throughout the Uni¢akes. We broadcast these reports, togethel
with local weather reports from The Weather Chanmel11 of our channels.

We broadcast national weather reportdyored by The Weather Channel on our weather andgemey channel, which also alerts
listeners to key information during civil and nalemergencies. In addition, we insert appropeatergency announcements and broadcasts
into some or all of our channels and participatthanational Emergency Alert System.

Distribution of SIRIUS Radios
Retall

SIRIUS radios are marketed and distridtteough major national and regional retailersluding Best Buy, Circuit City, Crutchfield,
Costco, Target and Wal-Mart. SIRIUS radios are distributed on an exclusive basis by RadioShaok.dételop in-store merchandising
materials and provide sales force training for sgvestailers. SIRIUS radios are also availableomatide at various truck stops. We also sell
SIRIUS radios directly to consumers through our siteb

Automakers

Various automakers factory-install andldeinstall SIRIUS radios in their vehicles. Asldécember 31, 2006, SIRIUS radios were
available as a factory or dealer-installed optio32 vehicle models and as a dealer only-instalfgtbn in 17 vehicle models. Many
automakers include a subscription to our radioiserwn the sale or lease price of their vehiclasnhny cases, we receive subscription
payments from automakers in advance of the actimaif our service. We share with various automakepertion of the revenues we derive
from subscribers using vehicles equipped to receireservice. We also reimburse various automdkersertain costs associated with the
SIRIUS radios installed in their vehicles, incluglinardware costs, tooling expenses and promotambdvertising expenses.

Automakers have begun to incorporate S&Rinto their national and regional advertising2006, DaimlerChrysler and Ford each
implemented a national advertising campaign wittninent references to SIRIUS. We expect advertibingutomakers to increase as
SIRIUS radios become available in a wider arrayetficle models.

DaimlerChrysletWe have an agreement with DaimlerChrysler CorponatMiercedes-Benz USA, Inc. and Freightliner LLGjaf
continues until September 2012. This agreementredie distribution of our service on an excluddasis in all cars and light trucks
manufactured by DaimlerChrysler and MerceBesiz as well as Freightliner and Sterling heavgksuWe expect DaimlerChrysler to inclt
SIRIUS radios as a factory-installed feature inragpmnately 40% of its vehicles during the 2007 mogiar. In addition, Mercedes-Benz has
agreed to




include SIRIUS radios as standard equipment i2@07 model year Mercedes SL Class, CL Class, AMEaded and V12 engine vehicles.

Ford.Our agreement with Ford Motor Company and certéits@ffiliates provides for an exclusive relatstnip until September 2011
or, at Ford’s option, until September 2013. Begignin January 2009, Ford may elect to become ndugixe under the agreement, in which
case Ford would forfeit its significant future eoamic benefits. This agreement covers all Ford bsametluding Ford, Lincoln, Mercury,
Jaguar, Volvo, Land Rover, Aston Martin and Mazalisthe end of 2006, SIRIUS radios were availabla $asctory-installed option in 19
Ford, Lincoln and Mercury vehicle lines.

BMWWe have an agreement with BMW of North America wahicovides for an exclusive relationship until Asga008. This
agreement covers all BMW and MINI vehicles.

Volkswagen and Audi. March 2006, we entered into a new exclusive egent with Volkswagen of America, Inc. through J2012
or, at Volkswagen'’s option, through July 2015. Tdggeement covers all Volkswagen and Audi vehicles.

Other Automakerb April 2006, we entered into an exclusive agreetwéth Kia Motors America, Inc. Kia has agreedriolude
SIRIUS radios as standard, factory-installed eqeipinin all of its vehicles commencing in the 2008d®l year. Our agreement with Kia
extends through 2014 or, at Kia's option, through 2

We have an agreement with Mitsubishi Metdorth America which provides for an exclusiviatienship through February 2010.

In October 2006, we entered into an agere with Bentley Motors Inc. Bentley will begincinding SIRIUS radios as standard,
factory-installed equipment in its vehicles comniagadn the 2008 model year and continuing through2 Each Bentley vehicle equipped
with a SIRIUS radio will be sold with a lifetime Isscription included in the price of the car.

We also have an agreement with Rolls-Rdylotor Cars. Rolls-Royce has agreed to includd$®Radios as standard, factory-
installed equipment in all of its vehicles throu2fl08. Each Rolls-Royce vehicle will be sold withfetime subscription included in the price
of the car.

SIRIUS radios are also available as #ofg@r dealer-installed option in various vehinoledels offered by Nissan, Infiniti, Toyota,
Lexus, Scion and Subaru.

Special Markets

TrucksSIRIUS radios are available nationwide at variousk stops, including Travel Centers of Americajifid J, Petro, Pilot Travel
Centers and Interstate Connections locations. Rtl@igr, Sterling, Peterbilt, Kenworth, Volvo anatérnational offer SIRIUS radios as a
factory-installed option on the trucks they mantidee.

BoatsVarious recreational boat builders, including Sea ,FFour Winns, Chapatrral, Larson, Glastron, RaagerFormula, offer
SIRIUS radios and a prepaid subscription to owiseras a standard or optional feature on theitdhoa

Recreational VehicleSeveral leading manufacturers of recreational Ve$jéncluding Fleetwood, Monaco, Winnebago, Natipn
Tiffin and Alfa Leisure, offer SIRIUS radios asacfory-installed option.

Hertz

We have an agreement with Hertz Corponaid make SIRIUS radios available as an optidtstoental car customers. In some cases,
our service is included as part of the rental pofcElertz vehicles. In other cases, our serviagfesred as a premium feature to Hertz
customers for a daily fee. As of December 31, 2@@proximately 24,000 vehicles with SIRIUS radicsrevavailable to renters of 55 of
Hertz's vehicle models. Hertz offers SIRIUS radisirport locations nationwide.

The SIRIUS System

Our satellite radio system is designeprtivide clear reception in most areas despitatiaris in terrain, buildings and other
obstructions. Subscribers can receive our trangmmssn all outdoor locations where the




satellite radio receiver has an unobstructed lilasight with one of our satellites or is within gnof one of our terrestrial repeaters.

The FCC has allocated the portion ofSHeand located between 2320 MHz and 2345 MHz exalysfor satellite radio. We use
12.5 MHz of bandwidth in the 2320.0-2332.5 MHz fiieqcy to transmit our signals from our satelliestir subscribers. Uplink
transmissions (from the ground to our satellites® 112.5 MHz of bandwidth in the 7060-7072.5 MHzdan

Our satellite radio system consists oééhprincipal components:

. satellites, terrestrial repeaters and other segdHcilities;
. our studios; an

. SIRIUS radios

We continually monitor our infrastructuaed regularly evaluate improvements in technolégy.example, a technology known as
hierarchical modulation will allow us to offer atidnal audio channels, as well as advanced sersgieels as data and video, without
noticeably affecting our broadcasts. We expecegitboffering services using this technology in 200his increase in network capacity will
be available through select new SIRIUS radios aitichat be available to SIRIUS radios sold priorthe implementation of this technology.

Satellites, Terrestrial Repeaters and Other Satellacilities

SatellitesSpace Systems/Loral, the manufacturer of our #ateldelivered our three operating satellitesgan2000, following the
completion of in-orbit testing of each satellitaurQourth, spare satellite was delivered to grostwdage in April 2002.

Our existing satellites are of the Ldf&8-1300 model series. This family of satellites &ddstory of reliability with a total of more than
350 years of in-orbit operation time.

Each operating satellite travels in afegeight pattern extending above and below thateguand spends approximately 16 hours per
day north of the equator. At any time, two of duee satellites operate north of the equator vithiethird satellite does not transmit as it
traverses the portion of the orbit south of theagqgu This orbital configuration yields high sigredévation angles, reducing service
interruptions from signal blockage.

In June 2006, we entered into an agreemitn Space Systems/Loral to design and consauw satellite. The new satellite is
expected to be completed in the fourth quartel0®82 and launched shortly thereafter. This newllgatill complement our existing irbit
satellites and will be launched into a geostatipmabit. The redundancy of the resulting constalatonfiguration is expected to provide
enhanced coverage and performance.

We expect to further augment or replacesatellite constellation by 2012. We may eleciugment our operating satellites with our
spare satellite or with new satellites that we magchase to meet our business needs. Decisionginegaur satellite constellation may aff
the estimated useful life of our existing satedljtand we may modify the depreciable life acconginghe cost of replacing our satellites will
be substantial.

Our existing satellites have experienciecliit failures on their solar arrays. The cirdailures our satellites have experienced to da
not limit the power of our broadcast signal or effeur current operations. Additional circuit fais could reduce the estimated useful life of
our existing in-orbit satellites.

We do not maintain in-orbit insuranceigiel covering our satellites. We discontinued ioworbit insurance policies covering our
satellites following a review of the health of @atellite constellation, the exclusions from cogeraontained in the available insurance, the
costs of the available insurance, and the practitether satellite companies as to in-orbit inggea

If we are required to launch our spatelkge due to the in-orbit failure of one of oubiting satellites, our operations would be
impaired until such time as we successfully lauaieti commission our spare satellite, which coul@ sik months or more. If two or more of
our satellites fail in orbit in close proximity time, our operations




could be suspended for at least 24 months. In sueht, our business would be materially impactetivee could default on our
commitments.

Terrestrial Repeaterdn some areas with high concentrations of tailldings, such as urban centers, and in tunnelsassgrom our
satellites may be blocked and reception of oudlgatsignal can be adversely affected. In manyhefe areas, we have deployed terrestrial
repeaters to supplement our satellite coveragelai®, we have deployed 127 terrestrial repeateds urban areas. We plan to deploy a
significant number of additional terrestrial remzatin the future.

Other Satellite FacilitiesWe control and communicate with our satellit@srfrour uplink facility in New Jersey. These actest
include routine satellite orbital maneuvers and itaoimg of the satellites. We also maintain eatttiens in Panama and Ecuador to control
and communicate with our satellites.

Studios

Our programming originates from our natibbroadcast studio in New York City and smalteids in Houston, Texas; Memphis,
Tennessee; Nashville, Tennessee; Cleveland, ObmAngeles, California; and other locations. Thiéional broadcast studio houses our
corporate headquarters, facilities for programnarigination, programming personnel and facilitiegransmit programming to our orbiting
satellites.

Our studios and transmission facilitiess B000% digital, resulting in no cumulative distontto degrade the sound of our music and
entertainment programming. Our studios contairestéitthe-art production facilities.

SIRIUS Radios

We do not manufacture, import or disttéb8IRIUS radios. We do design, establish spetifina for, source parts and components for,
and manage various aspects of the logistics ardlption of SIRIUS radios. We have authorized seflemhufacturers to produce SIRIUS
radios. These radios are distributed under vaonsumer brands, including the SIRIUS brand. Owee tve expect to introduce SIRIUS
radios with new features, functionality and formttas.

To facilitate the sale of SIRIUS radie®& subsidize chip sets and a portion of radio metufing costs to effectively reduce the price
of SIRIUS radios to our subscribers. We expectdisibsidies to decrease over time.

In-dash Radio#n-dash radios are integrated into vehicles arahathe user to listen to AM, FM or SIRIUS with thash of a button.
The SIRIUS receiver can be built into the radi@onnected as a hidden external unit.

In the auto sound aftermarket, in-dasliosare available at retailers nationally. In-destios are also available to automakers for
factory or dealer installation. When factory-inkddl the cost of the SIRIUS radio is generally innigld in the sticker price of the vehicle and
may include a prepaid SIRIUS subscription.

Plug & Play RadiosPlug & Play radios enable subscribers to trartspoadio easily to and from their cars, truckanke, offices,
boats or other locations with available adaptes. lug & Play radios adapt to existing audio systéhrough FM modulation or direct
connection and can be easily installed by a retail¢he purchaser. In addition, satellite radiog”& Play systems designed for commercial
truckers are available through participating trotnufacturers, truck dealers and truck stops.

A boom box, which enables our subscribersse their SIRIUS radios virtually anywhereaisilable for various models of Plug &
Play radios.

Portable Units In 2006, we introduced the Stiletto 100, ourtfgatellite radio to provide live reception in dste mode and the first
portable satellite radio with WiFi capabilities. & Btiletto 100 allows users to capture, store apthy up to 100 hours of live SIRIUS content
or a mix of SIRIUS content and MP3/WMA files. Thal&to 100 also allows the user to record favo8tRIUS music content and bookmark
and purchase songs through compatible music dowraod subscription services, providing easy acimeS$RIUS music and other content.
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FM Modulated Radiad=M modulated radios enable our service to beivedan all vehicles with FM radios.

Home and Commercial Uni&lRIUS home units that connect to most home stgystems are available nationally. In addition, »asi
multi-tuner and multi-zone units are available tigb commercial dealers and custom installationedteallhese units allow the user to listen
to the SIRIUS service from multiple locations witld home or business.

We have also specially-designed SIRIUB&anits to interface with multiple audio and vidsmanponents. In 2006, we introduced the
SIRIUS Conductor home system with a wireless cdietrthat displays SIRIUS programming informatiardacontrols 12 components in
addition to the included receiver from up to 156tfaway. Similarly, the SiriusConnect Home tunevjes a one-cable connection to easily
add our service to SIRIUS-ready home systems maturtsd by companies such as Eton, Thomson and.Rotel

Many SIRIUS radios include a “replay” fieie, allowing listeners to pause, rewind and fasvard music, sports or talk programs. A
number of SIRIUS radios also include SIRIUS-Sedhictv alerts listeners when selected artists or sang playing; Game Alert, which
prompts listeners when their favorite teams begjame or when scores change; Game Zone, whiclalistener’s favorite team scores on
one screen; and one-touch access to traffic antheregeports for select cities.

We signed an agreement with XM Radiodwalop a unified standard for satellite radiosrial#e consumers to purchase one radio
capable of receiving both SIRIUS’ and XM Radio’svsees The technology relating to this unified stard is being developed, funded and
will be owned jointly by the two companies. Thigfigd standard is also intended to meet FCC rilasiequire interoperability of both
licensed satellite radio systems.

International

Canadaln December 2005, SIRIUS Canada launched its seimi€anada and currently offers 110 channels wingercial-free music
and news, sports, talk and entertainment progragynmicluding 11 channels of Canadian content ardHbward Stern 100 channel, for Cdn.
$14.99 per month. As of February 13, 2007, SIRI@B#tla had over 300,000 subscribers. Subscribéhe BIRIUS Canada service are not
included in our subscriber counts.

SIRIUS Canada is a Canadian corporatineal by us, Canadian Broadcasting Corporation aaddard Radio Inc. Canadian
Broadcasting Corporation is Canada’s national pulnloadcaster and one of its largest culturaltutstins, and Standard Radio Inc. is the
largest privately held owner of radio stations mn@da. SIRIUS Canada’s license to operate a $ateltiio service in Canada is subject to a
number of conditions, including the requirement BERIUS Canada offer a number of qualifying Caaadhnusic and talk channels.

Other regionsWe are in discussions with various parties reiggrgbint ventures in other countries.
Other Opportunities

Traffic and Weatheln 2006, we introduced a service that provides lg@amformation as to road closings, traffic flowdaincident
data to consumers with in-vehicle navigation systehime service reports information for 45 citiesttive source from a provider of mapping
and traffic data. Additional markets are expectetld introduced as they become available.

In 2006, we launched a marine weathareerfeaturing on-demand access to detailed inftion ranging from weather and wave
heights to sea surface temperatures, for recredtimaters. The service integrates data informatigettly into certain marine electronics
products. This marine weather service covers theofiguous states and waters extending hundreatsled into the Atlantic and Pacific
Oceans, Gulf of Mexico and Caribbean.
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SIRIUS Via Mobile Phondr.September 2005, Sprint began offering a SIRIUSImservice to its subscribers through a builiedia
player on Sprint PCS VisioPM Multimedia Phones for $6.95 per month, a portiowbfch we receive. This service includes acceg9dto
commercialfree SIRIUS music channels, plus a channel deviotedttist interviews and performances. Subscritethe Sprint service are 1
included in our subscriber counts.

Internet RadidVe offer SIRIUS subscribers the ability to listenour music channels and select non-music chaonelsthe Internet
as part of our base subscription price. In 2006lauached SIRIUS Internet Radio, which we refeasdSIR. SIR is a subscription-based
internet service offering a CD-quality, Internethomersion of our service. SIR delivers a simulaafstnore than 75 channels of our talk,
entertainment, sports and music programming. We fgadd additional content to our internet offgsrin the future. Subscribers to SIR are
included in our subscriber counts.

DISH NetworkWe offer our music channels to subscribers asgiarertain programming packages of the DISH Nekwsatellite
television service.

Videoln 2007, we plan to introduce a video service thifltoffer premium video content designed primarfigy children in the backse
of vehicles. Introduction of the service will bepgedent upon several factors, including the devetag and implementation of new
technology and the timing of new product introdoe by distributors. We cannot predict with cettiginhen this service will be introduced.

Competition

We face competition for listeners, consulectronics and audio spending, and advertiditigrs. In addition to pre-recorded
entertainment purchased or playing in cars, homdsuaing portable players, we compete most direvitly the following services:

Traditional AM/FM RadioUnlike SIRIUS radio, traditional AM/FM radio h&sad a well established market for its servicesriany
years and offers free broadcast reception paidbyaommercial advertising rather than by a sub$orifee. Also, many radio stations of
information programming of a local nature, suchoasl news and sports, which we do not offer asaifely as local radio. The AM/FM
radio broadcasting industry is highly competitivithwespect to listeners and advertising revenBeme radio stations also have begun
reducing the number of commercials per hour, exjpanithe range of music played on the air and erpenting with new formats in order to
compete with us. Several major radio companies Faweched advertising campaigns designed to atbseltenefits of traditional local
AM/FM radio. Radio comes as a standard featuresémevehicle manufactured without an additionalt¢oghe consumer.

Digital, or HD, RadiowWhile most traditional AM/FM radio stations broadtdy means of analog signals, the radio indusig/rhade
significant strides in rolling out advanced digiticlnsmission technology. Digital broadcasting ffieigher sound quality than traditional
analog signals and the multicast of as many asstizgons per frequency, significantly increasing quality and quantity of content available
to consumers. Digital radio broadcast services Ihaen expanding, and an increasing number of stdimns in the U.S. have begun digital
broadcasting or are in the process of convertirdjgital broadcasting. Over 1,150 radio stationthiaUnited States currently broadcast
digitally. Like with traditional radio, digital rad is generally offered to subscribers without eviee charge. BMW recently became the first
automaker to offer factory-installed HD digital radeceivers as an option across all of its 200d@hgear vehicles, and retail HD digital
radios are available nationwide at many large lexai

A number of leading radio broadcasteretjained together to form the HD Digital Radio ialice to accelerate the successful rolloi
digital radio. The HD Digital Radio Alliance hasranunced a $250 million on-air advertising campa@spur the adoption of digital radio.

XM Radio XM Radio is the other FCC licensee for satellitdio service in the United States. XM Radio hasoamced that it had
7,628,552 subscribers as of December 31, 2006. MdifldRoroadcasts certain programming that we dwfiet and is offered on various car
model brands which do not also offer SIRIUS radios.
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Digital Music Services and Other Consutksctronic DevicesWe face vigorous competition from various servicHering digital
music products and services, including subscriptiaisic services, free peer-to-peer music servinddraee streaming of digital content via
the Internet.

Internet radio broadcasts have no geddgedjmitations and can provide listeners with mgrogramming from around the country and
the world. We expect that improvements from highemdwidths, faster modems and wider programmingciehs may make Internet radio
an even more significant competitor for listeninghie home and office. Technologies like WiMax waibo make internet radio more
pervasive. In addition to the many free Internetains offered by radio companies like Clear Char@B5 Radio or other smaller compan
subscription Internet music services, such as Yahosic and Napster, offer unlimited and fully-cusiaable play lists for a small fixed fee
per month. These services may be used for listeatiRCs or home media centers.

The Apple iPod ®, a portable digital nagiayer, allows users to convert music on comgestts to digital files and to download and
purchase music and video through Apple’s iTunes ikl Store, which features over 2 million songspkesold 46.4 million iPods ®@uring
the last four quarters. iPods ® are compatible witiny car stereos and home speaker systems. Aapleeached agreement with automobile
manufacturers to preinstall equipment in vehicléschv will allow users to play music from their iPtttough the automobile sound system.

Wireless Phone ProvideB&everal of the largest wireless providers curreoflgr music to cellular phones. Additionally, mapiyones
now contain FM radio receivers. Sprint Nextel cotigoffers streaming music from a variety of pmetis plus a music store for purchase.
Verizon Wireless offers the V Cast music servic ttan be played directly on a phone. AT&T offersadety of streaming content and has
also partnered with Apple to offer the upcomingaRé.

Next Generation Wireled¢ext generation wireless protocols will offer ungedented broadband coverage with enhanced dasa rate
reliability, and broadcast capabilities. Sprint ixannounced in August 2006 its plans to devebepfitst fourth generation nationwide
mobile broadband network, which will use the WiMA¥andard, and deploy it in some markets during 208@ company has targeted a
national rollout for 2008 and will use Sprint’s ersive holdings, which cover 85 percent of the bbokls in the top 100 U.S. markets. When
these or other services achieve ubiquitous mobdadband capability, the relative competitivengssun product offering may suffer.

Direct Broadcast Satellite and Cable AudA number of companies provide specialized audiwises through either direct broadcast
satellite or cable audio systems. These servieetaggeted to fixed locations, mostly in-home. Tédio service offered by direct broadcast
satellite and cable audio is often included as giat package of digital services with video sesyi@nd video customers therefore generall
not pay an additional monthly charge for the awsdiorice.

Other Advanced Digital Media Servic&¥e may face competition from businesses that hameunced plans to deliver entertainment
and media content through cell phones and otheslegis devices.

. In December 2005, Verizon Wireless announced agesgent with MediaFLO USA, a subsidiary of QUALCOM1d,
offer interactive wireless multimedia services oMerdiaFLO’s nationwide 700 MHz network. Verizon intends torlah
commercial service through MediaFLO during 2007arrttie VCast Mobile TV brani

. Modeo LLC, a subsidiary of Crown Castle Internasib@orp., owns nationwide spectrum in the 1670-16Hz band
and has developed a mobile de-based multimedia service, which it plans to laucammercially.

. HiWire, an affiliate of Aloha Partners, announcedvlarch 2006 that it intends to develop a natiomwitbbile device-
based multimedia service over Al¢s footprint of 700 MHz spectrur

. In 2005, Sprint Nextel, Comcast, Time Warner CaBlex Communications and Advance/Newhouse Commuaitat
announced their formation of a joint venture tovile
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customers throughout the United States accessvemadd integrated entertainment products and sesyviacluding
streaming television programming, music, videogligames and pre-recorded DVR programs, commuaisaénd
wireless products. During 2006, the joint venturguared wireless telecommunications spectrum thinabg United
States government’s Advanced Wireless Servicesaai¢hrough which it intends to offer wireless aoomications
services

Government Regulation

As an operator of a privately owned dig¢eystem, we are regulated by the FCC undeCtramunications Act of 1934. The FCC is
the government agency with primary authority in theéted States over satellite radio communicati®s.currently must comply with
regulation by the FCC principally with respect to:

. the licensing of our satellite syste
. preventing interference with or to other usersaafio frequencies; ar
. compliance with FCC rules established specificlllyU.S. satellites and satellite radio servic

Any assignment or transfer of controbaf FCC license must be approved by the FCC. Silpjlaur merger with XM Radio is
conditioned upon approval of the transaction byRGE.

In 1997, we were one of two winning bidgifor an FCC license to operate a satellite digiaio radio service and provide other
ancillary services. Our FCC license expires in 20@r to the expiration, we will be required fapdy for a renewal of our FCC license. We
anticipate that, absent significant misconduct onpart, the FCC will renew our license to pernpemtion of our satellites for their useful
lives, and grant a license for any replacementlgate

In some areas with high concentrationglbbuildings, such as urban centers, signalsfour satellites may be blocked and reception
can be adversely affected. In many of these avembave installed terrestrial repeaters to supphtmer satellite signal coverage. The FCC
has not yet established rules governing terrest@aters. A rulemaking on the subject was iitidty the FCC in March 1997 and is still
pending. Many comments have been filed as pattisfrtilemaking, including comments from the Natioissociation of Broadcasters, me
cellular telephone system operators and other m®lofespectrum adjoining ours. The comments covamymopics relating to the operation of
our terrestrial repeaters, but principally seegnmtect adjoining wireless services from interfenNe cannot predict the outcome or timing
of these FCC proceedings and the final rules addpgghe FCC may limit our ability to deploy addital terrestrial repeaters, require us to
reduce the power of our existing terrestrial repesabr fail to protect us from interference by awmijug spectrum holders. In the interim, the
FCC has granted us special temporary authoritpéraie over 200 terrestrial repeaters and offeseruice on a non-harmful interference
basis to other wireless services.

We design, establish specifications $oyrce parts and components for, and manage vagpests of the logistic and production of
SIRIUS radios, including SIRIUS radios that incluel modulators. Part 15 of the FCC'’s rules estabdisiumber of requirements relating to
FM modulators, including emissions and frequendgsiuThe FCC is reviewing whether the FM transnstte certain SIRIUS radios comply
with the Commission’s emissions and frequency rilés are cooperating with the FCC in its on-goimguiiry, and have discovered that
certain SIRIUS personnel requested manufacturgusaduce SIRIUS radios that were not consistertt thiese rules. We are taking
significant steps to ensure that this situationsdo@ happen again, including the adoption of agreimensive compliance plan, approved by
our board of directors, to ensure that our prodoetsply with all applicable FCC rules. We have diegl manufacturers of SIRIUS radios
with FM transmitters to make the necessary chamgpsoduction to bring the radios into complianéée believe our radios that are currently
in production comply with applicable FCC rules. THeC's inquiry may result in fines, additional licse2 conditions or other FCC actions that
are detrimental to our business.

In 2006, we entered into an agreemerit Bjiace Systems/Loral to design and construct esagllite. In September 2006, we filed an
application with the FCC to amend our license td #nis satellite to our existing satellite congtitin. No one has filed comments on our
application with the FCC. We cannot predict whem EICC will act on our application, and we cannosbee that the modification we have
requested will be granted.
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Our FCC license is conditioned on usify@ng that our system includes a receiver deskgt will permit end users to access XM
Radio’s system. We have signed an agreement with XM Radievelop jointly a unified standard for satellitdios to facilitate the ability
consumers to purchase one radio capable of regeiddth our and XM Radio’s services. We believe thet agreement, and our efforts with
XM Radio to develop this unified standard for sitteladios, satisfies the interoperability congliticontained in our FCC license.

The Communications Act prohibits the @ste of a license to a foreign government or sesgntative of a foreign government, and
contains limitations on the ownership of commorriearbroadcast and some other radio licenses bylh8. citizens. We are regulated as a
subscription-based, non-common carrier by the F@Caae not a broadcast service. As such, we areauwtd by the foreign ownership
provisions of the Communications Act. As a privedgrier, we are free to set our own prices andesemstomers according to our own
business judgment without economic regulation.

Changes in law or regulations relatingasmmunications policy or to matters affecting service could adversely affect our ability to
retain our FCC license or the manner in which werage.

The SIRIUS Trademark

We have several registrations and apmteypplications in the U.S. Patent and Trademaric®fbr the “SIRIUS” trademark and the
“Dog Design” logo used in connection with our protiuand service. We intend to maintain our tradémand the applications and
registrations therefor. We are not aware of anyenmtclaims of infringement or other challenge®tw right to use the “SIRIUS” trademark
or the “Dog Design” logo in the United States imoection with our products or service.

Copyrights in Programming

In connection with our music programming must negotiate and enter into royalty arrangaswith two sets of rights holders:
holders of copyrights in musical works, or songsl holders of copyrights in sound recordings—respcadssettes, compact discs and audio
files.

Musical works rights holders, generatiywgwriters and music publishers, are representgabbiprming rights organizations such as the
American Society of Composers, Authors and Publisher ASCAP, Broadcast Music, Inc., or BMI, andS2¥, Inc. These organizations
negotiate fees with copyright users, collect ragaland distribute them to the rights holders. @ublic performance license agreements with
ASCAP and SESAC expired at the end of 2006. We katered into an interim license agreement with AB@nd BMI to pay royalties for
our public performances of musical works by oueli& radio service, and are in discussions reiggrtinal licenses. If we are unable to
reach final agreements with ASCAP, BMI and SESA@)\alty rate may ultimately be established throlitiation.

Sound recording rights holders, typicédisge record companies, are primarily represebjeSoundExchange, an organization which
negotiates licenses and collects and distributgslties on behalf of record companies and perfognairtists. Our agreement with
SoundExchange to pay royalties for our public penfinces of sound recordings by our satellite radiwice expired at the end of 2006. A
proceeding has commenced before the Copyright RoBalard of the Library of Congress to establish thyalty rate and terms for the sot
recordings we use on our satellite radio servic@®7 through 2012. In October 2006, we and XMiRé&ted our direct case in this
proceeding with the Copyright Royalty Board andgmeed a royalty rate for our satellite radio suipsion revenue. SoundExchange also
submitted its direct case in this proceeding amgp@sed a substantially higher royalty rate tharpregposed. The submission of direct cases is
the beginning of a twelve to eighteen month proedsish, absent an agreement among the partiestesililt in a determination by the
Copyright Royalty Board of an applicable royaltyera

We cannot assure that our royalty fedkramain at current levels or that additionalgétion will not arise in connection with royalty
arrangements, and we cannot predict what the twsis of a proceeding or a settlement of suchutisor disputes might be.
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Personnel

As of December 31, 2006, we had 772 eygas. In addition, we rely upon a number of comsu$t, other advisors and outsourced
relationships. None of our employees is represemyeal labor union, and we believe that our relatfop with our employees is good.

Corporate Information

Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. was incorgethin the State of Delaware as Satellite CD Rddim,on May 17, 1990. On December 7, 1¢
we changed our name to CD Radio Inc., and we foranetiolly owned subsidiary, Satellite CD Radio,.Jhat is the holder of our FCC
license. On November 18, 1999, we changed our riar8&ius Satellite Radio Inc. Our executive officae located at 1221 Avenue of the
Americas, 36th floor, New York, New York 10020 ama telephone number is (212) 584-5100. Our intesddress is SIRIUS.com. Our
annual, quarterly and current reports, and amentinterithose reports, filed or furnished pursuargection 14(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 may be accessed free of chilargegh our website after we have electronicalgdfsuch material with, or furnished it
to, the SEC. SIRIUS.com is an inactive textual reriee only, meaning that the information contaioedhe website is not part of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and is not incorporated in thgort by reference.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Certain information regarding our exeeeaitdfficers is provided below:

Name Age Position
Mel Karmazin 63 Chief Executive Office
Scott A. Greenstei a7 President, Entertainment and Spc
James E. Meye 52 President, Sales and Operatit
Patrick L. Donnelly 45 Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Sy
David J. Frea 50 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Mel Karmazin has served as our Chief Executive Officer and a begrof our board of directors since November 2@0#r to joining
us, Mr. Karmazin was President and Chief Operdiffgcer and a member of the board of directors @c@m Inc. from May 2000 until June
2004. Prior to joining Viacom, Mr. Karmazin was &ident and Chief Executive Officer of CBS Corparatfrom January 1999 and a direc
of CBS Corporation from 1997 until its merger witlacom in May 2000. He was President and Chief @firegy Officer of CBS Corporation
from April 1998 through December 1998. Mr. Karmajpimed CBS Corporation in December 1996 as Chairaral Chief Executive Officer
of CBS Radio and served as Chairman and Chief ExecOfficer of the CBS Station Group (Radio andeliesion) from May 1997 to April
1998. Prior to joining CBS Corporation, Mr. Karmazsierved as President and Chief Executive Offi€énfmity Broadcasting Corporation
from 1981 until its acquisition by CBS CorporatiorDecember 1996. Mr. Karmazin served as ChairrRaesident and Chief Executive
Officer of Infinity from December 1998 until the mger of Infinity Broadcasting Corporation with Viam in February 2001.

Scott A. Greensteinhas served as our President, Entertainment andsSporce May 2004. Prior to May 2004, Mr. Greeimsteas
Chief Executive Officer of The Greenstein Groupadia and entertainment consulting firm. From 1988 2002, he was Chairman of U¢
Films, a motion picture production, marketing amgtribution company. From 1997 until 1999, Mr. Qustein was Co-President of October
Films, a motion picture production, marketing amgtrébution company. Prior to joining October FilpMr. Greenstein was Senior Vice
President of Motion Pictures, Music, New Media &ublishing at Miramax Films, and held senior posisi at Viacom Inc., a diversified
media and entertainment company.

James E. Meyerhas served as our President, Sales and Operatinns,May 2004. Prior to May 2004, Mr. Meyer wasdfdent of
Aegis Ventures Incorporated, a consulting firm thiatvides general management services. From Deae20Bé until 2002, Mr. Meyer
served as special advisor to the Chairman of TharsA., a leading consumer electronics companymRranuary 1997 until December
2001, Mr. Meyer served as the Senior Executive Yiesident for Thomson as well as the Chief Opagdiifficer for Thomson Consumer
Electronics.
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From 1992 until 1996, Mr. Meyer served as Thoms@esior Vice President of Product Management. Mey#f is a director of Gemstar-TV
Guide International, Inc.

Patrick L. Donnelly has served as our Executive Vice President, Ge@aahsel and Secretary since May 1998. From Ju@ié tt9
May 1998, he was Vice President and deputy geweraisel of ITT Corporation, a hotel, gaming andc&gatnment company that was
acquired by Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, in February 1998. From October 1995 to June 1887%vas assistant general counsel
of ITT Corporation. Prior to October 1995, Mr. Datiy was an associate at the law firm of Simpsoacher & Bartlett LLP.

David J. Frear has served as our Executive Vice President andf Elriancial Officer since June 2003. From July 189®ugh
February 2003, Mr. Frear was Executive Vice Pregided Chief Financial Officer of Savvis Communicas Corporation, a global managed
service provider, delivering internet protocol apglions for business customers. From October 18@f1gh February 2003, Mr. Frear also
served as a director of Savvis. Mr. Frear was dapendent consultant in the telecommunicationssimgdirom August 1998 until June 1999.
From October 1993 to July 1998, Mr. Frear was Seviice President and Chief Financial Officer of @riNetwork Systems Inc., an
international satellite communications company thas acquired by Loral Space & Communications Irtdarch 1998. From 1990 to 1993,
Mr. Frear was Chief Financial Officer of Milliconm¢orporated, a cellular paging and cable televismmpany. Prior to joining Millicom, he
was an investment banker at Bear, Stearns & Co.almd Credit Suisse.

Employment Agreements
We have entered into an employment ageeemith each of our executive officers, and thageements are described below.

Mel Karmazin.In November 2004, we entered into a five-year ageyd with Mel Karmazin to serve as our Chief ExamuOfficer.
We pay Mr. Karmazin a base salary of $1,250,000/par, and annual bonuses in an amount determadyear by the Compensation
Committee of our board of directors.

Pursuant to our agreement with Mr. Kanmgalzis stock options and shares of restrictedkstatt vest upon his termination of
employment for good reason, upon his death or ditsahnd in the event of a change in control. e event Mr. Karmazin’s employment is
terminated by us without cause, his unvested sbptions and shares of restricted stock will vest lbecome exercisable, and he will receive
his current base salary for the remainder of tha &nd any earned but unpaid annual bonus.

In the event that any payment we makdemefit we provide, to Mr. Karmazin would requiien to pay an excise tax under Section
280G of the United States Internal Revenue Coddyave agreed to pay Mr. Karmazin the amount of saxtand such additional amount as
may be necessary to place him in the exact saraadial position that he would have been in if tkeige tax was not imposed.

Scott A. GreensteinMr. Greenstein has agreed to serve as our Presifetartainment and Sports, through July 2009,vemgay Mr.
Greenstein an annual salary of $800,000.

If Mr. Greenstein’s employment is termatwithout cause or he terminates his employmangdod reason, he is entitled to receive a
lump sum payment equal to (1) his base salaryfecefrom the termination date through July 2006 &) any annual bonuses, at a level
equal to 60% of his base salary, that would haes lmeistomarily paid during the period from the t@ation date through July 2009. In the
event Mr. Greenstein’s employment is terminatedhat cause or he terminates his employment for geaslon, we are also obligated to
continue his medical, disability and life insuramemefits for eighteen months following his terntioa.

If, following the occurrence of a changeontrol, Mr. Greenstein is terminated withoutisa or he terminates his employment for g
reason, we are obligated to pay Mr. Greensteitetsger of (1) four times his base salary and (2 8 the multiple of base salary, if any, t
our chief executive officer would be entitled t@eese under his or her employment agreement ifrlghe was terminated without cause or
terminated for good reason following such changeoimtrol. We are also obligated to continue Mr.&histein’s medical, disability and life
insurance benefits, or pay him an amount sufficiemeplace these benefits, until the third anrsgey of his termination date.
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In the event that any payment we makd&emefit we provide, to Mr. Greenstein would requifm to pay an excise tax under Section
280G of the United States Internal Revenue Codéyave agreed to pay Mr. Greenstein the amountaf tax and such additional amount as
may be necessary to place him in the exact saraadial position that he would have been in if tReige tax was not imposed.

James E. MeyerMr. Meyer has agreed to serve as our Presidergs@ald Operations, until April 2007 and we pay Meyer an
annual salary of $900,000.

If, following the occurrence of a changeontrol, Mr. Meyer is terminated without causehe terminates his employment for good
reason, we are obligated to pay Mr. Meyer the les&€L) four times his base salary, and (2) 80%hefmultiple of base salary, if any, that
our chief executive officer would be entitled t@eese under his or her employment agreement ifrlghe was terminated without cause or
terminated for good reason following such changeoafrol. We are also obligated to continue Mr. Eiéy medical, disability and life
insurance benefits, or pay him an amount sufficiemeplace these benefits, until the third anrggey of his termination date.

In the event that any payment we makdemefit we provide, to Mr. Meyer would require hiopay an excise tax under Section 280G
of the United States Internal Revenue Code, we hgweed to pay Mr. Meyer the amount of such taxsarth additional amount as may be
necessary to place him in the exact same finapoisition that he would have been in if the excésewere not imposed.

Upon the expiration of Mr. Meyer's empfognt agreement in April 2007, we have agreed terdffr. Meyer a one-year consulting
agreement. We expect to reimburse Mr. Meyer foofallis reasonable out-of-pocket expenses assdaidth the performance of his
obligations under this consulting agreement, bubakoexpect to pay him any cash compensation. Miyévfs stock options will continue to
vest and will be exercisable during the term of tonsulting agreement.

Patrick L. Donnelly.Mr. Donnelly has agreed to serve as our Executiee YPresident, General Counsel and Secretary, ghréypril
2007, and we pay Mr. Donnelly an annual base sala$#50,000.

If Mr. Donnellys employment is terminated without cause or heiteatas his employment for good reason, we are atdijto pay Mi
Donnelly his annual salary and the annual bonugplas to him and to continue his medical, dis&p#ind life insurance benefits for one y¢

In the event that any payment we makdemefit we provide, to Mr. Donnelly would requiten to pay an excise tax under Section
280G of the United States Internal Revenue Coddyave agreed to pay Mr. Donnelly the amount of daghand such additional amount as
may be necessary to place him in the exact saraadial position that he would have been in if tkeige tax was not imposed.

David J. Frear.Mr. Frear has agreed to serve as our Executive Riesident and Chief Financial Officer through 0P8, and we
pay Mr. Frear an annual salary of $525,000.

If Mr. Frear’'s employment is terminatedheut cause or he terminates his employment fodgeason, we are obligated to pay Mr.
Frear his annual salary and the annual bonus &gt him.

In the event that any payment we makd&emefit we provide, to Mr. Frear would require limpay an excise tax under Section 280G
of the United States Internal Revenue Code, we hgweed to pay Mr. Frear the amount of such taxsaietl additional amount as may be
necessary to place him in the exact same finapoisition that he would have been in if the excésewas not imposed.

Additional information regarding the coemgation for Messrs. Karmazin, Greenstein, Meyenri2lly and Frear will be included in ¢
definitive proxy statement for our 2007 annual rmepbf stockholders to be held on Thursday, May2nQ7.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information imis Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the imf@tion under the caption “Competition,”
the following risk factors should be consideredeatally in evaluating us and our business. This AhfReport on Form 10-K contains
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the faldszcurities laws. Actual results and the timiriggeents could differ materially
from those projected in forwa-
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looking statements due to a number of factorsyitioly those set forth below and elsewhere in thisual Report on Form 10-K. Se&pecia
Note Regarding ForwarLooking Statements.”

Failure of our satellites would significantly damag our business.

Our three satellites were launched inl2@We do not maintain in-orbit insurance policiesering our satellites. We estimate that two
of our in-orbit satellites will have a 13 year uddife and our third in-orbit satellite will hawe 15 year useful life from the time of launch. In
2006, we adjusted the useful lives of two of ouoihit satellites from 15 years to 13 years toaetfthe way we intend to operate the
constellation. Our operating results would be maligradversely affected if the useful life of osmtellites is significantly shorter than we
expect, whether as a result of a satellite faibureechnical obsolescence, and we fail to launplacement satellites in a timely manner.

The useful lives of our satellites willry and depend on a number of factors, including:

. degradation and durability of solar pant

. quality of construction

. random failure of satellite components, which caelsult in significant damage to or loss of a $itée

. amount of fuel our satellites consume; i

. damage or destruction by electrostatic storms bisimms with other objects in space, which occaolydn rare case:

Our satellites have experienced cirailufes on their solar arrays. The circuit failuoes satellites have experienced do not affect our
current operations. Additional circuit failures tsbueduce the estimated useful life of our existimgrbit satellites.

In the ordinary course of operation, Kites experience failures of component parts gperational and performance anomalies.
Components on our in-orbit satellites have faikut from time to time we have experienced anomali¢ise operation and performance of
our satellites. These failures and anomalies goea#®d to continue in the ordinary course, ansliinpossible to predict if any of these future
events will have a material adverse effect on @arations or the useful life of our existing in-batellites.

If one of our three satellites fails irbib, our service would be impaired until such tiaewe successfully launch and commission our
spare satellite, which would take six months orendfrtwo or more of our satellites fail in orbit €lose proximity in time, our service could
be suspended for at least 24 months. In such esenhusiness would be materially impacted and evdccdefault on our commitments.

In June 2006, we entered into an agreémitn Space Systems/Loral to design and consauw satellite. The new satellite is
expected to be completed in the fourth quartet0®82 and launched shortly thereafter. Satellitedaes have significant risks, including
launch failure, damage or destruction of the steadluring launch and failure to achieve a progéit@r operate as planned. Our agreement
with Space Systems/Loral does not protect us agtiasisks inherent in a satellite launch or ibiboperations.

Failure to comply with FCC requirements could damag our business.

As the holder of an FCC license to opeeasatellite radio service in the United Statesave subject to FCC rules and regulations. The
terms of our license require us to meet certairditimms, including designing a receiver that willrmit end users to access XM Radio’s
system; coordination of our satellite radio serwigth radio systems operating in the same rangeegfiencies in neighboring countries; and
coordination of our communications links to ouredigges with other systems that operate in the skewiency band. Non-compliance by us
with these conditions could result in fines, additil license conditions, license revocation or ottegrimental FCC actions.
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The FCC is reviewing whether the FM traitgers in certain SIRIUS radios comply with then@ission’s emissions and frequency
rules. We are cooperating with the FCC in its omganquiry, and have discovered that certain SIRersonnel requested manufacturers to
produce SIRIUS radios that were not consistent thifse rules. We are taking significant steps suenthat this situation does not happen
again, including the adoption of a comprehensivap@nce plan, approved by our board of directtr&nsure that in the future our products
comply with all applicable FCC rules. We have dieecmanufacturers of SIRIUS radios with FM transenst to make the necessary changes
in production to bring the radios into compliandée believe our radios that are currently in proauctomply with applicable FCC rules.
SIRIUS radios that include compliant FM transmgtaray be subject to some transmission noise, whanresult in us encouraging
professional installation in some cases. We coatioustudy methods to improve the customer expegiéor our subscribers using SIRIUS
radios that rely on FM transmissions. The FCC'alingmay result in fines, additional license coratis or other FCC actions that are
detrimental to our business.

The FCC has not yet issued final rulasniiting us to operate and deploy terrestrial régresato fill gaps in our satellite coverage. We
are operating our terrestrial repeaters on a “mé@rierence” basis pursuant to a grant of speemapbrary authority from the FCC. The FGC’
final terrestrial repeater rules may require usetduce the power of our terrestrial repeaters emnitl dur ability to deploy additional repeaters.
If the FCC requires us to reduce significantly plogver of our terrestrial repeaters, this would harnedverse effect on the quality of our
service in certain markets and/or cause us to alteterrestrial repeater infrastructure at a @il cost. If the FCC limits our ability to
deploy additional terrestrial repeaters, our aptlitimprove any deficiencies in our service qyalitat may be identified in the future would
be adversely affected.

In October 2006, we ceased operatingf ilipterrestrial repeaters which we discovered heeh operating at variance to the
specifications and applied to the FCC for new atithh¢o resume operating these repeaters. Ourréattu comply with the initial special
temporary authority could result in disciplinantian by the FCC, although we do not believe sudtoaavould have a material adverse ef
on our business or operations.

We may from time to time modify our business planand these changes could adversely affect us and durancial condition.

We regularly evaluate our plans and styat These evaluations often result in changesit@lans and strategy, some of which may be
material and significantly change our cash requéets or cause us to achieve cash flow breakevate#tr date. These changes in our plans
or strategy may include: the acquisition of unigaeompelling programming; the introduction of nfaatures or services; significant new or
enhanced distribution arrangements; investmeritgfiastructure, such as satellites, equipment diorapectrum; and acquisitions of third
parties that own programming, distribution, infrasture, assets, or any combination of the foregoin

To fund incremental cash requirementgsomarket opportunities arise, we may chooseige eadditional funds through the sale of
additional debt securities, equity securities oombination of debt and equity securities. The irence of indebtedness would result in
increased fiscal obligations and could contain &amluil restrictive covenants. The sale of additi@tpuity or convertible debt securities wo
result in dilution to our stockholders. These dddil sources of funds may not be available aaydilable, may not be available on terms
favorable to us.

Our business might never become profitable.

As of December 31, 2006, we had an actated deficit of approximately $3.8 billion. We eqi our cumulative net losses to grow as
we make payments under various contracts, incuketiag and subscriber acquisition costs and matezest payments on our debt. If we are
unable ultimately to generate sufficient revenuelse¢come profitable, we could default on our commaitts and may have to discontinue
operations or seek a purchaser for our busineassats.

Programming is an important part of our service, ar the costs to renew our programming arrangements ay be more than
anticipated.

Third-party content is an important pafrour service, and we compete with many partiesémtent. We have entered into a number of
important content arrangements, including agreesneiih the NFL, Howard Stern and NASCAR, which riegqus to pay substantial sums.
Our agreement with the NFL expires at the end ef th
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2010-2011 NFL season; our agreement with Howarch&bepires in December 2010; and our agreementMABCAR expires in 2011. As
these agreements expire, we may not be able tdiaggoenewals of one or more of these agreementgnew such agreements at costs we
believe are attractive.

In addition, we may not be able to obtaiditional third-party content within the costst@mplated by our business plan. We must
negotiate and enter into music programming royaltgngements with BMI, ASCAP, SESAC and SoundExghale are currently party to
a proceeding before the Copyright Royalty BoarthefLibrary of Congress to establish the royalte mnd terms for the sound recordings we
use on our satellite radio service for the permd?007 through 2012. Such royalty arrangements lmeayore costly than anticipated. We
cannot assure that our royalty fees will remaiauatent levels or that additional arbitration aigiation will not arise in connection with
royalty arrangements, and we cannot predict whattsts to us of a proceeding or a settlementdf awispute or disputes might be.

Higher than expected costs of attracting new subsitrers and retaining current subscribers could advesely affect our financial
performance and operating results.

We are spending substantial funds on ridugeg and marketing and in transactions with eakers, radio manufacturers, retailers and
others to obtain and attract subscribers. If trstscof attracting and retaining subscribers aratgrehan expected, our financial performance
and operating results could be adversely affected.

Higher subscriber turnover could adversely affect ar financial performance and operating results.

We are experiencing, and expect to caetiio experience in the future, subscriber turnomechurn. High subscriber turnover, or our
inability to attract customers to our service, wbatlversely affect our financial performance anerafing results.

Weaker than expected market and advertiser acceptae of our service could adversely affect our advasding revenue and results of
operations.

Our ability to generate advertising revesis directly affected by the number of subscsilbe our service and the amount of time
subscribers spend listening to our talk and entertant channels or our traffic and weather servidgr. ability to generate advertising
revenues also depends on several factors, inclubdatevel and type of market penetration of ouvise, competition for advertising dollars
from other media, and changes in the advertisidgstry and economy generally. We directly competetidiences and advertising revenues
with traditional AM/FM radio stations, some of whieaintain longstanding relationships with adverssand possess greater resources than
we do.

We attract a substantial number of our new subscrikrs during the fourth quarter and our inability to deliver competitive products
during the fourth quarter could have a material adwerse affect on our operations.

We attract a disproportionate share ofrmw subscribers each year during the fourth quéscause of the holiday season. For
example, in 2006 we attracted approximately 33%usfnew subscribers during the fourth quarter. Assalt, our failure to properly manage
radio inventory, respond to changing technology empetitive pressures or deliver a competitivedpod during the fourth quarter could
significantly reduce our number of new subscrilz@d have an adverse affect on our operations. ¥éeda@pend on third parties to
manufacture, distribute, market and sell SIRIUSasdand their failure to perform during the fougtiiarter could have an adverse affect on
our operations.

Failure of third parties to perform could adversely affect our business.

Our business depends in part on thetsffufrthird parties, especially the efforts of:

. automakers that manufacture, market and sell vehizhpable of receiving our service, but in marsgsdave no obligations to
do so;

. consumer electronics manufacturers that manufaetueistribute SIRIUS radio

. companies that manufacture and sell integrateditiréor SIRIUS radios

. programming providers and -air talent, including Howard Ster

. retailers that market and sell SIRIUS radios ammhmte subscriptions to our service;

. third party vendors that have designed, built, suppr operate important elements of our systerch
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as our customer service facilitie

If one or more of these third partiessinet perform in a sufficient or timely manner, dusiness will be adversely affected and we
could be placed at a long-term disadvantage.

The sale of vehicles with SIRIUS radiesih important source of subscribers for us. Te@#tent sales of vehicles by automakers slow,
our subscriber growth could be adversely impadtedddition, we do not manufacture satellite radipaccessories, and we depend on
manufacturers and others for the production of BBRtadios and their component parts. If one or musaufacturers does not produce ra
in a sufficient quantity to meet demand, or if suatlios were not to perform as advertised or weteetdefective, sales of our service and our
reputation could be adversely affected.

We may be exposed to liabilities associated with ¢éhdesign, manufacture and distribution of SIRIUS ralios.

We do not manufacture, import, or digttébSIRIUS radios. We do design, establish spetifios for, source parts and components
and manage various aspects of the logistics ardlption of SIRIUS radios. As a result of these\atitis, we may be exposed to liabilities
associated with the design, manufacture and digtob of SIRIUS radios that the providers of anegtainment service would not customarily
be subject to, such as liabilities for design disfegatent infringement and compliance with appliedaws.

Rapid technological and industry changes could makeur service obsolete.

The satellite industry and the audio gatement industry are both characterized by ragathnological change, frequent new product
innovations, changes in customer requirements gpeatations, and evolving industry standards. lfaneunable to keep pace with these
changes, our business may be unsuccessful. Praggintsnew technologies, or emerging industry stahg] could make our technologies
obsolete or less competitive in the marketplace.

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affectur financial health.

As of December 31, 2006, we had approtetgabl.1 billion of indebtedness. We may incur endebt if we believe we can raise mo
on favorable terms. A significant portion of oudé@btedness contains restrictive covenants. Oubtedeess could:

. limit our flexibility in planning for, or reactingp, changes in our business and indus

. limit our ability to borrow additional fund:

. increase our vulnerability to general adverse egoo@nd industry condition:

. require us to dedicate a substantial portion ofaaish flow from operations to payments on our ineltess, possibly reducing

the availability of our cash flow to fund workingpital, capital expenditures, and other genergl@ate purposes; at

. place us at a competitive disadvantage comparedrpetitors that have less de

Failure to comply with the covenants eamtd in the indentures governing our debt coudlten an event of default, which, if not
cured or waived, could cause us to discontinueatjpers or seek a purchaser for our business otsasse

Our national broadcast studio, terrestrial repeaternetwork, satellite uplink facility or other ground facilities could be damaged by
natural catastrophes or terrorist activities.

An earthquake, tornado, flood, terrogigck or other catastrophic event could damagaational broadcast studio, terrestrial repeater
network or satellite uplink facility, interrupt oservice and harm our business. We do not havagepient or redundant facilities that can be
used to assume the functions of our terrestrigdatgy network, national broadcast studio or stdaliplink facility in the event of a
catastrophic event.

Any damage to the satellite that transratour terrestrial repeater network would likedgult in degradation of our service for some
subscribers and could result in complete loss g in certain areas. Damage to our nationaldeast studio would restrict our
programming production and require us to obtairgmmming from third parties to continue our servidamage to our satellite uplink
facility could result in a complete loss of servig&il we could identify a suitable replacementilfgcand transfer our operations to that site.
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Consumers could pirate our service.

Individuals who engage in piracy may bkedo obtain or rebroadcast our satellite radiwise without paying the subscription fee.
Although we use encryption technology to mitigdite tisk of signal theft, such technology may noallequate to prevent theft of our signal.
If signal theft becomes widespread, it could hatrmlmusiness.

Risks Relating to the Pending Merger with XM Radio

Uncertainty about the merger and diversion of managment could harm us or the combined company, whether not the merger is
completed.

In response to the announcement of thig@neexisting or prospective subscribers, retsjleadio manufacturers, automakers and
programming providers of ours may delay or defeirthurchasing or other decisions concerning us@y may seek to change their existing
business relationships with us. In addition, assalt of the merger, current and prospective engasycould experience uncertainty about
their future with us or the combined company. Thaseertainties may impair our ability to retaingmgt or motivate key personnel.
Completion of the merger will also require a sigraht amount of time and attention from our manag@mrhe diversion of management
attention away from ongoing operations could adslgraffect our business relationships. If the meig@ot completed by the end of 2007 as
currently anticipated, the adverse effects of thasmrtainties and the diversion of managementicbelexacerbated by the delay.

Failure to complete the merger for regulatory or oher reasons could adversely affect our stock pricend our future business and
financial results.

Completion of the merger is conditiongebm, among other things, the receipt of certainla@gry and antitrust approvals, including
from the FCC and under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Aanstimprovements Act of 1976, as amended, and appod our and XM Radio’s
stockholders. There is no assurance that we vadive the necessary approvals or satisfy the atbrditions necessary for completion of the
merger. Failure to complete the pending merger dvputvent us from realizing the anticipated berefftthe merger. We will also remain
liable for significant transaction costs, includilegal and accounting fees, whether or not the ardsgcompleted. In addition, the current
market price of our common stock may reflect a madssumption that the merger will occur, and lafaito complete the merger could
result in a negative perception by the market aferserally and a resulting decline in the markategoof our common stock.

The anticipated benefits of the merger may not beealized fully or at all or may take longer to realze than expected.

The merger involves the integration o twompanies that have previously operated indepelyd®ue to legal restrictions, we have
conducted any integration planning for the two canips. The combined company will be required tootegignificant management attent
and resources to integrating the two companiesay3eh this process could adversely affect the ¢gnethcompany’s business, financial
results, financial condition and stock price. EVfeme are able to integrate our business operasosessfully, there can be no assurance thai
this integration will result in the realization tfe full benefits of synergies, cost savings, iratmn and operational efficiencies that we
currently expect from this integration or that th&nefits will be achieved within the anticipatiee frame.

Additionally, as a condition to their appal of the merger, regulatory agencies may impegairements, limitations or costs or require
divestitures or place restrictions on the conddithe combined company’s business. If we agrebded requirements, limitations, costs,
divestitures or restrictions, our ability to realithe anticipated benefits of the merger may bairegd.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
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Item 2. Properties

We lease space in office buildings in Néark, New York, to house our headquarters andonatibroadcast studios. We also lease
office or studio space in Lawrenceville, New Jergearmington Hills, Michigan; Nashville, TennessbEmphis, Tennessee; Los Angeles,
California; and Houston, Texas. The aggregate drrenafor these properties was approximately $7,090 for the year ended December
2006.

We own property that we use for techna&ad engineering facilities in Vernon, New Jerddie also lease properties in Panama and
Ecuador that we use as earth stations to commahdanirol our satellites.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

FCC Mattersin April 2006, we learned that two manufacturerStRIUS radios and XM Radio had received inquifiesn the Feder:
Communications Commission as to whether the FiMstratters in their products complied with the FCEraissions and frequency rules. We
promptly began an internal review of the compliaatthe FM transmitters in a number of our radlosJune 2006, we learned that a third
manufacturer of SIRIUS radios had received an yguom the Federal Communications Commission asttether the FM transmitters in
products complied with the FCC’s emissions anduesgy rules. In June 2006, we received a letten fitte FCC making similar inquiries. In
July 2006, we responded to the letter from the KC@spect of the preliminary results of our reviémAugust 2006, we received a follawp-
letter of inquiry from the FCC and responded toR@C’s further inquiry. We continue to cooperatéhvthe FCC'’s inquiry.

During our internal review, we determirthdt certain of our radios with FM transmittersrevaot compliant with FCC rules. We have
taken a series of actions to correct the problem.

In connection with our internal reviewe wiscovered that certain SIRIUS personnel reqdestnufacturers to produce SIRIUS radios
that were not consistent with the FCC's rules. Asslt of this review, we are taking significates to ensure that this situation does not
happen again, including the adoption of a compreirercompliance plan, approved by our board ofaotiines, to ensure that in the future our
products comply with all applicable FCC rules.

The FCC is continuing its review of ouogucts. The FCC'’s laboratory has tested a numbeurogproducts and found them to be
compliant with the FCC's rules. We believe our cadihat are currently in production comply with Bggible FCCS5 rules. No health or safe
issues are involved with these SIRIUS radios adibsawhich are factory-installed in new vehicles aot affected.

We have retained the services of an egging compliance officer to report to our Vice $dent of Internal Audit, who then reports to
our Audit Committee.

In October 2006, we ceased operatingf ilipterrestrial repeaters which we discovered heeh operating at variance to the
specifications and applied to the FCC for new atitthh¢o resume operating these repeaters.

Copyright Royalty Board Proceeding/e are a party to a proceeding before the CopyRpyalty Board of the Library of Congress to
establish the royalty rate and terms for the soerdrdings we use on our satellite radio servicelfe period for 2007 through 2012. In
October 2006, we and XM filed our direct case is firoceeding with the Copyright Royalty Board gmndposed a royalty rate for our
satellite radio subscription revenue.

The Copyright Royalty Board must sette that is calculated to achieve four statutoryeotiyes:

. to maximize the availability of creative works teetpublic;

. to afford the copyright owner a fair return for bigative work and the copyright user a fair incamder existing economic
conditions;

. to reflect the relative roles of the copyright owaad the copyright user in the product made abklto the public with respect

to relative creative contribution, technologicahtribution, capital investment, cost, risk and ciinttion to the opening of new
markets for creative expression and media for !
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communication; an

. to minimize any disruptive impact on the structaf¢he industries involved and on generally prexgiindustry practices

We believe that the fee we proposed aelsithese objectives and is consistent in princifiie the fee established under the same
standard for digital cable audio.

SoundExchange, the organization thatectdland distributes royalties from various digitalsic services on behalf of artists and music
labels, simultaneously submitted its direct casthiim proceeding and proposed a substantially highglty rate than we proposed. This
submission of direct cases is the beginning ofeugto eighteen month process which, absent aaeaggnt among the parties, will result
determination by the Copyright Royalty Board ofagplicable royalty rate.

U.S. Electronics ArbitrationU.S. Electronics Inc., a licensed manufacturet distributor of SIRIUS radios, has commenced an
arbitration proceeding against us. U.S. Electroalleges that we breached our contract, failecatorponies owed under the contract,
interfered with U.S. Electronics’ relationships lwietailers and manufacturers, and withheld infdiomarelating to the FCC'’s inquiring into
SIRIUS radios that include FM modulators. U.S. Eienics is seeking $48 million in damages. We bhelithat approximately $41 million of
these damages are barred by the limitation oflitglggrovisions contained in the contract betwesrand U.S. Electronics. We are vigorously
defending this action.

Other Matterdn the ordinary course of business, we are a defetnid various lawsuits and arbitration proceedjmgsuding actions
filed by former employees, parties to contractkeases and owners of patents, trademarks, copgraghither intellectual property. None of
these actions are, in our opinion, likely to haveaterial adverse effect on our business or firemesults.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
No matters were submitted to a vote otisey holders during the fourth quarter of 2006.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market For Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securitit

Our common stock is traded on the Nagslatpal Select Market under the symbol “SIRI.” Tloddwing table sets forth the high and
low closing bid price for our common stock, as med by Nasdaq, for the periods indicated below:

High Low

Year ended December 31, 20C

First Quartel $ 764 $ 5.1F

Second Quarte 6.5¢ 4.67

Third Quartel 7.3¢ 6.3¢

Fourth Quarte 7.87 5.8¢
Year ended December 31, 2006

First Quartel $ 657 $ 4.4F

Second Quarte 5.41 3.6¢

Third Quartel 4.61 3.6t

Fourth Quarte 4.2¢ 3.54

On February 26, 2007, the closing bid@of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Sélecket was $3.74 per share. On February
26, 2007, there were approximately 950,000 berafimlders of our common stock. We have never pagh dividends on our common
stock. We currently intend to retain earningsniy aor use in our business and do not anticipaiéng any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future.

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

Our selected financial data set forttoelvith respect to the consolidated statementgpefations for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, and with respect to the cafeel balance sheets at December 31, 2006 and 2@)8erived from our consolidated
financial statements audited by Ernst & Young Lltfelependent registered public accounting firm,udeld in Item 8 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. Our selected financial data set fogtow with respect to the consolidated statemeitgperations for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, and with respect todhsolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2008,and 2002 are derived from our
consolidated financial statements audited by E&ngbung LLP, which are not included in this AnnuRéport. This selected financial data
should be read in conjunction with the Consolidatethncial Statements and related notes theretaded in Item 8 of this Annual Report
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firer@ondition and Results of Operations.”
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Statements of Operations Data:

Total revenu $ 637,23" $ 242,24 $ 66,85¢ $ 12,87: $ 80t
Loss from operation (1,067,72) (829,14() (678,309 (437,53() (313,12)
Net loss® (1,104,86) (862,99) (712,167 (226,211 (422,48)
Net loss applicable to common stockholc®) (1,104,86) (862,99) (712,16 (314,42) (468,46¢)
Net loss per share applicable to common stockhe

(basic and diluted $ 0.79 $ (0.6 $ (0.57 $ (0.3¢) $ (6.19)
Weighted average common shares outstanding (bad

diluted) 1,402,61! 1,325,73 1,238,58! 827,18t 76,39¢
Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivalel $ 393,42. $ 762,000 $ 753,89. $ 520,97¢ $ 18,37t
Marketable securitie 15,50( 117,25( 5,271 28,90: 155,32
Restricted investmen 77,85( 107,61! 97,32 8,74 7,20(
Total asset 1,658,52 2,085,36: 1,957,61. 1,617,31 1,340,941
Long-term debt, net of current portic 1,068,24 1,084,43 656,27 194,80: 670,35
Accrued interest, net of current porti — — — — 46,91«
Preferred stoc — — — — 531,15:
Accumulated defici (3,833,72)) (2,728,85) (1,865,85i) (1,153,69) (927,479
Stockholders’ (deficit) equit{f) (389,07) 324,96¢ 1,000,63: 1,325,19. 36,84¢
) Net loss and net loss applicable to common stodkdrslifor the year ended December 31, 2003 inclotiegt income of $256,538 related to our debt restning.
2) No cash dividends were declared or paid in anyhefperiods presente

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contdimrsvard-looking statements within the meaning efféderal securities laws. Actual results
and the timing of events could differ materiallgrfr those projected in forward-looking statements ua number of factors, including those
described under “ltem 1A—Risk Factors” and elsevehierthis Annual Report. See “Special Note Regaydiarward-Looking Statements.”

(All dollar amounts referenced in thisrtt 7 are in thousands, unless otherwise stated)
Executive Summary
Overview:

We are a satellite radio provider in thdted States. We currently broadcast over 130 mélarof programming to listeners across the
country. We offer 69 channels of 100% commerciakfmusic and 65 channels of sports, news, talkramment, traffic and weather for a
monthly subscription fee of $12.95.

We broadcast through our proprietarylbgeadio system, which currently consists ofe@orbiting satellites, 127 terrestrial repeaters
that receive and retransmit our signal, a sateljiiénk facility and our studios. Subscribers rgeebur service through SIRIUS radios, which
are sold by automakers, consumer electronics eegainobile audio dealers and through our webSitbscribers can also receive our music
channels and certain other channels over the letern

Our music channels are available to D§akllite television subscribers and certain ofrausic channels are offered to Sprint
subscribers over multi-media handsets. We also tfi#fic and weather data services for a sepdemteSubscribers to DISH satellite
television, Sprint and our traffic and weather dsgevices are not included in our subscriber count.

In 2005, SIRIUS Canada Inc., a Canad@paration owned by us, Canadian Broadcasting Gatjpm and Standard Radio Inc.,
received a license from the Canadian Radio-televiand Telecommunications Commission to offer alks&t radio service in Canada.
SIRIUS Canada offers 110 channels of commercia&-fre
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music and news, sports, talk and entertainmentranogning, including 11 channels of Canadian cont®uhscribers to the SIRIUS Canada
service are not included in our subscriber count.

SIRIUS radios are primarily distributénldugh retailers; automakers, or OEMs; and thraugtwebsite. SIRIUS radios can be
purchased at major retailers, including Best Buycuit City; Crutchfield; Costco; Target; Wal-Madnd on an exclusive basis through
RadioShack. On December 31, 2006, SIRIUS radiog aeailable at more than 25,000 retail locations.have exclusive agreements with
DaimlerChrysler, Ford, Kia, Mitsubishi, BMW, RolReyce, Volkswagen and Bentley to offer SIRIUS radis factory or dealer-installed
equipment. We also have relationships with Nissa#miti, Toyota, Lexus, Scion and Subaru to of6dRIUS radios as factory or dealer-
installed equipment. As of December 31, 2006, SERtddios were available as a factory-installedaopiin 132 vehicle models and as a
dealer-installed option in 17 vehicle models. SIRIkAdios are also offered to renters of Hertz Jekiat airport locations nationwide.

As of December 31, 2006, we had 6,024 &biscribers compared with 3,316,560 subscribeo$ Becember 31, 2005. Our subscriber
totals include subscribers under our regular pgigitans; subscribers that have prepaid, includagrents received from automakers for
prepaid subscriptions included in the sale or |gaE® of a new vehicle; active SIRIUS radios unoi@r agreement with Hertz; and
subscribers to SIRIUS Internet Radio, our Intesevice.

We believe our ability to attract andaietsubscribers depends in large part on creatidgsastaining distribution channels for SIRIUS
radios, the strength of the SIRIUS brand, and emjimality and entertainment value of our prograngnife expect to concentrate our future
efforts on enhancing and refining our programmimbether through additional agreements with thindipsa or our own creative efforts;
introducing SIRIUS radios with new features andctions; and expanding the distribution of SIRIUSioas through arrangements with
automakers and through additional retail pointsaig.

Our primary source of revenue is subsiaripfees, with most of our customers subscribm&HRIUS on either an annual or a monthly
basis. We offer discounts for pre-paid and longateubscriptions as well as discounts for multipiesriptions. Currently we receive an
average of approximately eight months of prepaigmee per subscriber upon activation. We also degvenue from activation fees, the ¢
of advertising on some of our non-music channetstha direct sale of SIRIUS radios and accessories.

In certain cases, automakers includebaaiption to our radio service in the sale or éepsce of vehicles. The length of these prepaid
subscriptions vary, but is typically six monthsotee year. In many cases, we receive subscriptipmeats from automakers in advance of
activation of our service. We also reimburse vaiautomakers for certain costs associated withiBRhdios installed in their vehicles.

Costs associated with acquiring substsibes generally incurred and expensed in advaingeguiring a subscriber and are recognized
as subscriber acquisition costs. A disproportiopateentage of our annual gross subscriber addiaom acquired in the fourth quarter in
connection with holiday sales. As a result, our SA€adjusted, per gross subscriber addition, ageyating metric for our business, is
generally higher in the first three quarters of fisral year and declines in the fourth quartewasexperience higher activation rates.

During 2006, we achieved significant final and operational milestones, including:

. capturing 67% share of total satellite radio netitahs in the fourth quarter and 62% for the yeaatl more than doubled our
OEM subscribers

. entered into new agreements with Volkswagen, Akidi, Rolls-Royce and Bentley

. introduced the Stiletto 100, the first portablesisié radio with WiFi capabilities

. achieved positive free cash flow in the fourth geia200€- four years after adding our first subscriber;

. added new programming, including Howard Stern, BdgyRadio, Cosmo Radio, Blue Collar Radio, FOX N&tannels, the

Catholic Channel, Jerry Rice, Tony Stewart, Chelsaatball Club, Metropolitan Opera Radio and JarsgtF

In June 2006, we entered into an agreemitn Space Systems/Loral to design and consausw satellite that will be one of the most
advanced and powerful communications satellites lpuit. Construction of the
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satellite is expected to be completed in the fogcthrter of 2008. The satellite will be launchedadAroton rocket acquired by us under a
previously announced launch contract. The aggregmeof designing, building and launching the lisgeand insuring its launch will be
approximately $260,000.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statementspaepared in accordance with U.S. generally acde@teounting principles, which require
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiztttae reported amounts of assets and liaksliethe date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenseg the periods. We have disclosed all signifit@atounting policies in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements included in taport. We have identified the following policieghich were discussed with the audit
committee of our board of directors, as criticabto business and understanding our results ofatipes.

Revenue Recognitidkevenue from subscribers consists of subscripges;frevenue derived from our agreement with Hadg:
refundable activation fees; and the effects of fimaikbates.

We recognize subscription fees as owigeis provided to a subscriber. We record deterexenue for prepaid subscription fees and
amortize these prepayments to revenue ratablytbegierm of the respective subscription plan.

At the time of sale, vehicle owners pasihg or leasing a vehicle with a subscriptionuo gervice typically receive between a six
month and one year prepaid subscription. We reqeyenent from automakers for these subscriptioraglirance of our service being
activated. Such prepayments are recorded to ddfezkenue and amortized ratably over the servidega&pon activation and sale to a
customer. We also reimburse automakers for cectsts associated with the SIRIUS radio installeth@applicable vehicle at the time the
vehicle is manufactured. The associated paymentetautomakers are included in subscriber acgpnsitosts. Although we receive
payments from the automakers, they do not reselservice; rather, automakers facilitate the sélguo service to our customers, acting
similar to an agent. We believe this is the appetprcharacterization of our relationship sinceareresponsible for providing service to our
customers including being obligated to the custoifriere was interruption of service.

Activation fees are recognized ratablgrahe estimated term of a subscriber relationghigently estimated to be 3.5 years. The
estimated term of a subscriber relationship is hasemarket research and management’s judgmentfaratessary, will be refined in the
future as historical data becomes available.

As required by Emerging Issues Task F@HEETF”) No. 01-09, “Accounting for Consideratiddiven by a Vendor to a Customer
(Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products))”estimate of mail-in rebates that are paid byitesctly to subscribers is recorded as a
reduction to revenue in the period the subscribBvates our service. For certain mail-in reba@motions, a subscriber must remain active
for a specified period of time to be consideredible. In those instances, such estimate is redoadea reduction to revenue over the required
activation period. We estimate the effects of nrailebates based on actual take-rates for rebe¢miives offered in prior periods, adjusted as
deemed necessary based on current take-rate dalkabde at the time. In subsequent periods, eséimate adjusted when necessary.

We recognize revenues from the sale wédiding on some of our non-music channels astivertising is broadcast. Agency fees are
calculated based on a stated percentage applggdds billing revenue for our advertising inventand are reported as a reduction of
advertising revenue. We pay certain third partipsrentage of advertising revenue. Advertisingnexe is recorded gross of such revenue
share payments in accordance with EITF No. 99-R@pbrting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus dNah é\gent,” as we are the primary
obligor in the transaction. Advertising revenuershgayments are recorded to programming and coaigranse during the period in which
the advertising is broadcast.

Equipment revenue from the direct sal8I&RIUS radios and accessories is recognized upipment. Shipping and handling costs
billed to customers are recorded as revenue. Stgmeid handling costs associated with shipping goodustomers are recorded to cost of
equipment.

EITF No. 00-21, “Accounting for Revenue@nhgements with Multiple Deliverablegtovides guidance on how and when to recog
revenues for arrangements that may involve theeiglior performance of multiple products, serviaad/or rights to use assets. Revenue
arrangements with multiple deliverables are reqlicebe
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divided into separate units of accounting if théwvéeables in the arrangement meet certain crit&isangement consideration must be
allocated among the separate units of accountiegdan their relative fair values.

We determined that the sale of our sertticough our direct to consumer channel with aggamging equipment constitutes a revenue
arrangement with multiple deliverables. In thegeeyof arrangements, amounts received for equiparerrecognized as equipment revenue;
amounts received for service are recognized asepben revenue; and amounts received for the mfandable, up-front activation fee that
are not contingent on the delivery of the servieeadlocated to equipment revenue. Activation feresrecorded to equipment revenue only to
the extent that the aggregate equipment and activide proceeds do not exceed the fair value@gtiuipment. Any activation fees not
allocated to the equipment are deferred upon aaiivand recognized as subscriber revenue on iglstiine basis over the estimated term of
a subscriber relationship.

Stock-Based Compensatidtffective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provismifStatement of Financial Accounting Standard
(“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Paytyieising the modified prospective transition neethPrior periods are not restated
under this transition method. The stock-based cosgteon cost recognized beginning January 1, 26€I6des compensation cost for all
stock-based awards granted to employees and mewifbaus board of directors (i) prior to, but notsted as of, January 1, 2006 based on the
grant date fair value originally estimated in aci@rce with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accangtfor Stock-Based Compensation,”
and (ii) subsequent to December 31, 2005 baseleogrant date fair value estimated in accordande te provisions of SFAS No. 123R.
Compensation cost under SFAS No. 123R is recogmatedly using the straight-line attribution mettmeer the expected vesting period.
SFAS No. 123R requires forfeitures to be estimatethe grant date and revised in subsequent pefiadtial forfeitures differ from those
estimates.

Effective January 1, 2006, we accounstarh awards at fair value in accordance with SN&S123R and SEC guidance contained in
Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 107. The fairalue of equity instruments granted to non-empdsyis measured in accordance with
EITF No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instrumerifthat are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acagijror in Conjunction with Selling,
Goods or Services.” The final measurement datejoity instruments with performance criteria is tlege that each performance commitment
for such equity instrument is satisfied or thera sgnificant disincentive for non-performance.

Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we camtith to estimate the fair value of stock-based asvasihg the Black-Scholes option
valuation model (“Black-Scholes”). Black-Scholessaieveloped to estimate the fair market valueaafad options, which have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. Optionuagion models require the input of highly subjeetassumptions. Because our stock-based
awards have characteristics significantly diffefeai those of traded options and because changég isubjective assumptions can
materially affect the fair market value estimale éxisting option valuation models do not necdlysarovide a reliable single measure of the
fair value of our stock-based awards.

Fair value determined using Black-Schetases based on assumptions used for the expkfeteeixpected stock price volatility and
risk-free interest rates. For the years ended Dbee®il, 2005 and 2004, we used historical volatiftour stock over a period equal to the
expected life of stock-based awards to estimatevédiie. We estimated the fair value of awards g@uduring the year ended December 31,
2006 using the implied volatility of actively tragdieptions on our stock. We believe that impliedatitity is more representative of future
stock price trends than historical volatility. Tévepected life assumption represents the weightedage period stock-based awards are
expected to remain outstanding. These expecteddgamptions are established through a reviewstdiical exercise behavior of stobkse:
award grants with similar vesting periods. Wherdrical patterns do not exist, contractual ternesused. The risk-free interest rate
represents the daily treasury yield curve ratbareporting date based on the closing marketieids on actively traded U.S. treasury
securities in the over-the-counter market for thgeeted term. Our assumptions may change in fyterieds.

Subscriber Acquisition CosBubscriber acquisition costs include hardware slidspaid to radio manufacturers, distributors and
automakers, including subsidies paid to automakésinclude a SIRIUS radio and a prepaid subsarniptd our service in the sale or lease
price of a new vehicle; subsidies paid for chigsetd certain other components used in manufagtugitios; commissions paid to retailers
and automakers as incentives to purchase, instalaativate SIRIUS radios; product warranty obligias; and compensation costs associated
with stock-based awards granted in connection wétttain distribution agreements. The majority disariber acquisition costs are incurred
and expensed in advance of acquiring a subscSdascriber acquisition costs do not
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include advertising, loyalty payments to distribistand dealers of SIRIUS radios and revenue stegma@nts to automakers and retailers of
SIRIUS radios, which are included in sales and retémg expense. Subscriber acquisition costs alswtiinclude amounts capitalized in
connection with our agreement with Hertz, as wainebwnership of certain SIRIUS radios used by Hert

Subsidies paid to radio manufacturersautdmakers are expensed upon shipment or ingall&ommissions paid to retailers and
automakers are expensed either upon activatioalero$ the SIRIUS radio. Chip sets that are shigpa@dio manufacturers and held on
consignment are recorded as inventory and expaasedbscriber acquisition costs when placed inddymtion by radio manufacturers. Cc
for chip sets not held on consignment are expeasenibscriber acquisition costs when the chipasetshipped to radio manufacturers.

We record product warranty obligationgigtordance with Financial Accounting Standardsr@daterpretation (“FIN”) No. 45,
“Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure RequireméotsGuarantees, Including Indirect Guaranteesidébtedness of Others, an
interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 48d rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34 NMo. 45 requires a guarantor to
recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, alifiptior the fair value of the obligation undertakby issuing the guarantee. We warrant that
certain products sold through our retail and diteatonsumer distribution channels will performaihmaterial respects in accordance with
standard published specifications in effect attilne of the purchase of the products by the custowe provide a 12-month warranty on our
products from purchase date for repair or replacemiecomponents and/or products that contain defeftmaterial or workmanship.
Customers may exchange products directly to ttaleetwithin 30 days of purchase. We record a ligbior an estimate of costs that we
expect to incur under our warranty guarantee wherptoduct is shipped from the manufacturer. Facaffecting our warranty liability
include the number of units sold and historical anticipated rates of claims and costs per claiie periodically assess the adequacy of our
warranty liability based on changes in these factor

Long-Lived Assetd/e carry our long-lived assets at cost less accatedidepreciation. In accordance with SFAS No. 1Adcounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Asseétse review our long-lived assets for impairmeritemever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouincisset is not recoverable. At the time an impaitrim value of a long-lived asset is
identified, the impairment is measured as the ambynvhich the carrying amount of a long-lived dssaeeds its fair value. To determine
fair value, we employ an expected present valuenigce, which utilizes multiple cash flow scenariioat reflect the range of possible
outcomes and an appropriate discount rate.

In connection with our new satellite agrent, in June 2006 we wrote-off $10,917 for thieboek value of certain satellite long-lead
time parts purchased in 1999 that we will no longszd.

Useful Life of Satellite Systebur satellite system includes the costs of oullgateonstruction, launch vehicles, launch inswen
capitalized interest, spare satellite, terrestapkater network and satellite uplink facility.decordance with SFAS No. 144, we monitor our
satellites for impairment whenever events or changeircumstances indicate that the carrying arhotithe asset is not recoverable. The
expected useful lives of our three in-orbit satedliwere originally 15 years from the date theyendaced into orbit. In June 2006, we entered
into an agreement with Space Systems/Loral to desigl construct a new satellite. In connection Witk agreement, we adjusted the useful
lives of two of our in-orbit satellites to 13 yeaesreflect the way we intend to operate the cdlasien. We continue to expect our spare
satellite to operate effectively for 15 years frtima date of launch.

Our satellites have experienced cirailufes on their solar arrays. We continue to nwrttie operating condition of our satellites. If
events or circumstances indicate that the usefeslof our satellites have changed, we will motliy depreciable life accordingly.

FCC Licensdn 1997, the FCC granted us a license to operatgranercial satellite radio service in the Unitedt&s. While the FCC
license has a renewable eight-year term, we expeenew our license as there are no legal, regylatontractual, competitive, economic or
other factors that limit its useful life. As a réswe treat the FCC license as an indefinite-livgangible asset under the provisions of SFAS
No. 142 *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” We re-eatkithe useful life determination for our FCC lisereach reporting period to
determine whether events and circumstances contiinsigpport an indefinite useful life. To date, ave not recorded any amortization
expense related to our FCC license.
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We test our FCC license for impairmerieast annually or more frequently if indicatorsrapairment exist. We use a direct approach
in performing our annual impairment test for thiset, which requires estimates of future cash flamésother factors. If these estimates or
projections change in the future, we may be reduimaecord an impairment charge related to trégtasVe began using the direct approach
in 2005. Use of the direct approach is in accordamith a September 29, 2004 Staff Announcement trmrstaff of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, “Use of the Residual Methodalme Acquired Assets Other Than Goodwill.” Untlee direct method, if the fair
value of our license is less than the aggregatyiogramount of the license, an impairment losge&gnized.

Income TaxegVe account for income taxes in accordance with SNAS109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Our opérgtlosses
have generated significant state and federal tanperating losses, or NOL carryforwards. We aguired to record a valuation allowance
against the deferred tax asset associated witle ti€4. carryforwards if it is “more likely than nothat we will not be able to utilize it to
offset future taxes. Due to our history of unpadfiie operations and our expected future lossebawe recorded a valuation allowance equal
to 100% of these deferred tax assets. We coulddfeégble in the future at levels which would causanagement to conclude that it is more
likely than not that we will realize all or a pami of these NOL carryforwards. Upon reaching sucbreclusion, we would record the
estimated net realizable value of the deferrechset at that time and would then provide for inedaxes at a rate equal to our combined
federal and state effective tax rates. Subseqeeigions to the estimated net realizable valudefdeferred tax asset could cause our
provision for income taxes to vary significantlpifin period to period, although our cash tax paymentdd remain unaffected until the
benefit of these NOL carryforwards is utilized.

Results of Operation

Our discussion of our results of operaiclong with the selected financial informatiorthie tables that follow, includes the following
non-GAAP financial measures: average monthly churn; S&gadjusted, per gross subscriber addition; mestgervice and billing expens:
as adjusted, per average subscriber; average migetlgnue per subscriber, or ARPU; free cash flawg adjusted loss from operations. We
believe these non-GAAP financial measures providamngful supplemental information regarding ouveraping performance and are used
for internal management purposes, when publiclyidiog the business outlook, and as a means taateaperiod-to-period comparisons.
Refer to the footnotes following our discussiorregults of operations for the definitions and ukefss of such non-GAAP financial
measures.

Subscribers and Key Operating Metric

The following table contains a breakdafiour subscribers for the past three years:

As of December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Beginning subscribel 3,316,56! 1,143,25 261,06:
Net additions 2,707,99! 2,173,30: 882,19
Ending subscribet 6,024,55! 3,316,56! 1,143,25!
Retail 4,041,82 2,465,36: 911,25!
OEM 1,959,00! 823,69: 203,46
Hertz 23,72( 27,50¢ 28,53¢
Ending subscribet 6,024,55! 3,316,56! 1,143,25!
Retail 1,576,46. 1,554,10:i 696,02¢
OEM 1,135,311 620,22: 181,64¢
Hertz (3,789 (1,030 4,52:
Net additions 2,707,99! 2,173,30: 882,19

SubscriberdVe ended 2006 with 6,024,555 subscribers, an iserefi82% from the 3,316,560 subscribers as of bee 31, 2005.
Since December 31, 2005, we added 1,576,463 netshers from our retail
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channel and 1,135,316 net subscribers from our @Edhnel, resulting in a 64% and 138% increase imetail and OEM subscriber base,
respectively. Strong contributions by DaimlerCheysind Ford fueled this growth.

The following table presents our key @pieig metrics for the past three years:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Gross subscriber additio 3,758,16: 2,519,30: 986,55t
Deactivated subscribe 1,050,16: 345,99¢ 104,35¢
Average monthly churf)®) 1.%% 1.5% 1.6%
ARPU 2)(6) $ 1101 $ 103¢ $  10.1¢
SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addiiéh $ 114 $ 3¢ $ 177
Customer service and billing expenses, as adjuptrdaverage

subscribef*)®) $ 124 $ 21C  $ 3.5¢
Total revenue $ 637,238 $ 24224 $ 66,85«
Free cash flovP)®) $ (500,71) $ (333,92) $ (452,759
Adjusted loss from operatiof8 $ (513,14) $ (567,50) $ (456,209
Net loss $(1,104,86) $ (862,99) $ (712,16)

ARPUTotal ARPU for the year ended December 31, 200684501, up from $10.34 for the year ended Decer@beP005. This
increase in ARPU was driven by higher net advergisevenue; the effects of mail-in rebates resgiffiom lower eligible activations and
lower overall take rates; and the timing of the aoencement of revenue recognition for prepaid sutsans; offset by the impact of plan
mix due in part to the increase in subscribers unddti-unit subscription plans. At December 310&@0approximately two-thirds of our
subscribers were on a one-year or longer subsmnipiian, and approximately 16% were paying $6.9%math under a multi-unit
subscription plan.

We expect ARPU to fluctuate based orgioevth of our subscriber base, promotions, markipates offered to subscribers and
corresponding take-rates, plan mix, subscriptioogsrand the identification of additional reventreamns from subscribers.

SAC, As Adjusted, Per Gross Subscribelitibd. SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber additionfd44 and $139 for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectivelyd&tiine was primarily attributable to lower avezampmmission rates and decreased
aftermarket and OEM average subsidy rates as wincex to reduce manufacturing and chip set coffiset by the per subscriber effect of
costs related to FM transmitter compliance with RGQIEs.

We expect SAC, as adjusted, per grosscsilfer addition to decline as the costs of subsiticomponents of SIRIUS radios decreas
the future. If competitive forces and changes tailer promotional strategies, including the eliation of mail-in rebates by certain consumer
electronics retailers, require us to increase hardwubsidies or promotions, SAC, as adjustedgmess subscriber addition may increase.
SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber additigengrally higher in the first three quarters of fiscal year and declines in the fourth quarter
as we experience higher activation rates.

Customer Service and Billing ExpensesAdiasted, Per Average Subscriber Per Mofthstomer service and billing expenses, as
adjusted, per average subscriber per month dedclih&gto $1.24 for the year ended December 31, 266€ared with $2.10 for the year
ended December 31, 2005.

We expect our costs per subscriber toedse on an annual basis as our subscriber base du to scale efficiencies in call center
other customer care and billing operations.

Adjusted Loss from OperatioR®r the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005stedjloss from operations was $513,140 and
$567,507, respectively, a decrease of $54,367 d€heease was primarily driven by an increase @l tetvenue of $394,990, which more tt
offset increases in operating expenses of $340,623.

Net Losg-or the years ended December 31, 2006 and 200mssetvas $1,104,867 and $862,997, respectivelin@aase of
$241,870. The increase was driven by an increasarioperating expenses to support the growth pbasiness, offset by an increase in total
revenue of $394,990.
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Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared with YeardehDecember 31, 2005 and Year Ended December 315 Zbmpared with Year
Ended December 31, 20(

Revenue
Subscriber Revenugubscriber revenue includes subscription feesyatain fees and the effects of mail-in rebates.

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2008criodr revenue was $575,404 and $223,615, resphgti
an increase of 157% or $351,789. The increase ttrdsugable to the growth of subscribers to ounvaz.

. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 200dcrdodr revenue was $223,615 and $62,881, respbctan
increase of 256% or $160,734. The increase wabwtble to the growth of subscribers to our sexr

The following table contains a breakdafrour subscriber revenue:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Subscription fee $ 572,38 $ 23363 $ 65,20
Activation fees 15,61 6,79( 2,10z
Effects of mai-in rebates (22,599 (16,810 (4,427
Total subscriber revent $ 575,40 $ 22361 $ 62,88

Future subscriber revenue will be depahdpon, among other things, the growth of our stiber base, promotions, mail-in rebates
offered to subscribers and corresponding take-ratesn, plan mix, subscription prices and the idieation of additional revenue streams
from subscribers.

Advertising Revenugdvertising revenue includes the sale of advengisin some of our non-music channels, net of agésey,
Agency fees are based on a stated percentageepadilrtising agreements applied to gross billevgnue.

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 200&dwettising revenue was $31,044 and $6,131, rasphg
an increase of $24,913. More attractive programnaimg)increased advertiser interest resulted imerease in spots sol
. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004dwettising revenue was $6,131 and $906, respdytian

increase of $5,225. More attractive programming ianteased advertiser interest resulted in an &sgén spots soli

We expect advertising revenue to growwassubscribers increase, as we continue to impooaed awareness and content, and as we
increase the size and effectiveness of our adiegtiales force.

Equipment Revenlgguipment revenue includes revenue from the dgalet of SIRIUS radios and accessories through ioectdo
consumer distribution channel.

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 200fneent revenue was $26,798 and $12,271, respegtael
increase of $14,527. The increase was the reshigbgr sales through our direct to consumer digtion channel, offset by tt
effects of promotional discount

. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 200#pneent revenue was $12,271 and $2,898, respectiarly
increase of $9,373. The increase was the reshigber sales through our direct to consumer distidm channel

We expect equipment revenue to increaseeacontinue to introduce new products and as shieugh our direct to consumer
distribution channel grow.

33




Operating Expenses

Satellite and Transmissid®atellite and transmission expenses consist of @sstociated with the operation and maintenanoarof
satellites; satellite telemetry, tracking and cohsystem; terrestrial repeater network; satelljpénk facility; and broadcast studios.

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 20@Hjtsaaind transmission expenses were $41,797 207 $8,
respectively, an increase of $11,999. Excludinglstiased compensation expense of $2,568 and $figp4% years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, satalfitttransmission expenses increased $11,373 2G%6 to $39,229. Th
increase of $11,373 was primarily attributableridrapairment charge associated with certain stdting-lead time parts we
purchased in 1999 that we will no longer need eesalt of our new satellite contract. As of Decenfie 2006 and 2005, we
had 127 and 140 terrestrial repeaters, respectiwebperation

. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 20@ljtsadind transmission expenses were $29,798 28d $8,
respectively, a decrease of $3,400. Excluding sh@ded compensation expense of $1,942 and $2,041efgears ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, satalfitttransmission expenses decreased $3,301 frbyh33to $27,856. This
decrease of $3,301 was primarily attributable teduction in satellite insurance costs. Effectivegst 2004, we discontinued
our in-orbit satellite insurance. Such decreaseoff@et by increased compensation related costadditions to headcount. As
of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had 140 andetB3strial repeaters, respectively, in operal

Future increases in satellite and traesion expenses will primarily be attributable te thunch of new satellites, the addition of new
terrestrial repeaters and maintenance costs direxirrestrial repeaters. We expect to deployitamtl terrestrial repeaters in 2007 and
2008. Such expenses may also increase in futuiedsdf we decide to reinstate our in-orbit satellnsurance.

Programming and Conteftogramming and content expenses include costsjigra, create and produce content; on-air talestisg
and broadcast and webstreaming royalties. We hategeal into various agreements with third partesiusic and non-music programming.
These agreements require us to pay license feas abvertising revenue, purchase advertising atianpgoperties owned or controlled by
the licensor and pay other guaranteed amountsh®sed advertising is recorded as a sales and rimgrketpense in the period the advertis
is broadcast.

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2008:gononing and content expenses were $551,989 and
$118,076, respectively, an increase of $433,918luging stock-based compensation expense of $32BAd $19,469 for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respgctwegramming and content expenses increased @181rom $98,607 t
$230,215. This increase of $131,608 was primattlybaitable to talent and license fees associafiéd wew programming;
broadcast and webstreaming royalties as a resthiedhcrease in subscribers; and compensatiotedetasts for additions to
headcount. Stock-based compensation expense irdr§862,305 primarily due to $224,813 associateld 84,375,000 shares
of our common stock delivered to Howard Stern ascagent in January 2006. In addition, in 2006 a@rded expense
associated with common stock earned upon the aetiish of performance targets for which sharesunfommmon stock were
delivered in the first quarter of 20C

. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 200grgononing and content expenses were $118,076 and
$87,252, respectively, an increase of $30,824.ughnY stock-based compensation expense of $1946$23,899 for the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respgctiregramming and content expenses increased $8%.@m $63,353 ti
$98,607. This increase of $35,254 was primarilsitaitable to license fees associated with new @nogning; compensation
related costs for additions to headcount; broadogsilties as a result of the increase in our siisis; and additional on-air
talent costs due to the expansion of the programtimeup. Stock-based compensation expense dedr&ds430 primarily due
to the timing of third parties achieving milestor
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Our programming and content expensesuéxag stock-based compensation expense, will aggeas we continue to develop and
enhance our channels. Beginning in February 2007agreement with NASCAR will increase our prograimgrand content expenses. We
regularly evaluate programming opportunities ang gf@ose to acquire and develop new content owenerent programming agreements
in the future at substantial costs. In addition,expect total broadcast and webstreaming royaltibigh are typically variable in nature, to
increase as our subscriber base grows. We arentlyreeparty to a proceeding before the Copyrigby&ty Board of the Library of Congress
to establish the royalty rate and terms for thendaecordings we use on our satellite radio serfiacéhe period 2007 through 2012.

Future expense associated with stockebesmpensation is contingent upon a variety ofdie;tincluding the number of stock-based
awards granted, the price of our common stock,raptians used in estimating the fair value of stbelsed awards, estimates for forfeitures,
vesting provisions and the timing as to when cenpairformance criteria are met, and could matgridiange.

Customer Service and Billimgustomer service and billing expenses include asteciated with the operation of our customeriserv
centers and subscriber management system.

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 200®neesservice and billing expenses were $68,949 and
$47,202, respectively, an increase of $21,747.ughal stock-based compensation expense of $813%4#®ifor the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectiveligroes service and billing expenses increased $21ffé8n $46,653 to
$68,137. This increase of $21,484 was primarily thueall center operating costs necessary to acaaata our subscriber be
and transaction fees due to the addition of newsaitiers. Customer service and billing expenseduding stock-based
compensation expense, increased 46% compared mitfteease in our end of period subscribers of §2% over yeal

. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 200 neesservice and billing expenses were $47,202 and
$22,780, respectively, an increase of $24,422.ughal stock-based compensation expense of $54$488ifor the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectiveligroes service and billing expenses increased $2418n $22,341 to
$46,653. This increase of $24,312 was primarily ueall center operating costs necessary to acaxtate our subscriber be
and transaction fees due to the addition of nevgaitiers. Customer service and billing expenseduding stock-based
compensation expense, increased 109% compare@mwititrease in our end of period subscribers o¢d 96ar over yea

We expect our customer care and billxgeases, excluding stock-based compensation expeniserease as our subscriber base
grows due to increased call center operating @sidransaction fees necessary to serve a largscrsber base.

Cost of Equipmertost of equipment includes costs for SIRIUS radiod accessories sold through our direct to consdmgibution
channel.

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 20050fceguipment was $35,233 and $11,827, respeytiael
increase of $23,406. The increase was primariibatable to higher sales volume and per unit castae continued to
introduce new products through our direct to corsudistribution channe

. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004ofcequipment was $11,827 and $3,467, respectiasly
increase of $8,360. The increase was primarilybattable to higher sales volume through our diteactonsumer distribution
channel

We expect cost of equipment to increagsbé future as we introduce new products andlas fiarough our direct to consumer
distribution channel grow.

Sales and Marketin§ales and marketing expenses include costs fortging, media and production, including promotibezents
and sponsorships; residuals; cooperative marketavgnue share; customer retention and compens&esiduals are monthly fees paid
based upon the number of subscribers using a SIRAUIB
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purchased from a retailer. Cooperative marketirgicmclude fixed and variable payments to reimbuesailers and automakers for the cost
of advertising and other product awareness aaviti

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 20@5, aatl marketing expenses were $242,035 and $212,74
respectively, an increase of $29,294. Excludinglstzased compensation expense of $19,543 and $fyithe years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, salesnankieting expenses increased $51,900 from $17Qc6$222,492. This
increase of $51,900 was primarily due to increassitluals; OEM revenue share as a result of a liB8féase in our OEM
subscriber base; cooperative marketing and adiverttosts; and compensation related costs. ThisiB0féase in sales and
marketing expenses, excluding stock-based compensatpense, compared with a 163% increase in tet@nue from
$242,245 for the year ended December 31, 20053@,885 for the year ended December 31, 2006. Siaskd compensation
expense decreased $22,606 primarily due to thegimi third parties achieving milestones and changé¢he fair market value
of such awards

. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 20@4, aatl marketing expenses were $212,741 and $3)2,84
respectively, an increase of $9,893. Excludinglstomsed compensation expense of $42,149 and $48)B&% years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, salesnankieting expenses increased $16,097 from $154¢19570,592. This
increase of $16,097 was primarily due to increassitluals; OEM revenue share as a result of threase in our subscriber
base; cooperative marketing and advertising fohn o holiday season and the rollout of new praglircthe retail distribution
channel; and compensation related costs. Thesesises were offset in part by reductions in costghiexpiration of certain
sponsorships in 2004 and certain retail costs &socwith sales efforts for the RadioShack rolliou2004. Stock-based
compensation expense decreased $6,204 primarilyodine timing of third parties achieving milesterend changes in the fair
market value of such awarc

We expect sales and marketing expengehkjding stock-based compensation expense, toaseras we continue to build brand
awareness through national advertising and promatiactivities, expand OEM distribution of SIRIU&Iios resulting in increased revenue
share payments to automakers, and expand our sheérs@tention efforts. Beginning in 2007, our agrent with NASCAR will increase
sponsorship costs that are included in our saldsraarketing expense.

Future expense associated with stockebasmpensation is contingent upon a variety ofdiagtincluding the number of stock-based
awards granted, the price of our common stock,maptians used in estimating the fair value of stbelked awards, estimates for forfeitures,
vesting provisions and the timing as to when cenpairformance criteria are met, and could matgridibnge.

Subscriber Acquisition CosBubscriber acquisition costs include hardware slidgspaid to radio manufacturers, distributors and
automakers, including subsidies paid to automakérsinclude a SIRIUS radio and a prepaid subscniptd our service in the sale or lease
price of a new vehicle; subsidies paid for chipsetd certain other components used in manufagtugitios; commissions paid to retailers
and automakers as incentives to purchase, instalaativate SIRIUS radios; product warranty obligias; and compensation costs associated
with stock-based awards granted in connection eétttain distribution agreements. The majority disariber acquisition costs are incurred
and expensed in advance of acquiring a subsc@dascriber acquisition costs do not include adsiegi loyalty payments to distributors and
dealers of SIRIUS radios and revenue share payneaistomakers and retailers of SIRIUS radios, Whie included in sales and marketing
expense. Subscriber acquisition costs also dawhtde amounts capitalized in connection with @areament with Hertz, as we retain
ownership of certain SIRIUS radios used by Hertz.

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2008 r#odr acquisition costs were $451,614 and $399,35
respectively, an increase of 13% or $52,264. Exntudtock-based compensation expense of $31,8984d09 for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectivelgcabbr acquisition costs increased 20%, or $7Q,0@m $349,641 to
$419,716. This increase of $70,075 was primariigtattable to increased OEM hardware subsidiestdimrgher production
volume and costs related to FM transmitter compkanith FCC rules, offset by decreased aftermdrkedware subsidies as
we continued to reduce manufacturing and chip eglisc Stockbased compensation expense decreased $17,811ilyridogr to
the timing of third parties achieving milestones @hanges in the fair market value of such aws
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. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 200ggr#odr acquisition costs were $399,350 and $206,85
respectively, an increase of 93% or $192,499. Koty stock-based compensation expense of $49,7d$28,149 for the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respgctsuddscriber acquisition costs increased 101%,136,939, fron
$173,702 to $349,641. This increase of $175,93%attaibutable to higher shipments of SIRIUS radios chip sets and
increases in commissions to support a 155% incrieag®ss subscriber additions from 986,556 forytbar ended December
31, 2004 to 2,519,301 for the year ended Decembe2@®)5, offset by reductions in average subsitBsras we continued to
reduce manufacturing and chip set costs. Stockeba@m@mpensation expense increased $16,560 printAréyto the timing of
third parties achieving milestones and changekarfdir market value of such awar

We expect total subscriber acquisitiostspexcluding stock-based compensation expensiecrease in 2007 as increases in our gross
subscriber additions are offset by continuing desdiin the costs of subsidized components of SIRHd®s. We intend to continue to offer
subsidies, commissions and other incentives toiexgubscribers.

Future expense associated with stockebasmpensation is contingent upon a variety ofdiagtincluding the number of stock-based
awards granted, the price of our common stock,maptians used in estimating the fair value of stbelked awards, estimates for forfeitures,
vesting provisions and the timing as to when cenpairformance criteria are met, and could matgridibnge.

General and Administrativeeneral and administrative expenses include reshbanupancy, finance, legal, human resources,
information technology and investor relations c@std bad debt expense.

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2008rajeand administrative expenses were $137,466 and
$87,555, respectively, an increase of $49,911. Ukl stock-based compensation expense of $49/9282v,724 for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respgctierieral and administrative expenses increaséd$2 from $59,831 t
$87,538. This increase of $27,707 was primarilgsult of legal fees, employmergtated costs and bad debt expense to su
the growth of our business. Stock-based compemsatipense increased $22,204 primarily as a rektliecadoption of SFAS
No. 123R, offset by a decrease in expense foricemdrstock units that vested in the first quaote2006.

. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 200drajeand administrative expenses were $87,555 and
$57,905, respectively, an increase of $29,650.Uhiey stock-based compensation expense of $27724%3,877 for the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respgctiaeral and administrative expenses increase@@3 from $44,028 t
$59,831. This increase of $15,803 was primarilgsult of additional employment-related costs amd aad occupancy costs to
support the growth of our business and bad del#resga Stock-based compensation expense increa3g@#t$primarily due to
expense associated with grants of restricted siadkrestricted stock units and modifications okgng stoc-based award:

We expect our general and administraxgenses, excluding stock-based compensation expenisicrease in future periods as a
result of higher personnel, information technologyd facilities costs, as well as increased leges fand bad debt expenses to support the
growth of our business.

Future expense associated with stockebesmpensation is contingent upon a variety ofdie;tincluding the number of stock-based
awards granted, the price of our common stock,raptians used in estimating the fair value of stbelsed awards, estimates for forfeitures,
vesting provisions and the timing as to when cenpairformance criteria are met, and could matgridiange.

Engineering, Design and Developm&migineering, design and development expenses iadasts to develop our future generation of
chip sets and new products and costs associatedheitincorporation of SIRIUS radios into vehiceanufactured by automakers.

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 200B\eamong, design and development expenses werd &70,
and $66,281, respectively, an increase of $3,84€luling stock-based compensation expense of $5586 $21,536 for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respgctargjineering, design and development expensesased $13,98
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from $44,745 to $58,732. This increase of $13,98% primarily attributable to OEM tooling and maraitaing upgrades and
receiver integration for factory installations dRBJS radios, development costs associated withrtaeufacturing of SIRIUS
radios and additional personnel-related costs ppati research and development efforts. Stock-besegbensation expense
decreased $10,141 primarily due to the timing ofitharties achieving certain production milestor

. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 200#eamong, design and development expenses wer@&b66,
and $35,487, respectively, an increase of $30,F2dluding stock-based compensation expense of $8186d $4,967 for the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respgctargjineering, design and development expensesased $14,225 fro
$30,520 to $44,745. This increase of $14,225 wasgpily attributable to additional personnel-rethtmsts to support research
and development efforts, costs associated with @&Ning and manufacturing upgrades to support fgdtstallations of
SIRIUS radios and development costs for our neregggion of radios. These increases were offseldoyeases in chip set
development costs. Stock-based compensation expareased $16,569 primarily due to the timingtofd parties achieving
certain production milestone

We expect engineering, design and deveton expenses, excluding stock-based compensagmmse, to decrease in 2007, as we
incorporated SIRIUS radios and accessories inrafgignt number of additional vehicle models in BGihd incurred related non-recurring
engineering expenses in that year.

We expect expense associated with staskdcompensation to decrease in 2007 as perfoenmaitestones pursuant to a certain third
party agreement were achieved in 2006.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest and Investment Inconmerest and investment income includes realizexdsgand losses, dividends and interest income,
including amortization of the premium and discoarsing at purchase.

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 20@sesttand investment income was $33,320 and $26,878
respectively, an increase of $6,442. The increasepimarily attributable to a combination of higbgerall interest rates and
our decision to invest in financial instruments i@ higher interest rate

. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 20@4esattand investment income was $26,878 and $9,713,
respectively, an increase of $17,165. The increaseattributable to higher interest rates andrbesase in our average cash,
cash equivalents and marketable securities balmeeresult of funds raised through offerings ditdecurities

Interest Expenskaterest expense includes interest on outstandihg, dffset by interest capitalized in connectiathwhe construction
of our new satellite and launch vehicle.

. 2006 vs 2005For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 20@5esttexpense was $64,032 and $45,361, respectarely
increase of $18,671. The increase was primarilyéBalt of a full year of interest expense for 8/8% Senior Notes due 2(
issued in August 2005, offset by a decrease imasteexpense both as a result of the 2005 redemetiour 15% Senior
Secured Discount Notes due 2007 and our 14%2% S8eimured Notes due 2009 and $4,205 of interestatiapd for the
construction and launch of our new satell

. 2005 vs 2004For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 20@4esttexpense was $45,361 and $41,386, respectarely
increase of $3,975. The increase was primarilytdueterest expense resulting from the issuanaio® 5/8% Senior Notes
due 2013 in August 2005 and a full year of inteeagtense from our 3¥%.% Convertible Notes due 20diier$ in October 2004
and our 2 2% Convertible Notes due 2009 issueldarfitst quarter of 2004. This increase was offgetlebt conversion costs
in 2004 of $19,592 as a result of the issuanceésaf(®,853 shares of our common stock in exchang®6®,000 in aggregate
principal amount of our 3%2% Convertible Notes dQ6&, including accrued interest, and a decreas#éarest expense
resulting from the
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redemption of our 15% Senior Secured Discount Ndtes2007 and our 14%2% Senior Secured Notes du@i@Qbe third
quarter of 2005

Loss from Redemption of DebBor the year ended December 31, 2005, a loss federmption of debt of $6,214 was recognized in
connection with the redemption of our 15% Seniaruged Discount Notes due 2007 and our 148&hior Secured Notes due 2009, incluc
a redemption premium of $5,502 and the write-offisdmortized debt issuance costs of $712.

Equity in Net Loss of Affiliaté&Equity in net loss of affiliate includes our shafeSIRIUS Canada’s net loss. We recorded $4,445 and
$6,938 for the years ended December 31, 2006 &bl 28spectively, for our share of SIRIUS Canada'sloss.

As of December 31, 2006, our investmer&lRIUS Canada is $0 as we have fully recognizedsbare of SIRIUS Canada’s net loss to
the extent we have funded it. We do not expecttognize future net losses unless we commit tatiaddi funding.

Income Taxes

Income Tax ExpenskBicome tax expense represents the recognitiordeferred tax liability related to the differencesiccounting for
our FCC license, which is amortized over 15 yearsdx purposes but not amortized for book purpas@scordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

. 2006 vs 2005We recorded income tax expense of $2,065 and $2¢8he years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively

. 2005 vs 2004We recorded income tax expense of $2,311 and $4¢2Qhe years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively

Footnotes to Results of Operations

1) Average monthly churn represents the number oftdeded subscribers divided by average quarterbsstibers.
) ARPU is derived from total earned subscriber reeemod net advertising revenue divided by the daédighted average number of subscribers for theedeARPU is calculated
as follows:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Subscriber revenue $ 575,40: $ 223,61! $ 62,88:
Net advertising revent 31,04« 6,131 90€
Total subscriber and net advertising revenue $ 606,44¢ $ 229,74t $ 63,787
Daily weighted average number of subscribers 4,591,69: 1,851,14! 523,21¢
ARPU $ 11.01 $ 10.3¢ $ 10.1¢
3) SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber additiderived from subscriber acquisition costs, exclgdtockbased compensation, and margins from the direetafeIRIUS radio

and accessories divided by the number of grosscsbles additions for the period. SAC, as adjuspet,gross subscriber addition is calculated asvigl

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Subscriber acquisition costs $ 451,61« $ 399,35( $ 206,85:
Less: stock-based compensation (31,899 (49,709 (33,149
Add: margin from direct sale of SIRIUS radios amdessorie: 8,43t (4449 56¢
SAC, as adjusted $ 428,15: $ 349,19 $ 174,27
Gross subscriber additiol 3,758,16: 2,519,30: 986,55t
SAC, as adjusted, per gross subscriber addition $ 114 $ 13¢ $ 177
4) Customer service and billing expenses, as adjupgdaverage subscriber is derived from total custoservice and billing expenses, excluding stoaked compensation, divid

by the daily weighted average number of subscrifmerthe period. Customer service and billing exgem as adjusted, per average subscriber is caldida follows:
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®)

(6)

@)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Customer service and billing expenses $ 68,94¢ $ 47,20: $ 22,78(
Less: stock-based compensation (812) (549 (439)
Customer service and billing expenses, as adjt $ 68,137 $ 46,65:¢ $ 22,34:
Daily weighted average number of subscribers 4,591,69: 1,851,14! 523,21¢
Customer service and billing expenses, as adjupgrdaverage subscriber $ 1.24 $ 2.1C $ 3.5¢€

Free cash flow is derived from cash flow used irraging activities, capital expenditures and restd and other investment activity. Free cash flowalculated as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Net cash used in operating activit $ (414549 $ (269,999 $ (334,46))
Additions to property and equipment (99,827 (49,88¢) (28,589
Restricted and other investment activity 13,66! (14,040 (89,70¢)
Free cash flow $ (500,71 $ (333,92) $ (452,75

Average monthly churn; ARPU; SAC, as adjusted,gress subscriber addition; customer service adil@piexpenses, as adjusted, per average subscaibefree cash flow are
not measures of financial performance under U.8eg#ly accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). \bielieve these non-GAAP financial measures prowiéaningful
supplemental information regarding our operatinggrenance and are used by us for budgetary andhjpigrpurposes; when publicly providing our businessook; as a means
to evaluate period-to-period comparisons; and togare our performance to that of our competitors.aléo believe that investors also use our cuaedtprojected metrics to
monitor the performance of our business and makesitment decision:

We believe the exclusion of stock-based compensatipense in our calculations of SAC, as adjugtedgross subscriber addition and customer searidebilling expenses, as
adjusted, per average subscriber is useful givesigmificant variation in expense that can reioln changes in the fair market value of our comraturtk, the effect of which is
unrelated to the operational conditions that gise to variations in the components of our subscrédzquisition costs and customer service andgillixpenses. Specifically, the
exclusion of stock-based compensation expenserinaaulation of SAC, as adjusted, per gross suiscaddition is critical in being able to understehe economic impact of
the direct costs incurred to acquire a subscribdrthe effect over time as economies of scaleeaehed.

These non-GAAP financial measures are used iniaddi and in conjunction with results presenteddoordance with GAAP. These non-GAAP financial suees may be
susceptible to varying calculations; may not be parable to other similarly titted measures of ott@mpanies; and should not be considered in iswlatis a substitute for, or
superior to measures of financial performance pegba accordance with GAAI

We refer to net loss before taxes; other incomeégrge) - including interest and investment incomterest expense, loss from redemption of debteanaty in net loss of
affiliate; depreciation; impairment charges; aratktbased compensation expense as adjusted lasofrerations. Adjusted loss from operations isansteasure of financial
performance under generally accepted accountimgiptes. We believe adjusted loss from operatieres iseful measure of our operating performanceus¥eadjusted loss from
operations for budgetary and planning purposeassess the relative profitability and on-going perfance of our consolidated operations; to comparegyerformance from
period to period; and to compare our performandbabof our competitors. We also believe adjusted from operations is useful to investors to careur operating
performance to the performance of other commuraoatientertainment and media companies. We beli@ténvestors use current and projected adjustesifrom operations to
estimate our current or prospective enterpriseevahd make investment decisions.

Because we fund and buitast our satellite radio system through the perigdising and expenditure of large amounts of cpita results of operations reflect significantodpe:
for interest and depreciation expense. We belieestéed loss from operations provides useful infation about the operating performance of our bssirapart from the costs
associated with our capital structure and phygtait. The exclusion of interest and depreciatipease is useful given fluctuations in interesésaand significant variation in
depreciation expense that can result from the atranohtiming of capital expenditures and potentaiations in estimated useful lives, all of whizdn vary widely across
different industries or among companies withinshene industry. We believe the exclusion of taxepjzropriate for comparability purposes as thepsitions of companies can
vary because of their differing abilities to taldvantage of tax benefits and because of the tagigslof the various jurisdictions in which theyeopte. We also believe the
exclusion of stock-based compensation expenseefsiiugiven the significant variation in expensettban result from changes in the fair market valfieur common stock.
Finally, we believe that the exclusion of our eyt net loss of affiliate (SIRIUS Canada Inc.uiseful to assess the performance of our core ciolagetl operations in the
continental United States. To compensate for tlrdusion of taxes, other income (expense), deprieciaimpairment charges and stock-based compemsatipense, we
separately measure and budget for these it

There are material limitations associated withutke of adjusted loss from operations in evaluatimgcompany compared with net loss, which refleetsrall financial

performance, including the effects of taxes, otheome (expense), depreciation, impairment chaagelsstockhased compensation expense. We use adjusted dosofreration:
to supplement GAAP results to provide a m
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complete understanding of the factors and trenfgstirfig the business than GAAP results alone. ltoreghat wish to compare and evaluate our opega#sults after giving
effect for these costs, should refer to net losdisdosed in our consolidated statements of ofperat Since adjusted loss from operations is a@AAP financial measure, our
calculation of adjusted loss from operations magteceptible to varying calculations; may not beparable to other similarly titted measures of ot@mpanies; and should r
be considered in isolation, as a substitute fosuprerior to measures of financial performance gmeg in accordance with GAAP.

Adjusted loss from operations is calculated aofed!:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Net loss $ (1,104,86) $ (862,99) $ (712,167)
Impairment loss 10,917 — —
Depreciatior 105,74¢ 98,55¢ 95,37(
Stock-based compensation 437,91¢ 163,07¢ 126,72}
Other income (expense) 35,07¢ 31,54¢ 29,657
Income tax expense 2,06¢ 2,311 4,201

$ (513,140 $ (567,50) $ (456,209

Adjusted loss from operations

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2006 @arad with Year Ended December 31, 2005 and for Ylemr Ended December 31,

2005 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2004

As of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 20@&4had $393,421, $762,007 and $753,891, respectivetash and cash equivalents.

For the Years ended December 31, Variances
2006 vs 2005 vs
2006 2005 2004 2005 2004

Net cash used in operating activit $ (41454) $ (269999 $ (334,46) $ (14455H) $ 64,46¢
Net cash provided by (used in) invest

activities 20,17¢ (175,82) (92,857) 195,99 (82,969
Net cash provided by financing activiti 25,78 453,93: 660,22° (428,14, (206,29¢)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and

equivalents (368,58¢) 8,11¢ 232,91 (376,70 (224,796
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

period 762,00° 753,89: 520,97¢ 8,11¢ 232,91
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 39342. % 762,000 $ 753,89 $ (368,58) $ 8,11¢

Net Cash Used in Operating Activitie

2006 vs 2005Net cash used in operating activities increased &b5 to $414,549 for the year ended December @16 from
$269,994 for the year ended December 31, 2005. Bookase in the net outflows of cash was attribletéo payments for

increased operating expenses to support the grofwdhr subscriber base from 3,316,560 subscribtePeaeember 31, 2005 to
6,024,555 subscribers at December 31, 2006; hjglvehases of inventory to support production ofIBIiRradios and higher
sales volumes through our direct to consumer Bigion channel; and prepayments for new programrmairdydistribution
arrangements entered into in 2006; offset by cafaated for subscribers electing annual and gphhepaid subscription

programs compared with the prior ye

. 2005 vs 2004Net cash used in operating activities decrease@$640 $269,994 for the year ended December 315 g0m
$334,463 for the year ended December 31, 2004. S8extease in the net outflows of cash was attrifbeit®n cash received for
subscribers electing annual and other prepaid sipbisti programs and the effects of payments mad2D4 for future service
pursuant to certain programming agreements. Thesiéye impacts to cash flow were offset by payrsdaot increased

operating expenses to support the growth of ousaitier base
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Net Cash Used in Investing Activitit

2006 vs 2005Net cash provided by investing activities was $26,for the year ended December 31, 2006 comparidnet
cash used in investing activities of $175,821 fer year ended December 31, 2005. The $195,997asereas primarily a
result of sales of auction rate securities in 2@3et by an increase in capital expenditures 9,888 for the year ended
December 31, 2005 to $99,827 for the year ende@mber 31, 2006 primarily as a result of costs aated with our satellite
construction and launch vehic

2005 vs 2004Net cash used in investing activities increased ¥82to $175,821 for the year ended December 315 #0m
$92,852 for the year ended December 31, 2004. Adrease was primarily a result of purchasing $1GIB®&f auction rate
securities with the proceeds from the offering @f 85/8 % Senior Notes due 2013, of which we sold $31,8%0the year
ended December 31, 2005, offset by payments depaisitescrow pursuant to certain agreeme

We will incur significant capital expetuties to construct and launch our new satellitetarichprove our terrestrial repeater network
and broadcast and administrative infrastructur@s€rcapital expenditures will support our growttl tre resiliency of our operations, and
will also support the delivery of future new reveratreams.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activitir

2006 vs 2005Net cash provided by financing activities decree®428,144 to $25,787 for the year ended Decemhe2(B16
from $453,931 for the year ended December 31, 2006.decrease was primarily a result of the offeah$500,000 in

aggregate principal amount of out/® % Senior Notes due 2013 in August 2005 resultingeinproceeds to us of $493,005.

2005 vs 2004Net cash provided by financing activities decreg&2@6,296 to $453,931 for the year ended Decenthe2(®5
from $660,227 for the year ended December 31, 2802005, we raised net proceeds of $493,005 thrdlg offering of
$500,000 in aggregate principal amount of o&f &% Senior Notes due 2013. In 2004, we raised netggas of $614,438
through the offering of 25,000,000 shares of oumegmn stock resulting in net proceeds of $96,0230$200 in aggregate
principal amount of our 3%% Convertible Notes dQ&Presulting in net proceeds of $224,813, and {8Win aggregate
principal amount of our 2%:%onvertible Notes due 2009 resulting in net prosedd$293,600. We also received proceeds
the exercise of options of $18,543 and $26,051Heryears ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, resggcand proceeds
from the exercise of warrants of $19,850 for tharyended December 31, 20!

Financings and Capital Requirements

We have financed our operations throlnghsiale of debt and equity securities. In 2006didenot enter into any new debt or equity
financing transactions. However, in 2005 and 20@ad the following transactions:

in August 2005, we sold $500,000 in aggregate pal@amount of our 98 % Senior Notes due 2013 resulting in net proceeds
of $493,005

in October 2004, we sold 25,000,000 shares of ommgon stock and issued $230,000 in aggregate pehamount of our
3%.% Convertible Notes due 2011 resulting in aggregateroceeds of $320,838; a

in the first quarter of 2004, we issued $300,008ggregate principal amount of our 2%:% Convertidé¢es due 2009 resulting
in net proceeds of $293,600. We also issued 215@2%hares of our common stock for $19,850 in n&tgeds in connection
with the exercise of warrants held by affiliatesTtie Blackstone Group L.
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Future Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements

Based upon our current plans, we belieaeour cash, cash equivalents and marketableiseswvill be sufficient to cover our
estimated funding needs through cash flow breaketerpoint at which our revenues are sufficierfuttd expected operating expenses,
capital expenditures, working capital requiremeimigrest and principal payments and taxes. Irt liflour pending merger with XM Radio,
and the uncertainty surrounding the timing andrfaial impact, we are no longer currently providoash flow guidance. Our first quarter of
positive free cash flow was reached in the fourthrter of 2006. Our financial projections are base@dssumptions, which we believe are
reasonable but contain significant uncertainties.

Our business is in its early stages,aadegularly evaluate our plans and strategy. Theakiations often result in changes to our
and strategy, some of which may be material andifsigntly change our cash requirements or caude ashieve cash flow breakeven at a
later date. These changes in our plans or strateyyinclude: the acquisition of unique or compellprogramming; the introduction of new
features or services; significant new or enhandstilution arrangements; investments in infraguiees, such as satellites, equipment or radio
spectrum; and acquisitions of third parties thah @rogramming, distribution, infrastructure, assetsany combination of the foregoing.

In June 2006, we entered into a Credite&gent with Space Systems/Loral. Under the Chggtiecement, Space Systems/Loral has
agreed to make loans to us in an aggregate prirmipaunt of up to $100,000 to finance the purcles®ir new satellite. Loans made under
the Credit Agreement will be secured by our rigiider the Satellite Purchase Agreement with Spgsee®is/Loral, including our rights to
the new satellite. The loans are also entitledhéobienefits of a subsidiary guarantee from Sadllib Radio, Inc., our subsidiary that holds
our FCC license, and any future material subsidiaay may be formed by us. The maturity date ofitlaas is the earliest to occur of (i) April
6, 2009, (i) 90 days after the new satellite beesravailable for shipment and (iii) 30 days prthe scheduled launch of the new satellite.
Any loans made under the Credit Agreement genevallybear interest at a variable rate equal te¢hmonth LIBOR plus 4.75%. The Credit
Agreement permits us to prepay all or a portiothefloans outstanding without penalty. We haveuroent plans to draw under this Credit
Agreement.

To fund incremental cash requirementgsomarket opportunities arise, we may chooseige edditional funds through the sale of
additional debt securities, equity securities oombination of debt and equity securities. The irence of indebtedness would result in
increased fiscal obligations and could containrigste covenants. The sale of additional equitganvertible debt securities may result in
dilution to our stockholders. These additional sesrof funds may not be available or, if availabiay not be available on terms favorable to
us.

2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan

In January 2003, our board of directatsped the Sirius Satellite Radio 2003 Long-Terwcktincentive Plan (the “2003 Plan”), and
on March 4, 2003 our stockholders approved thia.pglan May 25, 2004, our stockholders approved asnament to the 2003 Plan to inclt
members of our board of directors as eligible pgréints. Employees, consultants and members di@and of directors are eligible to rece
awards under the 2003 Plan. The 2003 Plan pro¥atd@he grant of stock options, restricted sto@stricted stock units and other stock-based
awards that the compensation committee of our bofdirectors may deem appropriate.

Vesting and other terms of stock-basedrdw/are set forth in the agreements with the iddals receiving the awards. Stock-based
awards granted under the 2003 Plan are generdljgauto a vesting requirement that includes onallasf the following: (1) over time,
generally three to five years from the date of gré) on a specific date in future periods witlteleration to earlier periods if performance
criteria are satisfied; or (3) as certain perforoeatargets set at the time of grant are achieviedkSased awards generally expire ten years
from date of grant. Each restricted stock unittkagtithe holder to receive one share of our comstock upon vesting.

As of December 31, 2006, approximately879,000 stock options, shares of restricted samekrestricted stock units were outstand
As of December 31, 2006, approximately 86,524,0G0es of our common stock were available for guadter the 2003 Plan. During the
year ended December 31, 2006, employees exercg2841495 stock options at exercise prices ranfjorg $0.47 to $3.93 per sha
resulting in proceeds to us of $26,679. The exerofghe remaining outstanding, vested optionsccoesult in an inflow of cash in future
periods.
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Contractual Cash Commitments

We have entered into various contrads ¢bntain significant cash obligations. These adsiyations could vary in future periods if
change our business plan or strategy, which cowdide significant additions to our programmindrastructure or distribution. The
following table summarizes our expected contraotagh commitments as of December 31, 2006:

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter Total

Long-term debt obligation $ — $ 3650t $ 301,74« $ — $ 230,000 $ 500,000 $ 1,068,24
Cash interest paymer 64,75t 64,39 59,85¢ 55,60( 55,55¢ 97,32( 397,48
Lease obligation 9,07¢ 9,391 9,34t 9,161 8,42 26,50: 71,90
Satellite and transmissic 27,765 79,16¢ 39,86¢ 2,01( 1,72( 6,617 157,14¢
Programming and conte 122,36! 123,54¢ 146,21: 147,64° 38,66( 27,667 606,09¢
Customer service and billir 3,492 45 — — — — 3,531
Marketing and distributiol 80,28¢ 31,53¢ 22,74: 26,15 18,17 5,50( 184,39:
Chip set development and product 7,022 — — 7,022
Other 7,09¢ 11,57¢ 9 — — — 18,68:

Total contractual cash commitme $ 321,86¢ $ 356,15 $ 579,777 $ 240,57 $ 352,53t $ 663,60t $ 2,514,551

Long-Term Debt Obligationisong-term debt obligations include principal payiseon our outstanding debt. The amounts presented
assume that the debt will not be converted to comstock since conversion is outside of our control.

Cash Interest Paymen@ash interest payments include interest due omugtstanding debt through maturity.
Lease Obligation8Ve have entered into operating leases relatedrtstadios, office space, terrestrial repeaterseapdpment.

Satellite and TransmissioiVe have entered into agreements with third pattiegerate and maintain our off-site satellitertedéry,
tracking and control facilities and certain compuseof our terrestrial repeater network. We hage ahtered into an agreement with Space
Systems/Loral to design and construct a new sateionstruction of this satellite is expectedeacbmpleted in the fourth quarter of 2008.
We plan to launch this satellite on a Proton rocketer our contract with International Launch Segsi

Programming and Conteimt/e have entered into agreements with licensorsazframming and other content providers and, iragert
instances, are obligated to pay license fees aathgtee minimum advertising revenue share. In iatdive pay royalties for public
performances of music to various rights organizetio

Customer Service and Billine have entered into agreements with third pattigsovide billing and subscriber management ses.

Marketing and DistributioWe have entered into various marketing, sponsomshipdistribution agreements to promote our brant a
are obligated to make payments to sponsors, retadetomakers and radio manufacturers under tigreements. In addition, certain
programming and content agreements require usrthpse advertising on properties owned or conttdiethe licensors. We also reimburse
automakers for certain engineering and developmests associated with the incorporation of SIRIE@as into vehicles they manufacture.

Chip Set Development and Productide have entered into agreements with third pattieevelop, produce and supply chip sets; to
develop products; and in certain instances to fieantellectual property related to chip sets.

OtherWe have entered into various agreements with {iarties for general operating and strategic puimoSmounts associated with
these agreements are included in the commitmelits. ta

In addition to the contractual cash cotnments described above, we have entered into agr@smwith automakers, radio manufactu
and others that include per-radio, per-subscripershow and other variable cost arrangements.e€Muggre costs are dependent upon many
factors including our subscriber growth and aréidift to anticipate; however, these costs mayllestantial. We may enter into additional
programming, distribution, marketing and other agnents that contain similar provisions.
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Under the terms of a joint developmenmteagient with XM Radio, each party is obligatedund one half of the development cost for a
unified standard for satellite radios. The coslateg to the joint development agreement are bexpgnsed as incurred to engineering, design
and development expense in the accompanying urauctinsolidated statements of operations. We arently unable to determine the
expenditures necessary to complete this processyéddo not expect that these expenditures withlagerial.

We are required under the terms of cedgreements to provide letters of credit and dépusnies in escrow, which place restrictions
on our cash and cash equivalents. As of Decemhe2(®6 and 2005, $77,850 and $107,615, respectiwelse classified as restricted
investments as a result of our reimbursement dfidigs under these letters of credit and escrow siepo

As of December 31, 2006, we have notredteto any off-balance sheet arrangements osactions.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS1S7, “Fair Value Measurements,” which definds¥alue, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value and expands the related disoborequirements. SFAS No. 157 is effective fecdl years beginning after November 15,
2007 and for interim periods within those years. &k currently evaluating the impact of the adaptibany, that SFAS No. 157 will have
our consolidated results of operations and findrpmaition.

In September 2006, the FASB issued EIBF06-1, “Accounting for Consideration Given by @8ce Provider to Manufacturers or
Resellers of Equipment Necessary for an End-CugttoriReceive Service from the Service Provider.2 ®iITF concluded that if
consideration given by a service provider to adtmiarty manufacturer or a reseller that is notsvice provider’s customer can be linked
contractually to the benefit received by the seroovider’'s customer, a service provider shoutmbant for the consideration in accordance
with EITF No. 01-9, “Accounting for Consideratioriv@én by a Vendor to a Customer.” EITF No. 06s effective for annual reporting peri
beginning after June 15, 2007. We are currentlyugiimg the effects that EITF No. 06-1 will have aur consolidated results of operations
and financial position.

In June 2006, the FASB issued EITF Ne3p8How Taxes Collected from Customers and RemitteGovernmental Authorities
Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (Bh&rbss versus Net Presentation),” to clarify g in practice on the presentation of
different types of taxes in the financial statersefihe EITF concluded that for taxes within thepgcof the issue, a company may include
charges to customers for taxes within revenuedtandharge for the taxes from the taxing authawitin cost of sales, or, alternatively, it
may net the charge to the customer and the chewgethe taxing authority. If taxes subject to EINIB. 06-3 are significant, a company is
required to disclose its accounting policy for reing taxes and the amounts of such taxes thateognized on a gross basis. EITF No. 06-
3 is effective for the first interim reporting ped beginning after December 15, 2006. We will adéit- No. 06-3 effective January 1, 2007.
The adoption of EITF No. 06-3 will not have a matkimpact on our consolidated results of operationfinancial position.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN No.“A8counting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — aterpretation of FASB Statement No.
109,” which prescribes a recognition threshold and memsent attribute for financial statement recognitioid measurement of a tax posi
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return,edkas criteria on derecognition, measurementsdiaation, interest and penalties, accoun
in interim periods, disclosure and transition. RN. 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning affeecember 15, 2006. We will adopt FIN [
48 effective January 1, 2007. The adoption of FidN #B will not have a material impact on our coitsadkd results of operations or financial
position.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About MarkRisks
(All dollar amounts referenced in thiertt 7A are in thousands, unless otherwise stated)

As of December 31, 2006, we did not hawe derivative financial instruments and we dointgnd to use derivatives. We do not hold
or issue any free-standing derivatives. We hol@atments in marketable securities, which consistrofed States government notes,
certificates of deposit and auction rate securitiés classify our marketable securities as availdibi-sale. These securities are consistent
with the investment objectives contained within mwestment policy. The basic objectives of oureistynent policy are the preservation of
capital, maintaining sufficient liquidity to megp@rating requirements and maximizing yield. Desftiteunderlying long-
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term maturity of auction rate securities, from ittveestor’s perspective, such securities are prazetisubsequently traded as short-term
investments because of the interest rate resetréednhterest rates are reset through an auctiocegs at predetermined periods of 28 or 35
days. Failed auctions rarely occur. As of Decen®ier2006, we held approximately $10,850 in auctair securities.

Our long-term debt includes fixed inténedes and the fair market value of the debtisisige to changes in interest rates. Under our
current policies, we do not use interest rate @éitre instruments to manage our exposure to irteags fluctuations.

| tem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
See Index to Consolidated Financial $tetgs contained in Item 15 herein.

| tem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéinting and Financial Disclosure
None.

| tem 9A. Controls and Procedures

Controls and Procedures

We have performed an evaluation undestipervision and with the participation of our mgeraent, including Mel Karmazin, our
Chief Executive Officer, and David Frear, our ExtagelVice President and Chief Financial Officer tioé effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a)1&(der the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Baseithat evaluation, our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Rirtial Officer, concluded that our disclosure colstand procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2006 to ensure that information regluio be disclosed by us in the reports filed dnsitied by us under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported vifthitime periods specified in the SEC’s rules famohs. As a result of this evaluation,
there were no significant changes in our disclosorgrols and procedures during the three montdec&Becember 31, 2006 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Managemer's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repog

Our management is responsible for esthing and maintaining adequate internal controt éimancial reporting as defined in Rule
13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. We have perforaredvaluation under the supervision and with #mtigipation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chighancial Officer, of the effectiveness of oureimtal control over financial reporting. Our
management used the framework in Internal Contrtegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sgrimg Organizations to perform
this evaluation. Based on that evaluation, our rgameent, including our Chief Executive Officer anki€f Financial Officer, concluded that
our internal control over financial reporting wdteetive as of December 31, 2006.

Ernst & Young LLP, our independent regiistl public accounting firm, who audited the coiulsaéd financial statements included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued arst&tti®n report on our management’s assessmeng @fthctiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20068y of which is included in this Annual Reportieorm 10-K.

| tem 9B. Other Information
None.
P ART III
| tem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Goverce

Information required by this item for exéive officers is set forth under the heading “€ixése Officers of the Registrant” in Part |,
Item 1, of this report. The other information raggi by this Item 10 is included in our
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definitive proxy statement for our 2007 annual rmepbf stockholders to be held on Thursday, MayZt)7, and is incorporated herein by
reference.

| tem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this itenirisluded in our definitive proxy statement for @007 annual meeting of stockholders to be
held on Thursday, May 24, 2007, and is incorporaeein by reference.

| tem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aianagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this itemnsluded in our definitive proxy statement for Q@07 annual meeting of stockholders to be
held on Thursday, May 24, 2007, and is incorporaeein by reference.

| tem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, adaector Independence

The information required by this itemnsluded in our definitive proxy statement for Q@07 annual meeting of stockholders to be
held on Thursday, May 24, 2007, and is incorporaeein by reference.

| tem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this itenirisluded in our definitive proxy statement for @007 annual meeting of stockholders to be
held on Thursday, May 24, 2007, and is incorporaeein by reference.

P ART IV
| tem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(@ Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedule£xhibits
(1) Financial Statemen
See Index to Consolidated Financial Statementsaafmeon page -1.
(2) Financial Statement Schedu
See Index to Consolidated Financial Statementsaafmeon page -1.
(3) Exhibits

See Exhibit Index appearing on pagestl-dugh E-3 for a list of exhibits filed or inconaded by reference as part of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sect®borll15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984, registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theégedmly authorized on this $tday of March 2007.

SIRIUS SATELLITE R ADIO | NC.

By: /s/ DAvID J. FREAR

David J. Frear
Executive Vice President anc
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the SesiExchange Act of 1934, this report has begnesi below by the following persons on

behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Signature

Title

Date

/s/ JOSEPHP. CLAYTON

(Joseph P. Clayton]

/s MEL K ARMAZIN

(Mel Karmazin)

/s/ DAvID J. FREAR

(David J. Frear)

Chairman of the Board of
Directors and Director

Chief Executive Officer
and Director

(Principal Executive
Officer)

Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal
Financial Officer)

March 1, 2007

March 1, 2007

March 1, 2007

/s/ ADRIENNE E. CALDERONE Senior Vice President and March 1, 200
Corporate Controller (Principal
(Adrienne E. Calderone) Accounting Officer)
/sl LEoND. B LACK Director March 1, 200
(Leon D. Black)
/sl L AWRENCEF. GILBERTI Director March 1, 200
(Lawrence F. Gilberti)
/sl JAMES P. HOLDEN Director March 1, 2007
(James P. Holden
/s/ W ARREN N. L IEBERFARB Director March 1, 2007
(Warren N. Lieberfarb)
Director March 1, 2007
(Michael J. McGuiness)
/sl JamES F. M OONEY Director March 1, 2007

(James F. Mooney’
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Siatellite Radio Inc. and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying const@itibalance sheets of Sirius Satellite Radio(the.“Company”) as of December 31, 2006
and 2005, and the related consolidated stateménfsecations, stockholders’ equity, and cash fléevseach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2006. Our audits also inclugedinancial statement schedule listed in the Inatdxem 15(a). These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibilityeo€ompany’s management. Our responsibility iscpyess an opinion on these financial
statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordandk thie standards of the Public Company Accountingr€ight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindmecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on flasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptesused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the consolidated finalctatements referred to above present fairlg)limaterial respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2006280%, and the consolidated results of its opanatand its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2006riformity with U.S. generally accepted accouppninciples. Also, in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedule, when consitlier relation to the basic financial statemerkgaas a whole, presents fairly, in all
material respects, the information set forth therei

We have also audited, in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting §lght Board (United States), the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrdirancial reporting as of December 31, 2006, dasecriteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Casion and our report dated
February 23, 2007 expressed an unqualified opitfiereon.

As discussed in Notes 2 and 11 to tmsalidated financial statements, the Company adoptatement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Patynmeffective January 1, 2006.

/s| ERNST& Y OUNGLLP
New York, NY
February 23, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Siatellite Radio Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessmeluigled in the accompanying Item 9A, that SiriaseBite Radio Inc. (the “Company”)
maintained effective internal control over finaheiporting as of December 31, 2006, based onr&igstablished in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSping Organizations of the Treadway Commissibe @OSO criteria). The
Company’s management is responsible for maintaiaffegtive internal control over financial repogiand for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting. Our responsibility is to express an opingm management’s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s maécontrol over financial reporting based on cundia

We conducted our audit in accordancé tie standards of the Public Company Accountingr€ight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing ahgaéag the design and operating effectivenessateirnal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary airthenstances. We believe that our audit providesagonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over finaalaeporting is a process designed to provideaealsle assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttiegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircéal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainky reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financékstents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and @jge reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@izé statements.

Because of its inherent limitationsemial control over financial reporting may not mevor detect misstatements. Also, projectior
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeqaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessihatthe Company maintained effective internal mrdver financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all mategapects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, mopinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control diieancial reporting as of December 31, 2006, basethe COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accountingr€lght Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of the Company asadger 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consadicdatements of operations,
stockholdersequity, and cash flows for each of the three y&atise period ended December 31, 2006, and ourtrépted February 23, 20
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s| ERNST& Y OUNGLLP

New York, NY
February 23, 2007
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIO NS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Revenue
Subscriber revenue, including effects of 1-in rebates $ 575,40 $ 22361 $ 62,881
Advertising revenue, net of agency ft 31,04« 6,131 90¢€
Equipment revenu 26,79¢ 12,27: 2,89¢
Other revenus 3,98¢ 22¢ 16¢
Total revenue 637,23! 242,24! 66,85¢
Operating expenses (excludes depreciation shovaratey belowfD:
Cost of services
Satellite and transmissic 41,797 29,79¢ 33,19¢
Programming and conte 551,98¢ 118,07t 87,25
Customer service and billir 68,94¢ 47,20: 22,78(
Cost of equipmer 35,23 11,827 3,467
Sales and marketir 242,03! 212,74: 202,84¢
Subscriber acquisition cos 451,61 399,35( 206,85
General and administratiy 137,46t 87,55¢ 57,90¢
Engineering, design and developm 70,127 66,28 35,487
Depreciatior 105,74¢ 98,55¢ 95,37(
Total operating expens 1,704,95! 1,071,38! 745,15¢
Loss from operation (1,067,72) (829,14 (678,309
Other income (expense
Interest and investment incor 33,32( 26,87¢ 9,71%
Interest expense, net of amounts capital (64,037 (45,36) (41,38¢)
Loss from redemption of de — (6,219 —
Equity in net loss of affiliat (4,445 (6,93 —
Other income 79 89 2,01¢
Total other income (expens (35,079 (31,54¢) (29,657
Loss before income tax (1,102,80) (860,68¢) (707,96
Income tax expens (2,065 (2,317 (4,207
Net loss $ (1,104,86) $ (862,99) $ (712,16)
Net loss per share (basic and dilut $ 0.79 $ 065 % (0.57)
Weighted average common shares outstanding (badidibuted) 1,402,61! 1,325,73 1,238,58!
1) Amounts related to stock-based compensation indlilether operating expenses were as follows:
Satellite and transmissic $ 2,56¢ $ 1,94: $ 2,041
Programming and content 321,77« 19,46¢ 23,89¢
Customer service and billing 81z 54¢ 43¢
Sales and marketing 19,54: 42,14¢ 48,35¢
Subscriber acquisition cos 31,89¢ 49,70¢ 33,14¢
General and administrative 49,92¢ 27,72¢ 13,871
Engineering, design and development 11,39¢ 21,53¢ 4,967
Total stock-based compensation $ 437,91¢ $ 163,07¢ $ 126,72¢

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

As of December 31,

2006 2005
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 39342. % 762,00°
Marketable securitie 15,50( 117,25(
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#ttounts of $3,183 and $1,550 at December 31, :
and 2005, respective 24,18¢ 31,68¢
Receivables from distribution partne 46,82 26,51
Inventory 34,50z 14,25¢
Prepaid expense 52,58¢ 18,24¢
Restricted investmen 25,00( 25,16¢
Other current asse 25,24 16,32
Total current asse 617,26t 1,011,44:
Property and equipment, r 810,38t 828,35°
FCC license 83,65¢ 83,65¢
Restricted investments, net of current por 52,85( 82,45(
Deferred financing fee 13,16¢ 16,30:
Other lon¢-term asset 81,20: 63,15(
Total asset $ 1,658,52 2,085,36:
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expel $ 437,91 331,95¢
Accrued interes 24,78: 23,54¢
Deferred revenu 412,37( 251,46¢
Total current liabilities 875,06! 606,96
Long-term debt 1,068,24 1,084,43
Deferred revenue, net of current port 76,58( 56,47¢
Other lon¢-term liabilities 27,70t 12,51:
Total liabilities 2,047,59 1,760,39
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value: 2,500,000,000 sharthorized, 1,434,635,501 and 1,346,226,851
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,8@D8005, respective 1,43t 1,34¢
Additional paic-in capital 3,443,21. 3,079,16!
Deferred compensatic — (26,699
Accumulated defici (3,833,72)) (2,728,85)
Total stockholder (deficit) equity (389,07) 324,96¢
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 1,658,552 $ 2,085,36:

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balances, December 31, 2003

Net loss

Change in unrealized loss on available
for-sale securitie

Total comprehensive loss

Sale of common stock, par value $0.0!
per share, $3.87 per share, net of
expenses

Issuance of common stock to employees
and employee benefit pla

Issuance of common stock to third par

Compensation in connection with the
issuance of stock-based awards

Issuance of sto-based award

Cancellation of stock-based awards

Amortization of deferred compensatior

Issuance of equity to the NF

Exercise of options, $0.49 to $7.61 pel
share

Exchange of 3%2% Convertible Notes due
2008, including accrued interest

Exercise of warrants, $0.92 and $1.04
share

Balances, December 31, 2004

Net loss

Change in unrealized gain on available-
for-sale securities

Total comprehensive lo:

Issuance of common stock to employees
and employee benefit plans

Issuance of common stock to third par

Compensation in connection with the
issuance of stock-based awards

Issuance of stock-based awards

Cancellation of stock-based awards

Amortization of deferred compensati

Exercise of options, $0.67 to $5.32 per
share

Exchange of 3%2% Convertible Notes ¢
2008, including accrued interest

Exercise of warrants, $0.92 to $2.392 per
share

Balances, December 31, 2005

table continued on next page

SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Common Stock

Accumulated

Additional
Paid-In Deferred Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Compensation Deficit Total
1,137,758,94 $ 1,13¢ $ 2,52513! $ 47,41) $ 26 $ (1,153,69) $ 1,325,19
— — — — — (712,167 (712,167
— — — — (50) — (50)
$ (712,217
I
25,000,00 25 96,00( — — — 96,02¢
3,942,13: 4 1,624 — — — 1,62¢
99,60: — 28C — — — 28C
— — 87,02¢ — — — 87,02¢
— — 33,49¢ (33,499 — — —
— — (703 703 — — —
— — 29,24« — — 29,24«
15,173,07 15 40,952 — — — 40,967
17,447,08 18 26,04: — — — 26,06(
56,409,85 56 86,51: — — — 86,56¢
21,091,94 21 19,82¢ — — — 19,85(
1,276,922,63 1,277 2,916,19! (50,967) (24) (1,865,85)) 1,000,63:
— — — — — (862,99) (862,99)
— — — — 24 — 24
$ (862,979
I
2,773,771 3 3,36€ — — — 3,36¢
38,58( — 48C — — — 48C
— — 109,11 — — — 109,11
— — 18,30( (18,300 — — —
— — (1,339) 1,33 — — —
— — — 41,23¢ — — 41,23¢
14,460,73 14 18,80: — — — 18,817
10,548,54 11 14,28: — — — 14,29«
41,482,57 41 (42 — — — —
1,346,226,85 $ 1,34¢ $ 3,079,160 $ (26,699 $ — $ (2,72885) $ 324,96¢

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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table continued from previous page

Net loss

Issuance of common stock to employees
and employee benefit plans

Issuance of common stock to third par

Compensation in connection with the
issuance of stock-based awards

Reversal of deferred compensation
related to the adoption of Statemen’
Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) N0.123R

Exercise of options, $0.47 to $3.93 per
share

Exercise of warrants, $2.392 per share

Exchange of 3%2% Convertible Notes due
2008, including accrued intere

Balances, December 31, 2006

SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY - C ontinued

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Common Stock

Accumulated

Additional Other
Paid-In Deferred Comprehensive Accumulated

Shares Amount Capital Compensation Loss Deficit Total
— — — — — (1,104,86) (1,104,86)
20,063,32 20 22,25: — — — 22,27
34,467,86 35 224,91° — — — 224,95
— — 100,92: — — — 100,92:
— — (26,699 26,69¢ — — —
19,284,49 19 26,66( — — — 26,67¢
2,862,53: 8 ®3) — — — —
11,730,43 12 15,98¢ — — — 16,00:
1,434,63550 $ 1,43t $ 344321, $ — 8 — $ (3,833,72) $ (389,07)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash ursegerating activities
Depreciatior
Non-cash interest expen
Provision for doubtful accoun
Non-cash equity in net loss of affilia
Non-cash loss from redemption of de
Loss on disposal of ass¢
Impairment los:
Stocl-based compensatic
Deferred income taxe

Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Marketable securitie
Accounts receivabl
Receivables from distribution partne
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other lon¢-term asset
Accounts payable and accrued expet
Accrued interes
Deferred revenu
Other lon¢-term liabilities

Net cash used in operating activit

Cash flows from investing activitie
Additions to property and equipme
Sales of property and equipme
Purchases of restricted and other investm
Release of restricted investme
Purchases of availal-for-sale securitie
Sales of availab-for-sale securitie

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi

Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of lc-term debt, ne
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Redemption of det
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti
Proceeds from exercise of warra
Other

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ofg

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of pi

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash and Non-Cash Fidarination

Cash paid during the period fc
Interest, net of amounts capitalized
Income taxes
Non-cash operating activitie
Common stock issued in satisfaction of accrued @rsation
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Release of restriction on marketable secur
Common stock issued in exchange of 3%2% Converiolies due 2008, including accrued interest
Common stock issued to third parties

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
$(1,104,86) $ (862,99) $ (712,16
105,74 98,55¢ 95,37(
3,107 3,16¢ 21,91
7,51¢ 4,311 1,64¢
4,44¢ 6,93¢ —
— 712 —
1,661 1,02¢ 70
10,91 — —
437,91 163,07 126,72
2,06¢ 2,311 4,201
— 16 (292)
(14) (28,440) (7,689
(20,31 (17,265 (8,03))
(20,24¢) (6,329) (1,850)
(42,36 (11,86 2,39t
(19,33) 6,47¢ (44,56
33,51 145,05: 108,51
1,23¢ 17,81: 4,68¢
181,00: 210,94 78,54
3,45: (3,50%) (3,949)
(414,549 (269,999 (334,46
(99,82) (49,88¢) (28,589
127 72 445
(12,339 (25,03) (89,700)
26,00( 10,99’ —
(123,50 (148,90 —
229,71! 36,93 25,00(
20,17¢ (175,82) (92,85)
— 493,00! 518,41
— — 96,02t
— (57,609
25,78 18,54: 26,05!
— 19,85(
— (8 (112)
25,78 453,93 660,22"
(368,58() 8,11¢ 232,91
762,00 753,89: 520,97¢
$ 39342. $ 76200 $ 753,89
$ 59,92¢ $ 24,381 $ 14,92(
582 15€& —
7,24 4,82¢ 913
4,75( — —
16,00: 14,29« 86,56¢
224,95. — 40,967



See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)
1. Business

We are a satellite radio provider in thated States. We currently broadcast over 130 mélarof programming to listeners across the
country. We offer 69 channels of 100% commerciakfmusic and feature 65 channels of sports, nalks gntertainment, traffic and weather
for a monthly subscription fee of $12.95.

We broadcast through our proprietarylbgeadio system, which currently consists ofe@orbiting satellites, 127 terrestrial repeaters
that receive and retransmit our signal, a sateljiiénk facility and our studios. Subscribers rgeebdur service through SIRIUS radios, which
are sold by automakers, consumer electronics eesainobile audio dealers and through our webSitbscribers can also receive our music
channels and certain other channels over the lettefrs of December 31, 2006, we had 6,024,555 sililess.

Our music channels are available to D§akllite television subscribers and certain ofrausic channels are offered to Sprint
subscribers over multi-media handsets. We also tfiffic and weather data services for a sepdesteSubscribers to DISH satellite
television, Sprint and our traffic and weather daevices are not included in our subscriber count.

In 2005, SIRIUS Canada Inc., a Canad@paration owned by us, Canadian Broadcasting Gatjpm and Standard Radio Inc.,
received a license from the Canadian Radio-telewniand Telecommunications Commission to offer all&t radio service in Canada. In
December 2005, SIRIUS Canada launched servicernadzawith 110 channels of commercial-free musicraewls, sports, talk and
entertainment programming, including 11 channel€afiadian content. Subscribers to the SIRIUS Casadéce are not included in our
subscriber count.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated finanditiesnents of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. and itsssdiaries have been prepared in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principfdsintercompany transactions and accounts haes lsdiminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdanformity with U.S. generally accepted accoumpninciples requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amoeptsted and related disclosures. Estimates, by tlagire, are based on judgment and
available information. Actual results could diffeom those estimates.

Significant estimates inherent in thepamation of the accompanying consolidated finarstialements include allowances for doubtful
accounts; depreciable lives of our assets; stoskdaompensation; mail-in rebates; certain subscabquisition costs, including product
warranty obligations; asset retirement obligatiarg] impairments.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from subscribers consists of@iisn fees; revenue derived from our agreemetit iertz; non-refundable activation fees;
and the effects of mail-in rebates.

We recognize subscription fees as owigeis provided to a subscriber. We record deterexenue for prepaid subscription fees and
amortize these prepayments to revenue ratablytbegierm of the respective subscription plan.

At the time of sale, vehicle owners pasing or leasing a vehicle with a subscriptiondo service typically receive between a six
month and one year prepaid subscription. We reqeyenent from automakers for these subscriptiorgglirance of our service being
activated. Such prepayments are recorded to ddfezkenue and amortized ratably over the servidege&pon activation and sale to a
customer. We also reimburse automakers
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)

for certain costs associated with the SIRIUS raastalled in the applicable vehicle at the time wkéicle is manufactured. The associated
payments to the automakers are included in sulescaityuisition costs. Although we receive payméots the automakers, they do not re
our service; rather, automakers facilitate the eleur service to our customers, acting similaaticagent. We believe this is the appropriate
characterization of our relationship since we asponsible for providing service to our customecduding being obligated to the customer if
there was interruption of service.

Activation fees are recognized ratablgrothe estimated term of a subscriber relationghifrently estimated to be 3.5 years. The
estimated term of a subscriber relationship is hasemarket research and management’s judgmentfaretessary, will be refined in the
future as historical data becomes available.

As required by Emerging Issues Task FHEETF”) No. 01-09, “Accounting for Consideratiddiven by a Vendor to a Customer
(Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products))”estimate of mail-in rebates that are paid byitesctly to subscribers is recorded as a
reduction to revenue in the period the subscribvates our service. For certain mail-in rebatnpotions, a subscriber must remain active
for a specified period of time to be consideredible. In those instances, such estimate is redoadea reduction to revenue over the required
activation period. We estimate the effects of nrailebates based on actual take-rates for rebedmiives offered in prior periods, adjusted as
deemed necessary based on current take-rate dalabée at the time. In subsequent periods, estismate adjusted when necessary.

We recognize revenues from the sale eéai$ing on some of our non-music channels astivertising is broadcast. Agency fees are
calculated based on a stated percentage applgrdds billing revenue for our advertising inventand are reported as a reduction of
advertising revenue. Advertising revenue includbeedising sold in exchange for goods or servitastér) recorded at fair value. Revenue
from barter transactions is recognized when thedibing is broadcast and goods or services exathare received. Goods or services
received are charged to expense when receivedramid. Barter transactions are not significamuioconsolidated financial statements. We
pay certain third parties a percentage of advagisévenue. Advertising revenue is recorded gréssich revenue share payments in
accordance with EITF No. 99-19, “Reporting Reve@uess as a Principal versus Net as an Agent,” agrevéhe primary obligor in the
transaction. Advertising revenue share paymentseam@ded to programming and content expense dthimgeriod in which the advertising
is broadcast.

Equipment revenue from the direct sal8I&RIUS radios and accessories is recognized upipment. Shipping and handling costs
billed to customers are recorded as revenue. Stgmeid handling costs associated with shipping goodustomers are recorded to cost of
equipment.

EITF No. 00-21, “Accounting for Revenue@ngements with Multiple Deliverablegtovides guidance on how and when to recog
revenues for arrangements that may involve theeiglior performance of multiple products, serviaad/or rights to use assets. Revenue
arrangements with multiple deliverables are reqlicebe divided into separate units of accountirige deliverables in the arrangement meet
certain criteria. Arrangement consideration musalbecated among the separate units of accountisgdon their relative fair values.

We determined that the sale of our sertticough our direct to consumer channel with aggamging equipment constitutes a revenue
arrangement with multiple deliverables. In thegeetyof arrangements, amounts received for equiparerfecognized as equipment revenue;
amounts received for service are recognized asspben revenue; and amounts received for the mdnndable, up-front activation fee that
are not contingent on the delivery of the serviegeadlocated to equipment revenue. Activation faesrecorded to equipment revenue only to
the extent that the aggregate equipment and activide proceeds do not exceed the fair value®@gtiuipment. Any activation fees not
allocated to the equipment are deferred upon aaivand recognized as subscriber revenue on iglstiine basis over the estimated term of
a subscriber relationship.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, we adoptedpttowrisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “ShBesed Payment” (“SFAS No. 123R”"),
using the modified prospective transition methaibmperiods are not restated under this transitie@thod. The stock-based compensation
cost recognized beginning January 1, 2006 inclgdespensation cost for all stock-based awards gilantemployees and members of our
board of directors (i) prior to, but not vestedofsJanuary 1, 2006 based on the grant date faiewvaiginally estimated in accordance with
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)

the provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for &teBased Compensation,” and (ii) subsequent to Dbee 31, 2005 based on the grant
date fair value estimated in accordance with tlowipions of SFAS No. 123R.

Compensation cost under SFAS No. 123Rdegnized ratably using the straight-line attiitmutmethod over the expected vesting
period.

SFAS No. 123R requires forfeitures taeb#mated on the grant date and revised in subsegeeods if actual forfeitures differ from
those estimates. Prior to the adoption of SFASIRE8R we accounted for forfeitures as they occurffed.pro forma disclosure purposes in
accordance with SFAS No. 123, we estimated fonfeguAs of January 1, 2006, the cumulative efféetdopting the estimated forfeiture
method was not significant.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we used thénsit value method to measure the compensationoatock-based awards granted to
employees and members of our board of directoas@erdance with Accounting Principles Board OpinfthPB”) No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees.” Accordingly, we recdrdempensation expense for stock-based awardsegrémemployees and members of
our board of directors over the vesting period étuthe excess of the market price of the undegydiommon stock at the date of grant over
the exercise price of the stock-based award. Tinsic value of restricted stock units as of tlagedof grant was amortized to expense over
the vesting period. We accounted for modificatitmstock-based awards in accordance with Finak@ebunting Standards Board
Interpretation (“FIN") No. 44, “Accounting for Cexih Transactions Involving Stock Compensation.” bl 44 provided that when the
modification of a stock-based award occured, a maasurement date resulted because the modificatmmed an employee to vest in an
award that would have otherwise been forfeitedyamsto the original terms. In accordance with Nl 44, we also recorded compensation
charges or benefits related to repriced stock aptlmased on the market value of our common stotikthe repriced stock options were
exercised, forfeited or expired.

The following table reflects net loss ared loss per share had stock-based compensatemplmyees and members of our board of
directors been recorded based on the fair valuaedainder SFAS No. 123 for the periods set forthvee

For the Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004
Net los—as reportet $ (862,99) $ (712,16)
Stocl-based compensation to employees and members bbawl of director: 47,91 35,43
Stocl-based compensation to employees and members bbaw of director—pro forma (94,677 (62,49))
Net los—pro forma $ (909,759 $ (739,219
Net loss per shar

Basic and dilute—as reportet $ (065 $ (0.57)
Basic and dilute—pro forma $ 0.69 $ (0.60)

Pursuant to SFAS 123R, we recognized3®Zof compensation cost for stock-based awardgepao employees and members of our
board of directors for the year ended DecembeRBQ6. This compared to $47,915 and $35,434 of cosgi®n cost for stock-based awards
granted to employees and members of our boardectdirs recognized pursuant to APB No. 25 for tharg ended December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively. Total unrecognized compensattated to unvested stock-based awards granteehpdoyees and members of our board
of directors at December 31, 2006, net of estim&ig@itures, is $105,146 and is expected to begeized over a weightealverage period ¢
three years.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accountedtock-based awards granted to non-employees; ththie non-employee members of our
board of directors, at fair value in accordancén@8FAS No. 123. Effective January 1, 2006, we aotéor such awards at fair value in
accordance with SFAS No. 123R and SEC guidancabwt in Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 10The fair value of equity
instruments granted to non-employees is measuraddordance with EITF No. 96-18, “Accounting foruiy| Instruments That are Issued to
Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunntiwith Selling, Goods or Services.” The final maasnent date of equity instruments
with performance criteria is the date that eacligparance commitment for such equity instrumentigs§ied or there is a significant
disincentive for non-performance.

F-11




SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)

Stock-based awards granted to employeesemployees and members of our board of direggmngrally include warrants, stock
options, restricted stock and restricted stocksu@harges associated with such stock-based awerdsferred to by us as stock-based
compensation.

Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we camith to estimate the fair value of stock-based asvasihg the Black-Scholes option
valuation model (“Black-Scholes”). Black-Scholessaeveloped to estimate the fair market valueaafad options, which have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. Optionuagion models require the input of highly subjeetassumptions. Because our stock-based
awards have characteristics significantly diffefeai those of traded options and because changég isubjective assumptions can
materially affect the fair market value estimake existing option valuation models do not necélgsarovide a reliable single measure of the
fair value of our stock-based awards.

Fair value determined using Black-Schetases based on assumptions used for the expkfeteeixpected stock price volatility and
risk-free interest rates. For the years ended Dbee®il, 2005 and 2004, we used historical volatiftour stock over a period equal to the
expected life of stock-based awards to estimatevédiie. We estimated the fair value of awards g@uwduring the year ended December 31,
2006 using the implied volatility of actively tradleptions on our stock. We believe that impliedatitity is more representative of future
stock price trends than historical volatility. Tévepected life assumption represents the weightedage period stock-based awards are
expected to remain outstanding. These expectedddamptions are established through a reviewstditical exercise behavior of stobkse!
award grants with similar vesting periods. Whesdrical patterns do not exist contractual ternesuesed. The risk-free interest rate
represents the daily treasury yield curve ratbareporting date based on the closing marketieidsy on actively traded U.S. treasury
securities in the over-the-counter market for thgeeted term. Our assumptions may change in fyterieds.

The following table summarizes the wedghiverage assumptions used to compute reportepraridrma stocksased compensation
employees and members of our board of directorthfoperiods set forth below:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(pro forma) (pro forma)
Risk-free interest rat 4.2(% 4.18% 3.85%
Expected life of optior—years 4.4k 5.07 6.2
Expected stock price volatilil 60% 89% 11C%
Expected dividend yiel N/A N/A N/A

The following table summarizes the ranfjassumptions used to compute reported sbaded compensation to third parties, other
non-employee members of our board of directorstHerperiods set forth below:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Risk-free interest rat 4.2¢-5.22% 2.8%-4.5&% 1.95-4.6%%
Expected life of optior—years 1.67-10.0C 1.0¢-9.9¢ 1.0¢-10.0C
Expected stock price volatilil 60% 56-11€% 56-11€%
Expected dividend yiel N/A N/A N/A

SFAS No. 123R changes the presentatioaalized excess tax benefits associated withxtbeciese of stock options in the statement
cash flows. Excess tax benefits are realized taefits from tax deductions for the exercise of ktoptions in excess of the deferred tax asset
attributable to stock compensation expense for sptions. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123Rhstealized tax benefits were required
to be presented as operating cash flows. SFAS RBR Yequires such realized tax benefits to be ptedeas part of cash flows from
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)

financing activities. No income tax benefits haeeib realized from stock option exercises duringytrees ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004 because a valuation allowance was recéodadl net deferred tax assets.

Subscriber Acquisition Costs

Subscriber acquisition costs include hane subsidies paid to radio manufacturers, distoits and automakers, including subsidies
paid to automakers who include a SIRIUS radio apdepaid subscription to our service in the salkease price of a new vehicle; subsidies
paid for chip sets and certain other componentd uismanufacturing radios; commissions paid toiltaand automakers as incentives to
purchase, install and activate SIRIUS radios; pcoaarranty obligations; and compensation costecated with stockbased awards grant
in connection with certain distribution agreemeiitse majority of subscriber acquisition costs aiired in advance of acquiring a
subscriber. Subscriber acquisition costs do ndtidecadvertising, loyalty payments to distributarsl dealers of SIRIUS radios and revenue
share payments to automakers and retailers of SR#dios which are included in sales and marketkpgense. Subscriber acquisition costs
also do not include amounts capitalized in conoectiith our agreement with Hertz, as we retain awii@ of certain SIRIUS radios used by
Hertz.

Subsidies paid to radio manufacturersardmakers are expensed upon shipment or ingall@ommissions paid to retailers and
automakers are expensed either upon activatioalero$ the SIRIUS radio. Chip sets that are shigpa@dio manufacturers and held on
consignment are recorded as inventory and expassedbscriber acquisition costs when placed irddymtion by radio manufacturers. Cc
for chip sets not held on consignment are expeasenibscriber acquisition costs when the chipasetshipped to radio manufacturers.

We record product warranty obligationsatordance with FIN No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accougtand Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Iretlidss of Others, an interpretation of FASB Statésndo. 5, 57, and 107 and rescission
of FASB Interpretation No. 34FIN No. 45 requires a guarantor to recognize, afrtlseption of a guarantee, a liability for the fadlue of thi
obligation undertaken by issuing the guarantee wfgant that certain products sold through ourilratad direct to consumer distribution
channels will perform in all material respects ae@dance with standard published specificatioreffiect at the time of the purchase of the
products by the customer. We provide amM@nath warranty on our products from purchase dateepair or replacement of components ar
products that contain defects of material or workshgp. Customers may exchange products directlydaetailer within 30 days of purcha
We record a liability for an estimate of costs thatexpect to incur under our warranty guaranteensthe product is shipped from the
manufacturer. Factors affecting our warranty ligbinclude the number of units sold and histoti@ad anticipated rates of claims and costs
per claim. We periodically assess the adequaoypfvarranty liability based on changes in thes#ofs.

The following table reconciles the begimnand ending aggregate product warranty liability

Product
Warranty
Liability

Balance, December 31, 20 $ 1,43¢
Accrual for warranties issued during the pel 7,12
Settlements during the perir (3,520

Balance, December 31, 20 $ 5,041

Sports Programming Costs

We record the costs associated with parts programming agreements in accordance withSSN8. 63, “Financial Reporting by
Broadcasters.” Programming costs which are forezifipd number of events are amortized on an elpgrdvent basis; programming costs
which are for a specified season are amortized tveseason on a straight-line basis. We allotateportion of sports programming costs
which are related to sponsorship and marketingities to sales and marketing expenses on a strliighbasis over the term of the
agreement.

Advertising Costs

We record the costs associated with didugg in accordance with Statement of PositiongPS) No. 93-7, “Reporting on Advertising
Costs.” Media is expensed when aired and advegtiginduction costs are expensed
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as incurred. Market development funds are fixedarihble payments to reimburse retailers for th& of advertising and other product
awareness activities. Fixed market developmentgand expensed over the periods specified in thicaple agreement; variable costs are
expensed at the time a subscriber is activated.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are exgessincurred. Research and development costisefgears ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004 were $46,460, $53,401 and $26,18fectvely, and are included in engineering, deaigh development expenses.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordavite SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income TaxeBé&ferred income taxes are recognized
for the tax consequences related to temporaryrdiffees between the carrying amount of assets abitltles for financial reporting purposes
and the amounts used for tax purposes at eacheyelabased on enacted tax laws and statutory tax applicable to the periods in which the
differences are expected to affect taxable incoknaluation allowance is established when necedsasgd on the weight of available
evidence, if it is considered more likely than tiwt all or some portion of the deferred tax assdtsot be realized. Income tax expense is
the sum of current income tax plus the change ferdced tax assets and liabilities.

Net (Loss) Income Per Share

We compute net (loss) income per shaeezaordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Shaasic net (loss) income per share is
based on the weighted average common shares dlitsgjaturing each reporting period. Diluted net glosicome per share adjusts the
weighted average for the potential dilution thatldooccur if common stock equivalents (convertitéddt, warrants, stock options and
restricted stock units) were exercised or conveartericommon stock. Common stock equivalents of@axmately 194,000,000, 235,000,000
and 190,000,000 were not considered in the caloulalf diluted net loss per share for the yearedridecember 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, as the effect would have been ahitide.

Comprehensive (Loss) Income

We report comprehensive (loss) incomaceordance with SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehlvenscome.” SFAS No. 130
established a standard for reporting and displagthgr comprehensive (loss) income and its compsneithin financial statements.
Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sdarities were the only component of our other cahensive loss for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004. There were no unrdadiams and losses on available-$ale securities for the year ended December 3%.
Comprehensive loss for the years ended Decemb&0886, 2005 and 2004 was $1,104,867, $862,973 2@, $12, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of gagtand, money market funds and investments withriginal maturity of three months or
less when purchased. Cash and cash equivalerstased at fair market value.

Investments
Our investments consist of the following:

As of December 31,

2006 2005
Marketable securitie $ 15,50C $ 117,25(
Restricted investmen 77,85( 107,61!
Investment, stated at cc 5,00( —

Total investment $ 98,35( $ 224,86!

Marketable Securitie



We account for marketable securitiesdooadance with the provisions of SFAS No. 115, “éuating for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities.” Marketable securities ceinsf certificates of deposit and auction rate gées. For the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, certificates of deposit were $4 &%D
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$200, respectively, and auction rate securitie®ewd0,850 and $117,050, respectively. The baskctiaes of our investment policy are the
preservation of capital, maintaining sufficientuidity to meet operating requirements and maxingziield. We classify our marketable
securities as available-for-sale securities. Avadeor-sale securities are carried at fair marattie. Unrealized gains and losses are includec
in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) inconmeseparate component of stockholders’ equity.iRshbains and losses, dividends and
interest income, including amortization of the pihem and discount arising at purchase, are includégterest and investment income. The
specific-identification method is used to determiime cost of all securities and the basis by whictounts are reclassified from accumulated
comprehensive (loss) income into earnings. Whiteuhderlying securities of auction rate securiti@ge contractual maturities of more than
20 years, the interest rates on such securities a¢sntervals of 28 or 35 days. Auction rate siies are priced and subsequently trade as
short-term investments because of such interestreaet feature.

We received proceeds from the sale ourtgtof marketable securities of $229,715, $36,888 $25,000 for the years ended Decel
31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. There wengmmealized holding gains or losses on marketsdaterrities as of December 31, 2006 and
2005.

Restricted Investments

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, sterirestricted investments of $25,000 and $25,d&fRectively, included certificates of
deposit placed in escrow primarily for the benefiti third party pursuant to a programming agredmen

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, lomgrteestricted investments of $52,850 and $82,4&gpectively, included certificates of
deposit and money market funds deposited in estoothe benefit of third parties pursuant to pragnaing agreements and certificates of
deposit placed in escrow to secure our reimbursenigdigations under letters of credit issued far benefit of lessors of office space.

Cost Method Investment

In September 2006, we invested in a thady for strategic purposes. We account forithiestment under the cost method. The
carrying value of our investment was $5,000 at Dwr 31, 2006 and is included in other long-tersetssin our accompanying consolidated
balance sheet.

Equity Method Investment

We have a 49.9% economic interest in BlRCanada. Our investment in SIRIUS Canada is decbusing the equity method since we
have significant influence, but less than a cofitrglvoting interest. Under this method, our invesht in SIRIUS Canada, originally recorc
at cost, is adjusted to recognize our share oéamtings or losses as they occur rather than &edids or other distributions are received,
limited to the extent of our investment in, advateand commitments to fund SIRIUS Canada. Oursbinet earnings or losses of SIRI
Canada is recorded to equity in net loss of afélia our accompanying consolidated statementpefations. We recorded $4,445 and $6
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 20Q%scteely, for our share of SIRIUS Canada’s neslos

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at amadumtsfrom customers net of an allowance for doulsifeounts. We specifically reserve for
customers with known disputes or collectibilityuss. The remaining reserve recorded in the alloedmrcdoubtful accounts is our best
estimate of the amount of probable losses in oigtiag accounts receivable based on our actuaévefit experience.

Inventory

Inventory consists of finished goodspcéts and other raw material components used mufaeturing radios. Inventory is stated at
lower of cost, determined on a first-in, first-daétsis, or market. We record an estimated allowémc@ventory that is considered slow
moving and obsolete or whose carrying value isxaess of net realizable value.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at@odtdepreciated on a straight-line basis over stimated useful lives of the related assets,
which range from 2 to 30 years. Our satellite sysiedepreciated on a straight-line basis overalkpective remaining useful lives of our
satellites from the date we launched our servideeioruary 2002 or, in the case of our spare s&teitom the date it was delivered to ground
storage in April 2002. Leasehold improvements apdmment under capital leases is depreciated ubmgtraightine method over the less
of the lease term or the estimated useful life.dAfgitalize a portion of the interest on funds baed to finance the construction and launc
our satellites. Capitalized interest is recordegans of the asset’s cost and depreciated ovesdtedlite’s useful life. Capitalized interest costs
for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $4,20%hatleno capitalized interest for the year endecebéser 31, 2005.

Major additions and improvements are tediged, while replacements, repairs and maintemdmat do not improve or extend the life of
the assets are charged to expense. In the pesetsage retired, or otherwise disposed of, thearos$ related accumulated depreciation are
removed from the accounts, and any gain or logdisposal is included in our results of operations.

The costs of acquiring, developing arsding software are capitalized under SOP No. 9&d¢ounting for the Costs of Computer
Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use€ Wdpitalize costs associated with software deeglap obtained for internal use when
the following occur: (1) the preliminary projecage is completed and (2) management has authdtindithg a computer software project |
it is probable that the project will be completer dhe software will be used to perform the functistended. Capitalized costs include
external direct costs of materials and serviceswored in developing or obtaining internele software. Capitalization of such costs ceas
later than the point at which the project is suhtiédly complete and ready for its intended usee Tdtal net book value of capitalized softw
costs was $17,349 and $14,943 for the years endedrBber 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Costgeldo expense for the amortization
of capitalized software costs were $4,971, $3,4%5l%2,387 for the years ended December 31, 20@5 20d 2004, respectively, and are
included in depreciation in our accompanying coidsbéd statements of operations.

The estimated useful lives of our propartid equipment are as follows:

Customer care, billing and conditional acc 3-7 year:
Furniture, fixtures, equipment and ot! 2-7 year:
Broadcast studio equipme 3-15 year
Satellite telemetry, tracking and control facikit 3, 4 or 15 yeal
Terrestrial repeater netwo 5 or 15 yeal
Leasehold improvemen 2-15 year
Satellite systen 13 or 15 yeal
Building 30 year

The expected useful lives of our threeribit satellites were originally 15 years from thete they were placed into orbit. In June 2006,
we entered into an agreement with Space Systenad/todesign and construct a new satellite. In egtion with this agreement, we adjusted
the useful lives of two of our in-orbit satellites13 years to reflect the way we intend to opetfageconstellation. We continue to expect our
spare satellite to operate effectively for 15 ydeom the date of launch.

Our satellites have experienced cirailufes on their solar arrays. We continue to nuortlie operating condition of our satellites. If
events or circumstances indicate that the usefes$|of our satellites have changed we will modify tiepreciable life accordingly.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accaongtfor the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Liveds&ss,” we review our long-lived assets
for impairment whenever events or changes in cigtantes indicate that the carrying amount of aetassot recoverable. At the time an
impairment in value of a long-lived asset is idiadi, except for our FCC license discussed belbejmpairment is measured as the amount
by which the carrying amount of a long-lived assateeds its fair value. To determine fair value engloy an expected present value
technique, which utilizes multiple cash flow sceoathat reflect the range of possible outcomesaamadppropriate discount rate.

In connection with our new satellite agrent, in June 2006 we wrote-off $10,917 for thieboek value of certain satellite long-lead

time parts purchased in 1999 that we will no longeed. Such amount is included in satellite antstrassion expenses in our accompanying
consolidated statement of operations.
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FCC License

In October 1997, the FCC granted usenke to operate a commercial satellite radio selnithe United States. While the FCC license
has a renewable eight-year term, we expect to renicense as there are no legal, regulatorytraotual, competitive, economic or other
factors that limit its useful life. As a result, weat the FCC license as an indefinite-lived igtale asset under the provisions of SFAS No.
142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Weawsluate the useful life determination for our F@Ense each reporting period to
determine whether events and circumstances contiinsigpport an indefinite useful life. To date, ave not recorded any amortization
expense related to our FCC license.

We test our FCC license for impairmereast annually or more frequently if indicatorsrapairment exist. We use a direct approach
in performing our annual impairment test for théset which requires estimates of future cash flamgsother factors. If these estimates or
projections change in the future, we may be reduioeecord an impairment charge related to tréetadVe began using the direct approach
in 2005. Prior to 2005, we used the residual methabtimating the fair value of our FCC licensaeldf the direct approach is in accordance
with a September 29, 2004 Staff Announcement fioanstaff of the Securities and Exchange Commissidse of the Residual Method to
Value Acquired Assets Other Than Goodwill.” Undiher the direct method or the residual methotheffair value of our license was less
than the aggregated carrying amount of the licessénpairment would have been recognized.

Deferred Financing Fees
Costs associated with the issuance of alebdeferred and amortized to interest expensetbe term of the respective debt.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and caskvalpunts, accounts and other receivables, and ateg@ayable approximate fair value due to
the short-term nature of these instruments.

We determined the estimated fair valdfesuo debt using available market information andheonly accepted valuation methods.
Considerable judgment is necessary to develop atsof fair value, and the estimates presentedaneecessarily indicative of the amot
that could be realized upon disposition. The usaltefnative valuation methods and/or estimates haag resulted in materially different
estimates from those presented.

Quoted market prices were used to es#inte fair market values of our debt as of Decer8thef006 and 2005. The following table
summarizes the book and fair values of our debt:

As of December 31,

2006 2005
Book Value Fair Value Book Value Fair Value
9 5/8% Senior Notes due 20 $ 500,000 $ 496,25( $ 500,000 $ 492,50(
3 Y% Convertible Notes due 20: 230,00( 226,83t 230,00( 338,44
2 1% Convertible Notes due 20( 300,00( 310,12¢ 300,00( 484,87"
3 1% Convertible Notes due 20( 36,50¢ 100,02 52,69: 255,69
8 %% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2I 1,744 N/A 1,744 907

Asset Retirement Obligation

In accordance with SFAS No. 143, “Accangtfor Asset Retirement Obligations,” we recordedts equal to the present value of the
future obligation associated with the retiremenbwff terrestrial repeater network. These costschvare included in other long-term
liabilities, include an amount that we estimatd W sufficient to satisfy our obligations undesdes to remove our terrestrial repeater
equipment and restore the sites to their originabd@ion. The following table reconciles the bedimgnand ending aggregate carrying amount
of this asset retirement obligation:
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Asset
Retirement

Obligation
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 45t
Liabilities settlec (16)
Accretion expens 114
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 552

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior period cdidisbed financial statements have been reclassifietbnform to the current period
presentation, including the reclassification ot&tbased compensation from a separate line iteohodigre to being included in other
operating expense line items in order to comphhlie requirements of SFAS No. 123R.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS1IS7, “Fair Value Measurements,” which defindgs ¥alue, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value and expands the related disoborequirements. SFAS No. 157 is effective fecdl years beginning after November 15,
2007 and for interim periods within those years. &k currently evaluating the impact of the adaptibany, that SFAS No. 157 will have
our consolidated results of operations and findmpmaition.

In September 2006, the FASB issued EIBF06-1, “Accounting for Consideration Given by @8ce Provider to Manufacturers or
Resellers of Equipment Necessary for an End-CustbonReceive Service from the Service Provider.& HiTF concluded that if
consideration given by a service provider to adtmiarty manufacturer or a reseller that is notsice provider’s customer can be linked
contractually to the benefit received by the seryoovider's customer, a service provider shoulmbant for the consideration in accordance
with EITF No. 01-9, “Accounting for Consideratioriv@n by a Vendor to a Customer.” EITF No. 0és effective for annual reporting peric
beginning after June 15, 2007. We are currentlyuaiimg the effects that EITF No. 06-1 will have amr consolidated results of operations
and financial position.

In June 2006, the FASB issued EITF Ne3p8How Taxes Collected from Customers and RemtitteGovernmental Authorities
Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (Bh&rbss versus Net Presentation),” to clarify diitg in practice on the presentation of
different types of taxes in the financial staterseiihe EITF concluded that for taxes within thepgcof the issue, a company may include
charges to customers for taxes within revenuestadharge for the taxes from the taxing authawithin cost of sales, or, alternatively, it
may net the charge to the customer and the chewgethe taxing authority. If taxes subject to EINIB. 06-3 are significant, a company is
required to disclose its accounting policy for gregng taxes and the amounts of such taxes thateognized on a gross basis. EITF No. 06-
3 is effective for the first interim reporting ped beginning after December 15, 2006. We will adeit- No. 06-3 effective January 1, 2007.
The adoption of EITF No. 06-3 will not have a matkimpact on our consolidated results of operationfinancial position.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN No.“48counting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — aterpretation of FASB Statement No.
109,” which prescribes a recognition threshold and messent attribute for financial statement recognitioidl measurement of a tax posi
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return,elkas criteria on derecognition, measurementsdiaation, interest and penalties, accoun
in interim periods, disclosure and transition. FIN. 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning affeecember 15, 2006. We will adopt FIN [
48 effective January 1, 2007. The adoption of FidN #B will not have a material impact on our coitkatked results of operations or financial
position.

3. Subscriber Revenue

Subscriber revenue consists of subsonftes, non-refundable activation fees and theceffof mail-in rebates. Revenues received
from automakers for prepaid subscriptions inclutheithe sale or lease price of a new vehicle am ialduded in subscriber revenue over the
service period upon activation.
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Subscriber revenue consists of the fdtaow

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Subscription fee $ 572,38 $ 233,638 $ 65,20
Activation fees 15,61 6,79( 2,10z
Effects of mai-in rebates (12,599 (16,810 (4,427
Total subscriber revent $ 575,40 $ 22361 $ 62,88

4. Interest Costs

During the year ended December 31, 2@@6capitalized a portion of the interest on funderdawed to finance the construction and
launch of our new satellite. The following is a suary of our interest cost:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Interest costs charged to expe $ 64,03: $ 4536 $ 21,79
Debt conversion costs charged to expe — — 19,59:
Total interest expens 64,03: 45,36: 41,38¢
Interest costs capitaliz¢ 4,20¢ — —
Total interest costs incurre $ 68237 $ 4536 $ 41,38¢

Debt conversion costs for the year eridecdember 31, 2004 were a result of the exchan§é®000 in aggregate principal amount of
our3%2% Convertible Notes due 2008 for shares otoarmon stock.

5. Inventory

Inventory consists of the following:

As of December 31,

2006 2005

Raw material $ 16/45¢ $ 13,45¢
Finished good 18,04: 797
Total inventory $ 3450: $ 14,25¢

6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of tiieving:

As of December 31,

2006 2005

Satellite systen $ 933,14. $ 948,57
Terrestrial repeater netwo 63,75 73,07¢



Leasehold improvemen

Broadcast studio equipme

Customer care, billing and conditional acct
Satellite telemetry, tracking and control facilit
Furniture, fixtures, equipment and otl

Land

Building

Construction in progres

Total property and equipme
Accumulated depreciatic

Property and equipment, r
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33,33 28,47¢
37,35( 32,43
35,79¢ 29,53
17,61: 17,41¢
54,02 46,33¢
311 311
2,34: 1,93¢
101,84 27,90
1,279,51.  1,206,00:
469,12y (377,649
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Construction in progress consists offthewing:

As of December 31,

2006 2005
Satellite systen $ 78,49 $ 21,00(
Terrestrial repeater netwo 10,97: 2,61¢
Leasehold improvemen 10C 1,472
Other 12,28¢ 2,81¢

Construction in progres $ 101,84 $ 27,90°

Satellites

Our satellites were successfully launcime2000. Our spare satellite was delivered to gdostorage in 2002. Our three-satellite
constellation and terrestrial repeater network vpdaeed into service in 2002.

In 2006, we entered into an agreemerit ®jgace Systems/Loral for the design and constiucti a new satellite. Construction of this
satellite is expected to be completed in the fogtthrter of 2008. We plan to launch this satetiitea Proton rocket under our contract with
International Launch Services, which we entered int2005. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, werdsd $78,491 and $21,000,
respectively, to property and equipment in our agezanying consolidated balance sheets in connestithnthese agreements.

7. Related Party Transactions

In 2005, we entered into a license amdices agreement with SIRIUS Canada Inc. Pursuastith agreement, we are reimbursed for
certain costs incurred by us to provide SIRIUS @anac. service, including certain costs we inaurthe production and distribution of
radios used by its subscribers as well as infolmnatchnology support costs. In considerationHlerrights granted pursuant to the license
services agreement, SIRIUS Canada Inc. pays uga#tydased on a percentage of its annual grogntes. Additionally, the initial
financing we provided to SIRIUS Canada is by waguwbscription to non-voting shares which carrie8#ncumulative dividend.

Total costs reimbursed by SIRIUS Canaxta for the years ended December 31, 2006 and @805 $9,227 and $6,025, respectively.
We recorded $945 and $10 in royalty income forythars ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respgctBagth royalty income was
recorded to other revenue in our accompanying dinlaged statements of operations. We also recoddédend income of $700 for the year
ended December 31, 2006, which was included imésteand investment income in our accompanyingalafeded statements of operations.

Amounts due from SIRIUS Canada Inc. atddeber 31, 2006 were $4,157, of which $2,502 an@S%lare included in other current
assets and other long-term assets, respectivelyuioaccompanying consolidated balance sheets. Ata@ue from SIRIUS Canada Inc. at
December 31, 2005 were $2,277, of which $2,267%fidare included in other current assets and dthegrterm assets, respectively, on our
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amoayehte to SIRIUS Canada Inc. at December 31, 26862805 to fund its remaining
capital requirements were $1,148 and $3,059, réisp8c and are included in accounts payable amdusz] expenses in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

8. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Our accounts payable and accrued expeosssst of the following:

As of December 31,

2006 2005
Accounts payabl $ 26,048 $ 6,82¢
Accrued programmin 116,37( 41,43¢
Accrued compensation and other payroll relateds 28,37¢ 26,37(
Accrued subsidies and distributi 185,18t 151,31:
Accrued web streaming and broadcast roya 13,62¢ 19,19(

Other accrued expens 68,30: 86,81%




Total accounts payable and accrued expe $ 437,91 $ 331,95
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9. Long-Term Debt and Accrued Interest

Our long-term debt consists of the folilogy

Conversion As of December 31,
Price
(per share) 2006 2005
95/8% Senior Notes due 2013 N/A $ 500,00 $ 500,00
3Y.% Convertible Notes due 20: $ 5.3C 230,00( 230,00(
2Y:% Convertible Notes due 20( 4.41 300,00( 300,00(
3¥2% Convertible Notes due 20( 1.3€ 36,50 52,69:¢
8%.9% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2| 28.462! 1,744 1,744
Total lon¢-term debt $ 1,068,24 $ 1,084,43

Accrued interest associated with our lergn debt is as follows:

As of December 31,

2006 2005
95/8% Senior Notes due 2013 $ 20,05: $ 18,88¢
3Y% Convertible Notes due 20: 1,557 1,557
2Y2% Convertible Notes due 20( 2,90z 2,90z
3¥2% Convertible Notes due 20( 107 161
8%.9% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2I 38 38
Space Systems/Loral Credit Agreem 12t —

Total accrued intere: $ 24,78. $ 23,54t

The maturities of our long-term debt asefollows:

As of
December 31, 2006

2007 $ _
2008 36,50¢
2009 301,74«
2010 —
2011 230,00(
Thereaftel 500,00

Total debi $ 1,068,24!

95/8% Senior Notes due 2013

In August 2005, we issued $500,000 irregate principal amount of our?88 % Senior Notes due 2013 resulting in net proceéds o
$493,005.
Our 9%/8% Senior Notes due 2013 mature on August 1, 20di3rdarest is payable semi-annually on FebruargdLAugust 1 of each year.
The obligations under our®3s % Senior Notes due 2013 are not secured by anyradssets.

In September 2005, we used proceeds finenssuance of our® s % Senior Notes due 2013 to redeem our outstandifg Senior
Secured Discount Notes due 2007 and our 14%:% S8grimired Notes due 2009, including accrued intévéstrecognized a loss from
redemption of debt of $6,214 in connection wittsttédemption, including a redemption premium 06$3,and the write-off of unamortized
debt issuance costs of $712. The obligations uodefL5% Senior Secured Discount Notes due 200714t Senior Secured Notes due
2009 were secured by liens on certain of our asgeitsh were released in connection with the redénpif the notes



3Y4% Convertible Notes due 2011

In October 2004, we issued $230,000 gregate principal amount of our 3¥4% Convertibleddalue 2011 resulting in net proceeds of
$224,813. These notes are convertible, at thempfithe holder, into shares of our common stockngttime at a conversion rate of 188.6
shares of common stock for each $1,000.00 principal
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amount, or $5.30 per share of common stock, subjemrtain adjustments. Our 3%% Convertible Ndigs 2011 mature on October 15,
2011 and interest is payable semi-annually on AlFiand October 15 of each year. The obligatiomeuour 3¥%% Convertible Notes due
2011 are not secured by any of our assets.

2¥2% Convertible Notes due 2009

In February 2004, we issued $250,00Qgregate principal amount of our 2% Convertiblegsalue 2009 resulting in net proceeds
of $244,625. In March 2004, we issued an additi®&8,000 in aggregate principal amount of our 2¥8avertible Notes due 2009 pursuant
to an option granted in connection with the inibéflering of the notes, resulting in net proceefi$48,975. These notes are convertible, at the
option of the holder, into shares of our commortlstt any time at a conversion rate of 226.7574eshaf common stock for each $1,000.00
principal amount, or $4.41 per share of commonkstsgbject to certain adjustments. Our 2%2% Coniertlotes due 2009 mature on
February 15, 2009 and interest is payable semidalynon February 15 and August 15 of each year. diiigations under our 2%:%
Convertible Notes due 2009 are not secured by &nyrassets.

3%% Convertible Notes due 2008

In May 2003, we issued $201,250 in aggregrincipal amount of our 3%:% Convertible Notae @008 resulting in net proceeds of
$194,224. These notes are convertible, at the mptithe holder, into shares of our common stockngttime at a conversion rate of 724.6
shares of common stock for each $1,000.00 prineipadunt, or $1.38 per share of common stock, sttgjezertain adjustments. Our 3%2%
Convertible Notes due 2008 mature on June 1, 2668rderest is payable semi-annually on June 1Cmwkmber 1 of each year. The
obligations under our 3%2% Convertible Notes dueB2&@ not secured by any of our assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2h6Blers of $16,188 in aggregate principal amourtusf3%2% Convertible Notes due 2008
presented such notes for conversion in accordaitbethe terms of the indenture. We issued 11,73Dgttares of our common stock upon
conversion of these notes. During the year endexibber 31, 2005, we issued 10,548,545 shares afomumon stock in exchange for
$14,557 in aggregate principal amount of our 3%2%wvedible Notes due 2008, including accrued intedesJanuary 2004, we issued
56,409,853 shares of our common stock in exchamg®6,000 in aggregate principal amount of our 3&8avertible Notes due 2008,
including accrued interest. We incurred debt cosieer costs of $19,592 for the year ended Decembe2@®4. There were no debt
conversion costs recorded for the years ended Deee8i, 2006 and 2005.

8%,% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2009

In 1999, we issued our 8%:% Convertiblb@dinated Notes due 2009. The remaining balanceio8%% Convertible Subordinated
Notes due 2009 mature on September 29, 2009 as&ttis payable se-annually on March 29 and September 29 of each yémse notes
are convertible, at the option of the holder, isitares of our common stock at any time at a coirerate of 35.134 shares of common stock
for each $1,000.00 principal amount, or $28.4625spare of common stock, subject to certain adjastm The obligations under our 8%4%
Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2009 are naireddy any of our assets.

Space Systems/Loral Credit Agreement

In June 2006, we entered into a Credite&gent with Space Systems/Loral. Under the Chgglitcement, Space Systems/Loral has
agreed to make loans to us in an aggregate prirmipaunt of up to $100,000 to finance the purcles®ir new satellite. Loans made under
the Credit Agreement will be secured by our rigiider the Satellite Purchase Agreement with Spgsee®s/Loral, including our rights to
the new satellite. The loans are also entitledhéobienefits of a subsidiary guarantee from Satdallid Radio, Inc., our subsidiary that holds
our FCC license, and any future material subsidiaay may be formed by us. The maturity date ofitlaas is the earliest to occur of (i) April
6, 2009, (i) 90 days after the new satellite beesravailable for shipment and (iii) 30 days prithe scheduled launch of the new satellite.
Any loans made under the Credit Agreement genevdllybear interest at a variable rate equal t@e¢hmonth LIBOR plus 4.75%. The daily
unused balance bears interest at a rate per anquahte 0.50%, payable quarterly on the last dagash March, June, September and
December, commencing June 30, 2006. The Creditehgeat permits us to prepay all or a portion ofltaas outstanding without penalty.
We have not borrowed under this Credit Agreemerf @&ecember 31, 2006.
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Covenants and Restrictions

Our 9/8% Senior Notes due 2013 and the Credit Agreemeyuiine us to comply with certain covenants thatrietsbur ability to,
among other things, (i) incur additional indebtesin€ii) incur liens, (iii) pay dividends or makertain other restricted payments, investments
or acquisitions, (iv) enter into certain transacsiavith affiliates, (v) merge or consolidate witiogher person, (vi) sell, assign, lease or
otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of agsets, and (vii) make voluntary prepaymenteda debt, in each case subject to
exceptions as provided in thé/ % Senior Notes due 2013 indenture and the Crediééxgent. If we fail to comply with these covenants,
our 95/8% Senior Notes due 2013 and any loans outstandidgrithe Credit Agreement could become immedigtaljable and the Credit
Agreement could be terminated. At December 31, 2@@6wvere in compliance with all such covenants.

10. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock, Par Value $0.001 Per Share

We are authorized to issue 2,500,000db@0es of our common stock. As of December 31, 28@6roximately 424,385,000 shares of
our common stock were reserved for issuance inexion with outstanding convertible debt, warrairtsentive stock plans and common
stock to be granted to third parties upon satigfaatf performance targets.

During the year ended December 31, 280tloyees exercised 19,284,495 stock options atiereprices ranging from $0.47 to $3.93
per share, resulting in proceeds to us of $26,67%his amount, $25,504 was collected as of Dece@be2006. We also collected $283 in
2006 related to stock option exercises that ocdurr®005. During the year ended December 31, 200860,738 stock options were
exercised at exercise prices ranging from $0.6§5t82 per share, resulting in proceeds to us of8i18 Of this amount, $18,534 was
collected as of December 31, 2005.

In January 2006, Howard Stern and hisiagrere granted an aggregate of 34,375,000 shams common stock as a result of certain
performance targets that were satisfied in Jan2@®p. \We recognized expense associated with thesesof $224,813 during the year er
December 31, 2006.

In October 2004, we sold 25,000,000 shafeour common stock resulting in net proceeddo@,025.

In January 2004, we signed a seven-ygr@ement with the NFL. We delivered to the NFL 3,070 shares of our common stock
valued at $40,967 upon execution of this agreenférgse shares of common stock are subject to neraaisfer restrictions which lapse over
time. We recognized $5,852, $5,852 and $4,285 péese associated with these shares during the gedesl December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively. Of the remaining $24,978 in owm stock value, $5,852 and $19,126 are includedher current assets and other long-
term assets, respectively, on our accompanyingotiolated balance sheet as of December 31, 2006.

Warrants

In June 2004, we issued DaimlerChryslérwarrants to purchase up to 21,500,000 sharesrafammon stock at an exercise price of
$1.04 per share. These warrants have vested amxengsable. These warrants replaced warrantedssuDaimlerChrysler AG in October
2002.

In February 2004, we announced an agreewi¢h RadioShack Corporation to distribute, maked sell SIRIUS radios. In connection
with this agreement, we issued RadioShack wartarsrchase up to 10,000,000 shares of our commack.sThese warrants have an
exercise price of $5.00 per share and vest andeexercisable if RadioShack achieves activatioyeta during the five-year term of the
agreement.

In January 2004, we signed an agreemihtRenske Automotive Group, Inc., United Auto Quplnc., Penske Truck Leasing Co. L.P.
and Penske Corporation (collectively, the “Penske@anies”). In connection with this agreement, gead to issue the Penske companies
warrants to purchase up to 38,000,000 shares afaumon stock at an exercise price of $2.392 pamesihe warrants vest over time and
upon achievement of certain milestones by the Reoskipanies. During the years ended December 886, &0d 2005, Penske exercised
5,292,500 and 2,838,700, respectively, vested wemtia a series of cashless exercises. In conmewiith these transactions, we issued
2,862,533 and 1,944,073 shares of our common $todke years ended December 31, 2006 and 200%=cteely.

In January 2004, we issued the NFL wasrémpurchase 50,000,000 shares of our commok ataan exercise price of $2.50 per sh
Of these warrants, 16,666,665 vest upon the dglieus of media assets by the
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NFL and its member clubs, and 33,333,335 of themeamts will be earned by the NFL or its membebslas we acquire subscribers wt
are directly trackable through their efforts.

During the year ended December 31, 2@@4issued warrants to purchase 9,425,000 shams @ommon stock at exercise prices of
$3.00 to $3.21 per share to other third partiggagisof distribution and programming arrangemenktese warrants vest over time and upon
achievement of certain milestones. During the yeaded December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, 30,0000@3 and 62,000 of these warrants
to purchase shares of our common stock, respegtiwelre issued to consultants as stock optionsraridded in our stock option activity.

Warrants to acquire shares of our comstook were outstanding as follows (shares in thodsga

Number of Warrants
Outstanding as of
December 31,

Average
Exercise Expiration
Price Date 2006 2005

NFL $ 2.5C March 200—March 201C 50,00( 50,00(
Penske companie 2.392 July 2008 29,86¢ 35,16:
DaimlerChryslel 1.04 May 2012 21,50( 21,50(
RadioShacl 5.0C December 201 10,00( 10,00(
Ford 3.0C September 201 4,00( 4,00(
Other distribution and programming partn 3.11 January 20C—June 201« 4,05z 9,13:
Other 20.3¢ June 200—April 2011 4,53: 4,53:
Total $ 3.11 123,95! 134,32

We recognized expense of $50,297, $1@0aBd $74,700 in connection with warrants for tearg ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively.

11. Benefit Plans
Stock-Based Awards

In January 2003, our board of directalsped the Sirius Satellite Radio 2003 Long-Teroctincentive Plan (the “2003 Plan”), and
on March 4, 2003 our stockholders approved thia.pglan May 25, 2004, our stockholders approved asngment to the 2003 Plan to inclt
members of our board of directors as eligible pgréints. Employees, consultants and members di@and of directors are eligible to rece
awards under the 2003 Plan. The 2003 Plan prov¥atdke grant of stock options, restricted sto@stricted stock units and other stock-based
awards that the compensation committee of our bokditectors may deem appropriate.

Vesting and other terms of stock-basedrdware set forth in the agreements with the iddals receiving the awards. Stock-based
awards granted under the 2003 Plan are generdljgauto a vesting requirement that includes onallasf the following: (1) over time,
generally three to five years from the date of gré?) on a specific date in future periods witlte@eration to earlier periods if performance
criteria are satisfied; or (3) as certain perforoeatargets set at the time of grant are achieviedkSased awards generally expire ten years
from the date of grant. Each restricted stock entitles the holder to receive one share of ourmmomstock upon vesting.

As of December 31, 2006, approximately879,000 stock options, shares of restricted samekrestricted stock units were outstand
As of December 31, 2006, approximately 86,524,0G0es of our common stock were available for guadter the 2003 Plan.

The following table summarizes the stopkion activity under our stock incentive planstioe year ended December 31, 2006 (shares
in thousands):
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Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Life (Years) Value
Outstanding at beginning of peri 87,02« $ 4.61
Granted 5,25¢ 5.6¢
Exercisec (19,289 1.3¢
Cancelled or expire (1,207 4.5¢
Outstanding at end of peri 71,79: 5.5€ 6.8 $ 23,41
Exercisable at end of peri 42,44¢ 6.0C 6.0¢ 21,527

The weighted average grant date fairevaluoptions granted during the years ended Dece81he2006, 2005 and 2004 was $3.11,
$6.17 and $4.12, respectively. The total intringitue of stock options exercised during the yeaded December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
was $51,847, $76,758 and $76,071, respectively.

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we$a@73 and $7,363, respectively, of deferred corsgiéon in connection with stock options
granted to employees and members of our boardectdrs. Such deferred compensation was reversadditional paid-in capital in
connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 123R. We aecord expense for stock options granted teutents based on fair value at the
date of grant as determined in accordance with SNASL23. We recognized stock compensation expassaciated with stock options of
$49,083, $13,814 and $27,957 for the years endedrbiger 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Stookpensation expense associated
with stock options for the year ended Decembe2805 included a charge of $479 for an employeewaatdeemed to benefit from the
modification of a stock-based award resulting imesv measurement date.

The following table summarizes the n@sted restricted stock unit activity under oucktmcentive plans for the year ended Decer
31, 2006 (shares in thousands):

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Outstanding at beginning of peri 21977  $ 2.3¢€
Granted 1,50: 5.57
Vested (29,299 2.11
Cancelled or expire (100 7.04
Outstanding at end of peric 4,08¢ 4.64

The weighted average grant date fairevaliurestricted stock units granted during the yesaded December 31, 2005 and 2004 were
$6.11 and $3.14, respectively. The total intringitue of restricted stock units that vested dutigyear ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004 was $97,846, $11,625 and $1,378, respectively.

In November 2004, we granted 3,000,0@0eshof restricted common stock. Such shares wsoed and outstanding as of
December 31, 2006. The restrictions applicabléésée shares lapse in equal installments on Noveh&bef each of the five years beginning
on November 18, 2005.

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we$)621 and $43,600, respectively, of deferred amation associated with restricted s
and restricted stock units. Such deferred compemsaias reversed to additional paid-in capitaldmmection with the adoption of SFAS No.
123R. We recognized stock compensation expenseiatsib with restricted stock units and shares sificted stock of $16,127, $34,398 and
$13,896 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002004, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 200GIserecognized stock compensation expense of 886 restricted stock units expected to
be granted for services performed in 2006 or upersatisfaction of 2006 performance targets. Feytar ended December 31, 2005, we
recognized stock compensation expense of $3,36kébricted stock units granted in February 200&é&vices performed in 2005. For the
year ended December 31, 2004, we also recogniaeld sbompensation expense of $2,651 for restridieekaunits granted in February 20
for services performed in 20C
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401(k) Savings Plan

We sponsor the Sirius Satellite Radio(kp$avings Plan (the “Plan”) for eligible emploged&@he Plan allows eligible employees to
voluntarily contribute from 1% to 50% of their pi@x salary subject to certain defined limits. Cathewe match 50% of employee voluntary
contributions, up to 6% of an employee’s pre-tdargain the form of shares of our common stockr @atching contribution vests at a rate
of 33 1/3% for each year of employment and is fultgted after three years of employment. Expersétieg from our matching contribution
to the Plan was $1,246, $926 and $718 for the yavaded December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, resplgctive

We may also elect to contribute to th&fipsharing portion of the Plan based upon thaltcdbmpensation of all participants eligible to
receive an allocation. These additional contrimgiaeferred to as prof#haring contributions, are determined by the corsgion committe
of our board of directors. Employees are only blgyto share in profit-sharing contributions durangy year in which they are employed on
the last day of the year. Profit sharing contribntexpense was $4,251, $4,378 and $2,518 for e ynded December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

12. Income Taxes
Our income tax expense consisted of dheviing:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Current taxes
Federa $ — $ — $ —
State — — —
Total current taxe $ — 3 — 3 —
Deferred taxes
Federa $ 2,16¢ $ 1,952 $ 3,662
State (104) 35¢ 53¢
Total deferred taxe $ 2,06t $ 2,311 $ 4,201
Total income tax expen: $ 2,068 $ 2,311 $ 4,201

The following table indicates the sigcéfnt elements contributing to the difference betwthe federal tax provision (benefit) at the
statutory rate and at our effective rate:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Federal tax benefit, at statutory r. $ (38598) $ (301,240) $ (247,780
State income tax benefit, net of federal ber (52,650) (55,419 (36,459
Change in state tax rat 45,91¢ (23,650) —
Change in taxes resulting from permanent differenoet (37,637 (24,167 (15,627
Other (9749) (2,237
Change in valuation allowan: 433,38’ 406,77¢ 306,31(
Income tax expens $ 2,06t $ 2311 $ 4,201

The tax effects of temporary differentiest give rise to significant portions of the deéertax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
presented below:

As of December 31,

2006 2005



Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 1,182,29° $ 794,79:
Stoclt-based award 139,04¢ 90,98’
Star-up costs capitalized for tax purpos 1,904 25,63t
Capitalized interest expen 43,57: 53,97¢
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Deferred revenu 12,35¢ —
Other 64,91( 51,86(
Total deferred tax ass 1,444,09 1,017,25
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation of property and equipmi (216,891) (223,23)
Amortization of FCC licens (10,819 (8,955
Total deferred tax liabilit (227,711) (232,19)
Net deferred tax assets before valuation allow: 1,216,38 785,05¢
Valuation allowanct (1,227,19) (793,809
Net deferred tax liabilit $ (10,819 $ (8,749

The net deferred tax liability of $10,844d $8,749 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respBgtis a result of the difference in
accounting for our FCC license, which is amortipedr 15 years for tax purposes but not amortizeddok purposes. This net deferred tax
liability cannot be offset against our deferred éasets under U.S. generally accepted accountinggles since it relates to an indefinite-
lived asset and is not anticipated to reverseenstime period.

A significant portion of our costs incedrto date have been capitalized for tax purpos@srasult of our status as a start-up enterprise.
Total unamortized start-up costs as of Decembe2@16 and 2005 were $4,787 and $64,551, respectiVbese capitalized costs are being
amortized over 60 months.

At December 31, 2006, we had net opegdtas (“NOL") carryforwards of approximately $23000 for federal and state income tax
purposes available to offset future taxable incoise NOL carryforwards expire on various dategrimeng in 2023. We have had several
ownership changes under Section 382 of the Inté&aaknue Code, which limit our ability to utilizextdeductions. Due to an ownership
change on March 4, 2003, we determined that $393)5@ross deferred tax assets with respect tdManesh 5, 2003 tax loss carryovers will
not be available. This amount was written off agathe valuation allowance in 2003. Furthermor&rieichanges in our ownership may limit
our ability to utilize our deferred tax asset. Restion of our deferred tax assets is dependent figtore earnings; accordingly, a full
valuation allowance was recorded against the assets

13. Lease Obligations

We have entered into cancelable and ramcalable operating leases for office space, ecgrpraind terrestrial repeaters. These leases
provide for minimum lease payments, additional afirg expense charges, have initial terms rangiom Pne to fifteen years, and certain
leases have options to renew. Total rent expersgnézed in connection with leases for the yeadedrDecember 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
was $15,984, $14,958 and $13,567, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under raorcelable leases as of December 31, 2006 werdl@sso

Operating

2007 $ 9,07¢
2008 9,391
2009 9,34¢
2010 9,161
2011 8,42¢
Thereaftel 26,50z

Total minimum lease paymer $ 71,90:

14. Commitments and Contingencies
Contractual Cash Commitments

The following table summarizes our expdatontractual cash commitments (other than long-tiebt obligations, cash interest
payments and lease obligations) as of Decembez(®h:
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2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter Total

Satellite and transmissic $ 27,768 $ 79,16F $ 39,.86¢ $ 2,01C $ 1,72 $ 6,617 $ 157,14¢
Programming and conte 122,36! 123,54¢ 146,21: 147,64 38,66( 27,66 606,09¢
Customer service and billir 3,492 45 — — — — 3,537
Marketing and distributiol 80,28¢ 31,53¢ 22,74% 26,15:¢ 18,17: 5,50( 184,39:
Chip set development and product 7,022 — — — 7,022
Other 7,09¢ 11,57t 9 — — — 18,68:

Total contractual cash commitme! $ 248,03: $245,86¢ $208,83: $17581( $ 5855: $ 39,78 $ 976,87¢

Satellite and TransmissidNe have entered into agreements with third pattieperate and maintain our off-site satellitertedéry,
tracking and control facilities and certain compuseof our terrestrial repeater network. We hage ahtered into an agreement with Space
Systems/Loral to design and construct a new sateffionstruction of this satellite is expected@éacbmpleted in the fourth quarter of 2008.
We plan to launch this satellite on a Proton rocketer our contract with International Launch Seesi

Programming and Conteit/e have entered into agreements with licensorsagframming and other content providers and, iragert
instances, are obligated to pay license fees aathgtee minimum advertising revenue share. In iatdive pay royalties for public
performances of music to various rights organizetio

Customer Service and Billing/e have entered into agreements with third pattiggovide billing and subscriber management ses.

Marketing and DistributioWe have entered into various marketing, sponsoihdpdistribution agreements to promote our brart a
are obligated to make payments to sponsors, retadatomakers and radio manufacturers under tigreements. In addition, certain
programming and content agreements require usrthpse advertising on properties owned or conttdiethe licensors. We also reimburse
automakers for certain engineering and developmests associated with the incorporation of SIRIE@as into vehicles they manufacture.

Chip Set Development and Productide have entered into agreements with third pattieevelop, produce and supply chip sets; to
develop products; and in certain instances to $eentellectual property related to chip sets.

OtherWe have entered into various agreements with frarties for general operating and strategic puigoSsounts associated with
these agreements are included in the commitmelits. ta

In addition to the contractual cash cotnments described above, we have entered into agr@smwith automakers, radio manufactu
and others that include per-radio, per-subscrip@rshow and other variable cost arrangements.e€Muggre costs are dependent upon many
factors including our subscriber growth and aréddift to anticipate; however, these costs mayliestantial. We may enter into additional
programming, distribution, marketing and other agnents that contain similar provisions.

Under the terms of a joint developmenmeagient with XM Radio, each party is obligateduod one half of the development cost for a
unified standard for satellite radios. The coslateg to the joint development agreement are bexpgnsed as incurred to engineering, design
and development expense in the accompanying cdasedtl statements of operations. We are currentiplarto determine the expenditures
necessary to complete this process, but we doxpaiceé that these expenditures will be material.

We are required under the terms of cedgreements to provide letters of credit and dépumies in escrow, which place restrictions
on our cash and cash equivalents. As of Decemhe2(®b and 2005, $77,850 and $107,615, respectiwelse classified as restricted
investments as a result of our reimbursement dfidigs under these letters of credit and escrow siepo

As of December 31, 2006, we have notredtéto any off-balance sheet arrangements osa@ions.
Legal Proceedings

FCC Mattersin April 2006, we learned that two manufacturerStRIUS radios and XM Radio had received inquifiesn the Feder:
Communications Commission as to whether the FMstratters in their products complied with the FCE&rsissions and frequency rules. We
promptly began an internal review of the compliaatthe FM transmitters in a number of our radlosJune 2006, we learned that a third
manufacturer of SIRIUS radios had received an iyguom the Federal Communications Commission asttether the FM
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transmitters in its products complied with the FE€imissions and frequency rules. In June 2006¢ewesived a letter from the FCC making
similar inquiries. In July 2006, we responded te listter from the FCC in respect of the prelimingasults of our review. In August 2006, we
received a follow-up letter of inquiry from the F@@d responded to the FCC'’s further inquiry. Wetiomre to cooperate with the FCC'’s
inquiry.

During our internal review, we determiribdt certain of our radios with FM transmittersrgr@ot compliant with FCC rules. We have
taken a series of actions to correct the problem.

In connection with our internal reviewe wiscovered that certain SIRIUS personnel reqdastmufacturers to produce SIRIUS radios
that were not consistent with the FCC'’s rules. Assault of this review, we are taking significategs to ensure that this situation does not
happen again, including the adoption of a comprsirercompliance plan, approved by our board ofadiines, to ensure that in the future our
products comply with all applicable FCC rules.

The FCC is continuing its review of ouoglucts. The FCC'’s laboratory has tested a numbeuroproducts and found them to be
compliant with the FCC'’s rules. We believe our cadihat are currently in production comply with bqable FCCS rules. No health or safe
issues are involved with these SIRIUS radios adibsawhich are factory-installed in new vehicles aot affected. We do not expect the
resolution of these issues to have an adverse ingpaaur previous guidance.

In October 2006, we ceased operatingf ilioterrestrial repeaters which we discovered theeh operating at variance to the
specifications and applied to the FCC for new atitthh¢o resume operating these repeaters.

Copyright Royalty Board Proceeding/e are a party to a proceeding before the CopyRpyalty Board of the Library of Congress to
establish the royalty rate and terms for the soerdrdings we use on our satellite radio servicelfe period for 2007 through 2012. In
October 2006, we and XM filed our direct case is firoceeding with the Copyright Royalty Board gmndposed a royalty rate for our
satellite radio subscription revenue.

The Copyright Royalty Board must sette that is calculated to achieve four statutoryeotiyes:

. to maximize the availability of creative works teetpublic;

. to afford the copyright owner a fair return for bigative work and the copyright user a fair incamder existing economic
conditions;

. to reflect the relative roles of the copyright owaead the copyright user in the product made abtElgo the public with respect to

relative creative contribution, technological cdmttion, capital investment, cost, risk and conttibn to the opening of new
markets for creative expression and media for tt@inmunication; an

. to minimize any disruptive impact on the structaféhe industries involved and on generally premgiindustry practices

We believe that the fee we proposed aelsithese objectives and is consistent in pringijifle the fee established under the same
standard for digital cable audio.

SoundExchange, the organization thaectdland distributes royalties from various digitalsic services on behalf of artists and music
labels, simultaneously submitted its direct casthiim proceeding and proposed a substantially highglty rate than we proposed. This
submission of direct cases is the beginning ofeuato eighteen month process which, absent aaeaggnt among the parties, will result
determination by the Copyright Royalty Board ofagplicable royalty rate.

U.S. Electronics ArbitrationU.S. Electronics Inc., a licensed manufacturet distributor of SIRIUS radios, has commenced an
arbitration proceeding against us. U.S. Electroalleges that we breached our contract, failecatorponies owed under the contract,
interfered with U.S. Electronics’ relationships fwietailers and manufacturers, and withheld infdiomarelating to the FCC'’s inquiring into
SIRIUS radios that include FM modulators. U.S. Eleics is seeking $48,000 in damages. We belieaeapproximately $41,000 of these
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(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)

damages are barred by the limitation of liabilitpyisions contained in the contract between usl&usd Electronics. We are vigorously
defending this action.

15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Our quarterly results of operations arasarized below:

For the Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 September 3( December 31
2006:
Total revenue $ 126,66« $ 150,07¢ $ 167,110 $ 193,38
Cost of service§) (333,99) (112,56)  (108,22) (143,18)
Loss from operation (446,169 (230,477 (154,159 (236,929
Net loss (458,549  (237,82) (162,899 (245,59)
Net loss per share (basic and dilut® $ (03) $ (017) $ (012 $ (0.19)
2005:
Total revenue $ 43,21¢ $ 52,19+ $ 66,837 $ 80,00¢
Cost of service§" (47,149 (37,739 (47,10)) (74,929
Loss from operation (190,259 (174,58 (166,919 (297,38()
Net loss (193,61) (177,540 (180,450 (311,38
Net loss per share (basic and dilut@ $ (015 $ (019 $ (019 $ (0.29)
1) Quarterly cost of services previously reportedtfa quarters ended 2005 reflect the reclassifinaifocertain costs from cost of services to safesraarketing expenses and from
stock-based compensation to cost of services.
) The sum of the quarterly net loss per share aggbc common stockholders (basic and diluted) dm¢siecessarily agree to the net loss per shatbédoyear due to the timing

of our common stock issuances.
16. Subsequent Events

In January 2007, Howard Stern and hisiagere granted an aggregate of approximately Z200® shares of our common stock as a
result of certain performance targets that wensfead on December 31, 2006. The value of theseesh@&corded to stodkased compensati
expense during 2006 was $82,941.

We and XM Radio announced on Februar209y a definitive agreement, under which we walldombined in a tax-free, all-stock
merger of equals. Under the terms of the agreemx@htRadio shareholders will receive 4.6 shareswofa@mmon stock for each share of ;
Radio they own. XM Radio and our shareholders galth own approximately 50% of the combined comp@&hg.transaction is subject to
approval by XM Radio and our shareholders, thesfgatiion of customary closing conditions and retulareview and approvals, including
antitrust agencies and the FCC. We and XM Radi@ehe transaction to be completed by the end0¥ 2

F-30




SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC.

Schedule Il—Schedule of Valuation and Qualifying Acounts

For the year ended December 31, 2
Allowance for Doubtful Account
Deferred Tax Asse—Valuation Allowance

For the year ended December 31, 2
Allowance for Doubtful Account
Deferred Tax Asse—Valuation Allowance

For the year ended December 31, 2
Allowance for Doubtful Account

Deferred Tax Asse—Valuation Allowance
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Balance at
Beginning of Charged to Write-offs/ Balance at
Year Expense Other End of Year
$ 38C $ 1,64¢ (1,496 $ 532
80,72( 306,31( — 387,03(
$ 532 $ 4,311 (3299 $ 1,55
387,03( 406,77¢ — 793,80¢
$ 155 $ 7,54z (5,909 $ 3,18:¢
793,80t 433,38° — 1,227,19!
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Exhibit 10.1:

AMENDED AND RESTATED SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO
2003 LONG-TERM STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

Section 1. Purposéhe purposes of this Amended and Restated Shatsllite Radio 2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Rlamto
promote the interests of Sirius Satellite Radia bord its stockholders by (i) attracting and retajremployees and directors of, and
consultants to, the Company and its Affiliatesgdained below; (ii) motivating such individuals byeans of performanaelated incentives
achieve longer-range performance goals; and (i&bdéing such individuals to participate in the lelegn growth and financial success of the
Company.

Section 2. DefinitionsAs used in the Plan, the following terms shailhthe meanings set forth below:

“Affiliate” shall mean any entity (i) thatjréctly or indirectly, is controlled by, controls & under common control with, the Company or
(i) in which the Company has a significant equiitierest, in either case as determined by the Caoteeni

“Award” shall mean any Option, Stock Apprdma Right, Restricted Stock Award, Restricted &tbmit Award, Performance Award,
Other Stock-Based Award or Performance Compensaticerd made or granted from time to time hereunder.

“Award Agreement” shall mean any written agreent, contract, or other instrument or documeiatescing any Award, which may, but
need not, be executed or acknowledged by a Patitip

“Board” shall mean the Board of Directorgtoé Company.

“Change of Control” shall mean the occurreotany of the following: (i) the sale, lease, ster, conveyance or other disposition, in one
or a series of related transactions, of all or tartiglly all of the assets of the Company to apgrson” or “group” (as such terms are used in
Sections 13(d)(3) and 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Ai})any person or group is or becomes the “berafowner” (as defined in Rules 13d-3
and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except thatsopeshall be deemed to have “beneficial ownersbi@ll shares that any such person has
the right to acquire, whether such right is exergie immediately or only after the passage of tirdagctly or indirectly, of more than 50%
the total voting power of the voting stock of ther@pany, including by way of merger, consolidatiorotherwise or (iii) during any period of
two consecutive years, individuals who at the beigig of such period constituted the Board (togethién any new directors whose election
by such Board or whose nomination for electiont®y stockholders of the Company was approved byteiofca majority of the directors of
the Company, then still in office, who were eitd@ectors at the beginning of such period or whalsetion or nomination for election was
previously so approved) cease for any reason tstitote a majority of the Board, then in office.

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Cdde86, as amended from time to time.

“Committee” shall mean a committee of the Blodesignated by the Board to administer the Plahcamposed of not less than two
directors, each of whom is required to be a “Nonpkyee Director” (within the meaning of Rule 16b&3)d an “outside director” (within the
meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code) to the edfRerle 16b-3 and Section 162(m) of the Code, raspsyg, are applicable to the Company
and the Plan. If at any time such a committee lbab®@en so designated, the Board shall constit@€bmmittee.

“Company” shall mean Sirius Satellite Radio.| together with any successor thereto.
“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities EBraje Act of 1934, as amended.

“Fair Market Value” shall mean (i) with regpp¢o any property other than Shares, the fair etarklue of such property determined by
such methods or procedures as shall be establisiradime to time by the Committee and (ii) wittspect to the Shares, as of any date, (1)
the mean between the high




and low sales prices of the Shares on the Nasadek $tarket for such date (or if not then tradingtba Nasdag Stock Market, the mean
between the high and low sales price of the Shamdhe stock exchange or over-the-counter markettioh the Shares are principally
trading on such date), or, if there were no satesuxh date, on the closest preceding date on whélke were sales of Shares or (2) in the
event there shall be no public market for the Sharesuch date, the fair market value of the Shasetetermined in good faith by the
Committee.

“Incentive Stock Option” shall mean a rigbtdurchase Shares from the Company that is gramieer Section 6 of the Plan and that is
intended to meet the requirements of Section 42BeCode or any successor provision thereto.

“Negative Discretion” shall mean the disavatauthorized by the Plan to be applied by the Citeento eliminate or reduce the size of a
Performance Compensation Awapdpvidedthat the exercise of such discretion would not eabe Performance Compensation Award tc
to qualify as “performance-based compensation” usgetion 162(m) of the Code. By way of example aodby way of limitation, in no
event shall any discretionary authority grantetheoCommittee by the Plan including, but not lirdite, Negative Discretion, be used to (a)
grant or provide payment in respect of Performabampensation Awards for a Performance Period iPégormance Goals for such
Performance Period have not been attained or ¢p¢ase a Performance Compensation Award abovedRemam amount payable under
Section 4(a) or 11(d)(vi) of the Plan. Notwithstamganything herein to the contrary, in no everalisNegative Discretion be exercised by
Committee with respect to any Option or Stock Apfaton Right (other than an Option or Stock Appa&on Right that is intended to be a
Performance Compensation Award under Section tfieoPlan).

“Non-Qualified Stock Option” shall mean ahigo purchase Shares from the Company that iggplamder Section 6 of the Plan and that
is not intended to be an Incentive Stock Option.

“Option” shall mean an Incentive Stock Optmma Non-Qualified Stock Option.
“Other Stock-Based Award” shall mean any tigtanted under Section 10 of the Plan.

“Participant” shall mean any employee ofconsultant to, the Company or its Affiliates, onreamployee director who is a member of
Board or the board of directors of an Affiliateigéble for an Award under Section 5 and selectethieyCommittee to receive an Award under
the Plan.

“Performance Award” shall mean any right deahunder Section 9 of the Plan.

“Performance Compensation Awasdiall mean any Award designated by the CommitteeRerformance Compensation Award purs
to Section 11 of the Plan.

“Performance Criteria” shall mean the cridaror criteria that the Committee shall selectgforposes of establishing the Performance Goa
(s) for a Performance Period with respect to anyof@ance Compensation Award under the Plan. Thtofpeance Criteria that will be used
to establish the Performance Goal(s) shall be basdhe attainment of specific levels of performrmonéthe Company (or an Affiliate,
division or operational unit of the Company) andlkhe limited to the following: return on net assa@eturn on shareholders' equity, returr
assets, return on capital, shareholder returnéif pnargin, earnings per Share, net earnings, ajpgraarnings, earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization, number of subscsibgnowth of subscribers, operating expenses,alapipenses, subscriber acquisition cc
Share price or sales or market share. To the esgguoired under Section 162(m) of the Code, the @ittee shall, within the first 90 days c
Performance Period (or, if longer, within the maximperiod allowed under Section 162(m) of the Cpdeline in an objective fashion the
manner of calculating the Performance Criterii¢sts to use for such Performance Period.

“Performance Formulahall mean, for a Performance Period, the one oe mbjective formulas applied against the releverformanct
Goal to determine, with regard to the Performanoem@ensation Award of a particular Participant, aeetall, some portion but less than all,
or none of the Performance Compensation Award kas karned for the Performance Period.




“Performance Goalshall mean, for a Performance Period, the one oemoals established by the Committee for the Padace Peric
based upon the Performance Criteria. The Comnigtaathorized at any time during the first 90 dafa Performance Period, or at any time
thereafter (but only to the extent the exercissuah authority after the first 90 days of a Perfanoe Period would not cause the Performance
Compensation Awards granted to any ParticipanttferPerformance Period to fail to qualify as 'parfance-based compensation' under
Section 162(m) of the Code), in its sole and alisdfiiscretion, to adjust or modify the calculatafra Performance Goal for such
Performance Period to the extent permitted undeti®@el162(m) of the Code in order to prevent tHatiin or enlargement of the rights of
Participants, (a) in the event of, or in anticipatdf, any unusual or extraordinary corporate iteamsaction, event or development affecting
the Company; or (b) in recognition of, or in arpigiion of, any other unusual or nonrecurring evaffecting the Company, or the financial
statements of the Company, or in response to, anticipation of, changes in applicable laws, ragohs, accounting principles, or business
conditions.

“Performance Period” shall mean the one orenpeeriods of time of at least one year in duratasthe Committee may select, over which
the attainment of one or more Performance Goaldhe@imeasured for the purpose of determining adfaant's right to and the payment of a
Performance Compensation Award.

“Person” shall mean any individual, corparatipartnership, association, limited liability coamy, joint-stock company, trust,
unincorporated organization, government or politszbdivision thereof or other entity.

“Plan” shall mean this Amended and RestaiadsSSatellite Radio 2003 Long-Term Stock Inceat®Rian.
“Restricted Stock” shall mean any Share grdninder Section 8 of the Plan.
“Restricted Stock Unit” shall mean any uniugted under Section 8 of the Plan.

“Rule 16b-3” shall mean Rule 16b-3 as proratdd and interpreted by the SEC under the ExchAnger any successor rule or
regulation thereto as in effect from time to time.

“SEC” shall mean the Securities and Exchabgmmission or any successor thereto and shalldede Staff thereof.

“Shares” shall mean the common stock of thenfany, $.001 par value, or such other securifilseoCompany (i) into which such
common stock shall be changed by reason of a tadiaption, merger, consolidation, split-up, condiion, exchange of shares or other
similar transaction or (ii) as may be determinedh®syCommittee pursuant to Section 4(b) of the Plan

“Stock Appreciation Right” shall mean anyhigiranted under Section 7 of the Plan.
“Substitute Awards” shall have the meaningcified in Section 4(c) of the Plan.

Section 3. Administration(a) The Plan shall be administered by the ConemitBubject to the terms of the Plan and applidalleand ir
addition to other express powers and authorizattonderred on the Committee by the Plan, the Cotemihall have full power and autho
to: (i) designate Participants; (ii) determine tixge or types of Awards to be granted to a Paditiand designate those Awards which shall
constitute Performance Compensation Awards; (éfedmine the number of Shares to be covered byjtbrrespect to which payments,
rights, or other matters are to be calculated imeation with, Awards; (iv) determine the terms &odditions of any Award; (v) determine
whether, to what extent, and under what circum&savards may be settled or exercised in cashgShather securities, other Awards or
other property, or canceled, forfeited, or suspdrated the method or methods by which Awards maselided, exercised, canceled, forfei
or suspended; (vi) determine whether, to what éxserd under what circumstances cash, Shares, sgharities, other Awards, other
property, and other amounts payable with respeahtAward (subject to Section 162(m) of the Codth wespect to Performance
Compensation Awards) shall be deferred either aatiwally or at the election of the holder therepbbthe Committee; (vii) interpret,
administer or reconcile any inconsistency, coreawt defect, resolve ambiguities and/or supply anission in the Plan and any instrumen
agreement relating to, or Award made under, the;Pla




(viii) establish, amend, suspend, or waive sucbsaind regulations and appoint such agents aalitdgem appropriate for the proper
administration of the Plan; (ix) establish and adster Performance Goals and certify whether, anghat extent, they have been attained;
and (x) make any other determination and take dmgraction that the Committee deems necessargsiradble for the administration of the
Plan.

(b) Unless otherwise expressly provided anRBtan, all designations, determinations, integti@bs, and other decisions under or with
respect to the Plan or any Award shall be withangble discretion of the Committee, may be madawatime and shall be final, conclusive,
and binding upon all Persons, including the Company Affiliate, any Participant, any holder or kéniary of any Award, and any
stockholder.

(c) The mere fact that a Committee membelt &ibto qualify as a “Non-Employee Director” 6outside director” within the meaning of
Rule 16b-3 and Section 162(m) of the Code, resgalgtishall not invalidate any Award made by then@aittee which Award is otherwise
validly made under the Plan.

(d) No member of the Committee shall be kaiol any Person for any action or determinationanadjood faith with respect to the Plan
or any Award hereunder.

(e) With respect to any Performance Compérsdtward granted to a Covered Employee (withinrtieaning of Section 162(m) of the
Code) under the Plan, the Plan shall be interprateldconstrued in accordance with Section 162(nthefode.

() Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Contedt may delegate to one or more officers of the @ the authority to grant awards to
Participants who are not officers or directorshef Company subject to Section 16 of the ExchandeACovered Employees (within the
meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code).

Section 4. Shares Available for Awards

(a)Shares Available Subject to adjustment as provided in Section,4ft®) aggregate number of Shares with respect tchwkwards mar
be granted from time to time under the Plan shalhe aggregate not exceed, at any time, 240,000@006vided, however, that the aggregate
number of Shares with respect to which IncentivaeSOptions may be granted under the Plan shatDh@00,000. The maximum number of
Shares with respect to which Options and Stock égiption Rights may be granted to any Participarmny fiscal year shall be 40,000,000
and the maximum number of Shares which may betpaadParticipant in the Plan in connection with sletlement of any Award(s)
designated as “Performance Compensation Awardsfspect of a single Performance Period shall b@380000 or, in the event such
Performance Compensation Award is paid in cashetjuévalent cash value thereof. If, after the affecdate of the Plan, any Shares covered
by an Award granted under the Plan, or to whicthsart Award relates, are forfeited, or if an Awaes lexpired, terminated or been canceled
for any reason whatsoever (other than by reasexeafcise or vesting), then the Shares covered tly Award shall again be, or shall beco
Shares with respect to which Awards may be granézdunder.

(b)Adjustments Notwithstanding any provisions of the Plan to tbatrary, in the event that the Committee deteesin its sole
discretion that any dividend or other distribut{@vhether in the form of cash, Shares, other seesrior other property), recapitalization,
stock split, reverse stock split, reorganizatioerger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combiwati repurchase, or exchange of Shares or
other securities of the Company, issuance of wésranother rights to purchase Shares or otheriesuof the Company, or other corporate
transaction or event affects the Shares such thatlpustment is appropriate in order to preventtidih or enlargement of the benefits or
potential benefits intended to be made availabteuthe Plan, then the Committee shall, equitabjyst any or all of (i) the number of She
or other securities of the Company (or number and &f other securities or property) with respecivhich Awards may be granted, (ii) the
number of Shares or other securities of the Comgangumber and kind of other securities or progestibject to outstanding Awards, and
(iii) the grant or exercise price with respect by &ward or, if deemed appropriate, make providmma cash payment to the holder of an
outstanding Award in consideration for the cantigltaof such Award, which, in the case of Optiond &tock Appreciation Rights shall
equal the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Valfithe Shares subject to such Options or Stock égation Rights over the aggregate
exercise price or grant price of such Options ocB®ppreciation Rights.




(c)Substitute AwardsAwards may, in the discretion of the Committee niade under the Plan in assumption of, or in guben for,
outstanding awards previously granted by the Compaits Affiliates or a company acquired by thenGany or with which the Company
combines (“Substitute Awards”). The number of Shanederlying any Substitute Awards shall be couatgainst the aggregate number of
Shares available for Awards under the Plan.

(d)Sources of Shares Deliverable Under Awardsiy Shares delivered pursuant to an Award maietrnn whole or in part, of
authorized and unissued Shares or of treasury Share

Section 5. Eligibility Any employee of, or consultant to, the Compangroy of its Affiliates (including any prospectiveployee), or
non-employee director who is a member of the Boarthe board of directors of an Affiliate, shall dlégible to be selected as a Participant.

Section 6. Stock Options

(a)Grant. Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Committe! fiave sole and complete authority to deterrtiieeParticipants to whom
Options shall be granted, the number of Shares liered by each Option, the exercise price thesefd the conditions and limitations
applicable to the exercise of the Option. The Cotteaishall have the authority to grant Incentivec®tOptions, or to grant Non-Qualified
Stock Options, or to grant both types of Optionsthle case of Incentive Stock Options, the ternascamditions of such grants shall be
subject to and comply with such rules as may beqoiteed by Section 422 of the Code, as from timinte amended, and any regulations
implementing such statute. All Options when granteder the Plan are intended to be Non-Qualifi@tSOptions, unless the applicable
Award Agreement expressly states that the Optiamtiénded to be an Incentive Stock Option. If ari@pis intended to be an Incentive
Stock Option, and if for any reason such Optionafoy portion thereof) shall not qualify as an InoenStock Option, then, to the extent of
such nonqualification, such Option (or portion #ad) shall be regarded as a Non-Qualified Stockddppropriately granted under the
Plan; provided that such Option (or portion theyedherwise complies with the Plan's requiremealating to Non-Qualified Stock Options.

(b)Exercise Price The Committee shall establish the exercise @idbe time each Option is granted, which exengigee shall be set
forth in the applicable Award Agreement.

(c)Exercise. Each Option shall be exercisable at such timédssabject to such terms and conditions as the Cttaaninay, in its sole
discretion, specify in the applicable Award Agreeimd&he Committee may impose such conditions vapect to the exercise of Options,
including without limitation, any relating to th@glication of federal or state securities lawsit asay deem necessary or advisable. Options
with an exercise price equal to or greater tharFdie Market Value per Share as of the date oftggesmintended to qualify as “performance-
based compensation” under Section 162(m) of theeClodthe sole discretion of the Committee, Optiora/ be granted with an exercise
price that is less than the Fair Market Value gear€ and such Options may, but need not, be intetedgualify as performance-based
compensation in accordance with Section 11 hereof.

(d)yPayment (i) No Shares shall be delivered pursuant toex®rcise of an Option until payment in full of thggregate exercise price
therefor is received by the Company. Such paymexytoe made in cash, or its equivalent, or (x) bghexging Shares owned by the optic
(which are not the subject of any pledge or otlkeusty interest and which have been owned by siptionee for at least six months) or (y)
subject to such rules as may be established bgdnemittee, through delivery of irrevocable instians to a broker to sell the Shares
otherwise deliverable upon the exercise of the@ypdind to deliver promptly to the Company an ameuwjotal to the aggregate exercise price
or by a combination of the foregoingrovidedthat the combined value of all cash and cash etpriteand the Fair Market Value of any such
Shares so tendered to the Company as of the datecbftender is at least equal to such aggregateisz price.

(i) Wherever in this Plan or any Award Agneent a Participant is permitted to pay the exengigee of an Option or taxes relating to the
exercise of an Option by delivering Shares, theiéipant may, subject to procedures satisfactotpéoCommittee, satisfy such delivery
requirement by presenting proof of beneficial ovehgr of such Shares, in which case the Company tsbat the Option as exercised without
further payment and shall withhold such numbertwdr8s from the Shares acquired by the exercideeadption.




Section 7. Stock Appreciation Rights

(a)Grant. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Corteaishall have sole and complete authority to deter the Participants to
whom Stock Appreciation Rights shall be granted,rthmber of Shares to be covered by each Stocke&ftion Right Award, the grant
price thereof and the conditions and limitationplagable to the exercise thereof. Stock AppreciatRights with a grant price equal to or
greater than the Fair Market Value per Share &lsenflate of grant are intended to qualify as “penfince-based compensatianider Sectio
162(m) of the Code. In the sole discretion of tlenthittee, Stock Appreciation Rights may be gramtéh an exercise price that is less than
the Fair Market Value per Share and such Stock égation Rights may, but need not, be intendedutdify as performance-based
compensation in accordance with Section 11 he&totk Appreciation Rights may be granted in taneeéth another Award, in addition to
another Award, or freestanding and unrelated tatemAward. Stock Appreciation Rights granted imd@am with or in addition to an Award
may be granted either before, at the same timeeaBward or at a later time.

(b)Exercise and Paymen® Stock Appreciation Right shall entitle the Rapant to receive an amount equal to the excesissoFair
Market Value of a Share on the date of exercigb®Stock Appreciation Right over the grant privereof. The Committee shall determine
its sole discretion whether a Stock AppreciatiogtRshall be settled in cash, Shares or a combimati cash and Shares.

(c)Other Terms and ConditionsSubject to the terms of the Plan and any apgkcalvard Agreement, the Committee shall determate,
the grant of a Stock Appreciation Right, the temmethods of exercise, methods and form of settlenaet any other terms and conditions of
any Stock Appreciation Right. The Committee mayadsgsuch conditions or restrictions on the exemisay Stock Appreciation Right as
shall deem appropriate.

Section 8. Restricted Stock and RestrictediSUnits.

(a)Grant. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Corteaishall have sole and complete authority to deter the Participants to
whom Shares of Restricted Stock and RestrictedkStmits shall be granted, the number of Sharesestitted Stock and/or the number of
Restricted Stock Units to be granted to each Rjpatit, the duration of the period during which, dnel conditions, if any, under which, the
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units mafplfeited to the Company, and the other terms amdlitions of such Awards.

(b)Transfer RestrictionsShares of Restricted Stock and Restricted Statgtsnay not be sold, assigned, transferred, pkkdge
otherwise encumbered, except, in the case of RestrStock, as provided in the Plan or the appléecAlward Agreements. Certificates issued
in respect of Shares of Restricted Stock shalkpéstered in the name of the Participant and degabbiy such Participant, together with a
stock power endorsed in blank, with the Companyoruine lapse of the restrictions applicable to ssichres of Restricted Stock, the
Company shall deliver such certificates to theiBigdnt or the Participant's legal representative.

(c)Payment Each Restricted Stock Unit shall have a valueaktputhe Fair Market Value of a Share. Restri@satk Units shall be paid
in cash, Shares, other securities or other propastgetermined in the sole discretion of the Cattei upon the lapse of the restrictions
applicable thereto, or otherwise in accordance thighapplicable Award Agreement. Dividends paichog Shares of Restricted Stock may
paid directly to the Participant, withheld by ther@any subject to vesting of the Restricted Shpwesuant to the terms of the applicable
Award Agreement, or may be reinvested in additi®@fares of Restricted Stock or in additional Ret&td Stock Units, as determined by the
Committee in its sole discretion.

Section 9. Performance Awards

(a)Grant. The Committee shall have sole and complete aiyhtordetermine the Participants who shall recaeiv®erformance Award”,
which shall consist of a right which is (i) denomiied in cash or Shares, (ii) valued, as deterntiyettie Committee, in accordance with the
achievement of such performance goals during sedienance periods as the Committee shall estalaisth (iii) payable at such time and in
such form as the Committee shall determine.




(b)Terms and ConditionsSubject to the terms of the Plan and any appkcalvard Agreement, the Committee shall determiee t
Performance Goals to be achieved during any Pedioce Period, the length of any Performance Petti@damount of any Performance
Award and the amount and kind of any payment orsfier to be made pursuant to any Performance Award.

(c)Payment of Performance AwardRerformance Awards may be paid in a lump sunm anstaliments following the close of the
Performance Period or, in accordance with procedestablished by the Committee, on a deferred.basis

SECTION 10. Other Stodkased Awards

(a)General. The Committee shall have authority to grant tdiBipants an “Other Stock-Based Award”, which $leahsist of any right
which is (i) not an Award described in Sectionfi®tigh 9 above and (i) an Award of Shares or armdenominated or payable in, valued
in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwissdxd on or related to, Shares (including, withimoitdtion, securities convertible into Shari
as deemed by the Committee to be consistent watiptinposes of the Plan; provided that any suchgigiust comply, to the extent deemed
desirable by the Committee, with Rule 16b-3 andiagble law. Subject to the terms of the Plan amg applicable Award Agreement, the
Committee shall determine the terms and conditadray such Other Stock-Based Award, includingghee, if any, at which securities may
be purchased pursuant to any Other Stock-Basedddgranted under this Plan.

(b)Dividend EquivalentsIn the sole and complete discretion of the Cortemjtan Award, whether made as an Other Stock-Basadd
under this Section 10 or as an Award granted patgoaSections 6 through 9 hereof, may provideRhgicipant with dividends or dividend
equivalents, payable in cash, Shares, other sesuoit other property on a current or deferredshasi

Section 11. Performance Compensation Awards

(a)General. The Committee shall have the authority, at theetof grant of any Award described in Sectionsréufh 10 (other than
Options and Stock Appreciation Rights granted \aithexercise price or grant price, as the case magdual to or greater than the Fair
Market Value per Share on the date of grant), Bighate such Award as a Performance Compensati@rddiw order to qualify such Award
as “performance-based compensation” under Sec@g(ni) of the Code.

(b)Eligibility . The Committee will, in its sole discretion, desge within the first 90 days of a Performance &k(or, if longer, within
the maximum period allowed under Section 162(nthefCode) which Participants will be eligible tced/e Performance Compensation
Awards in respect of such Performance Period. Dasign of a Participant eligible to receive an Awvhereunder for a Performance Period
shall not in any manner entitle the Participantetceive payment in respect of any Performance Casgtmn Award for such Performance
Period. The determination as to whether or not Saticipant becomes entitled to payment in respeahy Performance Compensation
Award shall be decided solely in accordance withptovisions of this Section 11. Moreover, desigmabf a Participant eligible to receive
Award hereunder for a particular Performance Pestall not require designation of such Participigfible to receive an Award hereunde
any subsequent Performance Period and designdtamegerson as a Participant eligible to receivéwaard hereunder shall not require
designation of any other person as a Participagibéd to receive an Award hereunder in such pedoth any other period.

(c)Discretion of Committee with Respect to Performa@ompensation AwardsWith regard to a particular Performance Peribd, t
Committee shall have full discretion to selectlédregth of such Performance Period, the type(s)eofdPmance Compensation Awards to be
issued, the Performance Criteria that will be useelstablish the Performance Goal(s), the kind{d)ja level(s) of the Performance Goals(s)
is/are to apply to the Company and the Perform&ocmula. Within the first 90 days of a PerformaReziod (or, if longer, within the
maximum period allowed under Section 162(m) of@egle), the Committee shall, with regard to the &terhnce Compensation Awards to
be issued for such Performance Period, exercighsitsetion with respect to each of the mattersremated in the immediately preceding
sentence of this Section 11(c) and record the sameting.




(d)Payment of Performance Compensation Awali@sCondition to Receipt of Payment. Unless ot¥ise provided in the applicable
Award Agreement, a Participant must be employethbyCompany on the last day of a Performance Péoibeé eligible for payment in
respect of a Performance Compensation Award fdn Secformance Period.

(i) Limitation. A Participant shall be ellge to receive payment in respect of a Perform&@mapensation Award only to the extent that:
(1) the Performance Goals for such period are aelieand (2) the Performance Formula as appliethsigsuch Performance Goals
determines that all or some portion of such Paict's Performance Award has been earned for ttierP@nce Period.

(iii) Certification. Following the completioof a Performance Period, the Committee shall neestview and certify in writing whether,
and to what extent, the Performance Goals for #réoAnance Period have been achieved and, if smltnlate and certify in writing that
amount of the Performance Compensation Awards ddorehe period based upon the Performance Forriitka Committee shall then
determine the actual size of each Participant®Reance Compensation Award for the Performanc@&emnd, in so doing, may apply
Negative Discretion, if and when it deems apprdpr

(iv) Negative Discretion. In determining thetual size of an individual Performance Awarddd?erformance Period, the Committee may
reduce or eliminate the amount of the Performarma@&nsation Award earned under the Performance Harimthe Performance Period
through the use of Negative Discretion if, in ibdesjudgement, such reduction or elimination israppiate.

(v) Timing of Award Payments. The Awards geghfor a Performance Period shall be paid to E&paints as soon as administratively
possible following completion of the certificatioreqjuired by this Section 11.

(vi) Maximum Award Payable. Notwithstandingygprovision contained in the Plan to the contréng, maximum Performance
Compensation Award payable to any one Participadeuthe Plan for a Performance Period is 40,0Q03)ares or, in the event the
Performance Compensation Award is paid in cashetjuévalent cash value thereof on the last dap®Performance Period to which such
Award relates. Furthermore, any Performance CongiemsAward that has been deferred shall not (betwibe date as of which the Award
is deferred and the payment date) increase (i) reitpect to Performance Compensation Award thaayable in cash, by a measuring factor
for each fiscal year greater than a reasonableofargerest set by the Committee or (ii) with respto a Performance Compensation Award
that is payable in Shares, by an amount greaterttteaappreciation of a Share from the date suchrdus deferred to the payment date.

Section 12. Amendment and Termination

(a)Amendments to the PlaiThe Board may amend, alter, suspend, discontoruerminate the Plan or any portion thereof gttime;
provided that no such amendment, alteration, sisspendiscontinuation or termination shall be madthout stockholder approval if such
approval is necessary to comply with any tax oulamry requirement applicable to the Plan; andrioiexd, further, that any such amendmu
alteration, suspension, discontinuance or ternonatiat would impair the rights of any Participaneany holder or beneficiary of any Award
previously granted shall not be effective withdw tonsent of the affected Participant, holderemrefficiary.

(b)Amendments to Award§ he Committee may waive any conditions or riginder, amend any terms of, or alter, suspend, uliseee,
cancel or terminate, any Award theretofore granpedyided that any such waiver, amendment, altmmaguspension, discontinuance,
cancellation or termination that would impair tights of any Participant or any holder or beneficiaf any Award previously granted shall
not be effective without the consent of the affddarticipant, holder or beneficiary.

(c)Adjustment of Awards Upon the Occurrence of Certainsual or Nonrecurring EventsThe Committee is hereby authorized to make
equitable adjustments in the terms and conditiénaral the criteria included in, all outstanding @&wds in recognition of unusual or
nonrecurring events (including, without limitation,




the events described in Section 4(b) hereof) affgghe Company, any Affiliate, or the financight@ments of the Company or any Affiliate,
or of changes in applicable laws, regulations,cmoanting principles, whenever the Committee deit@esithat such adjustments are
appropriate in order to prevent dilution or enlangat of the benefits or potential benefits intenttele made available under the Plan;
provided that no such adjustment shall be authdii@aehe extent that such authority or adjustmemtld cause an Award designated by the
Committee as a Performance Compensation Award (Beletion 11 of the Plan to fail to qualify as “merhance-based compensation” under
Section 162(m) of the Code.

Section 13. Change of Contrdh the event of a Change of Control, any outstaméwards then held by Participants which are
unexercisable or otherwise unvested shall autoaibtibe deemed exercisable or otherwise vestetheasase may be, effective as of
immediately prior to such Change of Control, unligsterms of the Award Agreement expressly pravidethe contrary.

Section 14. General Provisians

(a) Nontransferability.

(i) Each Award, and each right under Amsard, shall be exercisable only by the Participduring the Participant's lifetime, or, if
permissible under applicable law, by the Particijsdiegal guardian or representative.

(i) No Award may be sold, assigned, aliedafdedged, attached or otherwise transferred curmabered by a Participant otherwise than
by will or by the laws of descent and distributiand any such purported sale, assignment, aliengiiedge, attachment, transfer or
encumbrance shall be void and unenforceable aga@s&ompany or any Affiliate; provided that thesid@ation of a beneficiary shall not
constitute a sale, assignment, alienation, plealg@chment, transfer or encumbrance.

(i) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Coritte may in the applicable Award Agreement evidegi@an Option granted under the Plan
or at any time thereafter in an amendment to anrAwareement provide that Options granted hereundhéch are not intended to qualify as
Incentive Options may be transferred by the Paici to whom such Option was granted (the “Grantedthout consideration, subject to
such rules as the Committee may adopt to preskevpurposes of the Plan, to: (1) the Grantee'ssspahildren or grandchildren (including
adopted and stepchildren and grandchildren) (ciliely, the 'Immediate Family"); (2) a trust solédy the benefit of the Grantee and his or
her Immediate Family; or (3) a partnership, corgioraor limited liability company whose only partsemembers or shareholders are the
Grantee and his or her Immediate Family; (eachsfemae described in clauses (1), (2) and (3) aokereinafter referred to as a “Permitted
Transferee”); provided that the Grantee gives thm@ittee advance written notice describing the seamd conditions of the proposed
transfer and the Committee notifies the Grantegriting that such a transfer would comply with tiegiuirements of the Plan and any
applicable Award Agreement evidencing the Option.

The terms of any Option transferred in accordanitie the immediately preceding sentence shall appthe Permitted Transferee and
reference in the Plan or in an Award Agreementntogtionee, Grantee or Participant shall be deameefer to the Permitted Transferee,
except that (a) Permitted Transferees shall nernibéed to transfer any Options, other than by wailthe laws of descent and distribution; (b)
Permitted Transferees shall not be entitled togserany transferred Options unless there shafi bffect a registration statement on an
appropriate form covering the Shares to be acquiueguant to the exercise of such Option if the @itee determines that such a
registration statement is necessary or appropfieX¢he Committee or the Company shall not be ireduo provide any notice to a Permitted
Transferee, whether or not such notice is or wotteérwise have been required to be given to thet@eaunder the Plan or otherwise and (d)
the consequences of termination of the Grantegdoyment by, or services to, the Company undetehas of the Plan and the applicable
Award Agreement shall continue to be applied withpect to the Grantee, following which the Optishall be exercisable by the Permitted
Transferee only to the extent, and for the perisgegified in the Plan and the applicable Awarde&gnent.

(b)No Rights to AwardsNo Participant or other Person shall have aniyrcta be granted any Award, and there is no oblgafior
uniformity of treatment of Participants, or holdersbeneficiaries of Awards. The




terms and conditions of Awards and the Committdetsrminations and interpretations with respeattioeneed not be the same with respect
to each Participant (whether or not such Partidgpare similarly situated).

(c)Share Certificates All certificates for Shares or other securiti€she Company or any Affiliate delivered under tlan pursuant to
any Award or the exercise thereof shall be sulifestich stop transfer orders and other restrictéienhie Committee may deem advisable
under the Plan or the rules, regulations, and otttprirements of the SEC, any stock exchange upgochveuch Shares or other securities are
then listed, and any applicable Federal or stats,land the Committee may cause a legend or legerimis put on any such certificates to
make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

(d)Withholding. (i) A Participant may be required to pay to thentpany or any Affiliate and the Company or any ldfe shall have the
right and is hereby authorized to withhold from @ward, from any payment due or transfer made uadgrAward or under the Plan or fri
any compensation or other amount owing to a Ppéidithe amount (in cash, Shares, other securitiesy Awards or other property) of any
applicable withholding taxes in respect of an Awatslexercise, or any payment or transfer undekward or under the Plan and to take s
other action as may be necessary in the opinidheo€Company to satisfy all obligations for the payinof such taxes. The Committee may
provide for additional cash payments to holderAwérds to defray or offset any tax arising from tfrant, vesting, exercise or payments of
any Award.

(if) Without limiting the generality of claaqi) above, a Participant may satisfy, in wholénopart, the foregoing withholding liability by
delivery of Shares owned by the Participant (whdiod not subject to any pledge or other securigrést and which have been owned by the
Participant for at least six months) with a Fairrkéd Value equal to such withholding liability oy having the Company withhold from the
number of Shares otherwise issuable pursuant texbeise of the option a number of Shares withiaMarket Value equal to such
withholding liability.

(iif) Notwithstanding any provision of thigah to the contrary, in connection with the transfean Option to a Permitted Transferee
pursuant to Section 14(a), the Grantee shall refrate for any withholding taxes required to béhkield upon the exercise of such Option
by the Permitted Transferee.

(e)Award AgreementsEach Award hereunder shall be evidenced by anrdvigreement which shall be delivered to the Piuaiat and
shall specify the terms and conditions of the Awand any rules applicable thereto, including butlinoited to the effect on such Award of
the death, disability or termination of employmenservice of a Participant and the effect, if arfysuch other events as may be determined
by the Committee.

(f) No Limit on Other Compensation Arrangementhing contained in the Plan shall prevent tioenBany or any Affiliate from
adopting or continuing in effect other compensatamngements, which may, but need not, providéhi@grant of options, restricted stock,
Shares and other types of Awards provided for hreteu(subject to stockholder approval if such apakts required), and such arrangements
may be either generally applicable or applicablly anspecific cases.

(g)No Right to EmploymentThe grant of an Award shall not be construedigiag a Participant the right to be retained in &meploy of,
or in any consulting relationship to, or as a divpeon the Board or board of directors, as appleadf, the Company or any Affiliate. Further,
the Company or an Affiliate may at any time disn@d3articipant from employment or discontinue aostilting relationship, free from any
liability or any claim under the Plan, unless ottiee expressly provided in the Plan, any Award &grent or any applicable employment
contract or agreement.

(h)No Rights as StockholdeBubject to the provisions of the applicable Awaral Participant or holder or beneficiary of any @ shall
have any rights as a stockholder with respect yoSirares to be distributed under the Plan untdrrghe has become the holder of such
Shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in connectiith each grant of Restricted Stock hereunderatiplicable Award shall specify if and
to what extent the Participant shall not be emtitethe rights of a stockholder in respect of sRelstricted Stock.




(i) Governing Law The validity, construction, and effect of therPnd any rules and regulations relating to the Rfed any Award
Agreement shall be determined in accordance weHatvs of the State of New York, applied withoutigg effect to its conflict of laws
principles.

(j) Severability. If any provision of the Plan or any Award is @clomes or is deemed to be invalid, illegal, or to@eable in any
jurisdiction or as to any Person or Award, or wodisualify the Plan or any Award under any lawrded applicable by the Committee, si
provision shall be construed or deemed amendedrtfoan the applicable laws, or if it cannot be domsd or deemed amended without, in
the determination of the Committee, materially ritig the intent of the Plan or the Award, such |Bmn shall be stricken as to such
jurisdiction, Person or Award and the remaindethefPlan and any such Award shall remain in fuitéoand effect

(k) Other Laws. The Committee may refuse to issue or transferSirares or other consideration under an Awardiig in its sole
discretion, it determines that the issuance orstearof such Shares or such other consideratiohtwiglate any applicable law or regulation
or entitle the Company to recover the same undetid®el6(b) of the Exchange Act, and any paymemdi¢eed to the Company by a
Participant, other holder or beneficiary in conim@tivith the exercise of such Award shall be prdgnmfunded to the relevant Participant,
holder or beneficiary. Without limiting the genetabf the foregoing, no Award granted hereundeligbe construed as an offer to sell
securities of the Company, and no such offer sfmbbutstanding, unless and until the Committetsisdle discretion has determined that any
such offer, if made, would be in compliance withagplicable requirements of the U.S. federal séesrlaws.

() No Trust or Fund CreatedNeither the Plan nor any Award shall create ocdrestrued to create a trust or separate fundyokemd or ¢
fiduciary relationship between the Company or affifliAte and a Participant or any other Persontfimextent that any Person acquires a
right to receive payments from the Company or affilidte pursuant to an Award, such right shallfmegreater than the right of any
unsecured general creditor of the Company or affijiaké.

(m)No Fractional SharesNo fractional Shares shall be issued or deliveraduant to the Plan or any Award, and the Coremishall
determine whether cash, other securities, or gitmerty shall be paid or transferred in lieu of &nactional Shares or whether such fracti
Shares or any rights thereto shall be canceledhjteted, or otherwise eliminated.

(n)Headings. Headings are given to the Sections and subseatibthe Plan solely as a convenience to faciltteterence. Such headings
shall not be deemed in any way material or relet@tite construction or interpretation of the Réam@ny provision thereof.

Section 15. Term of the Plan
(a)Effective Date The Plan shall be effective as of the date ddiiigroval by the stockholders of the Company.

(b)Expiration Date. No Award shall be granted under the Plan afterebeber 31, 2012. Unless otherwise expressly praovidéhe Plan
or in an applicable Award Agreement, any Award tgdrhereunder may, and the authority of the Boattie®Committee to amend, alter,
adjust, suspend, discontinue, or terminate any swugrd or to waive any conditions or rights undey auch Award shall, continue after
December 31, 2012.




EXHIBIT 21.1

Subsidiaries
Satellite CD Radio, In State of Delawar
Sirius Asset Management Company L State of Delawar
Sirius Entertainment Promotions LL State of Delawar
Spend LLC State of Marylant
Earth Station Ecuador Cia. Lt Quito, Ecuado



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to reference to our firm in the headtmttem 6 -Selected Financial Data and to the use of our teplated February 23, 2007
this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Sirius SatellRadio Inc. (“Company”), with respect to the condated financial statements of Sirius
Satellite Radio Inc., Sirius Satellite Radio In@magement’s assessment of the effectiveness ofiateontrol over financial reporting, and
the effectiveness of internal control over finaho@porting of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc., inclutlim the 2006 Annual Report to Shareholders
of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc.

Our audits also included the financial statemehedale of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. listed innitd5(a). This schedule is the responsibilit
the Company’s management. Our responsibility exioress an opinion based on our audits. In ouri@pithe consolidated financial
statement schedule referred to above, when comrsiderrelation to the basic financial statemernitetiaas a whole, present fairly in all
material respects the information set forth therein

We consent to the incorporation by reference infelewing Registration Statements:

Form S-8 No. 333-139214, No. 333-133277, No. 333113, 333-119479, No. 333-81914, No. 333-74752,388-65473, No. 333-15085,
No. 33-95118, No. 33-92588, No. 333-31362, No. 333-62818,333-81914, No. 333-100083, No. 333-101515,383-106020 and
No. 333111221

Form S-3 No. 333-130949, No. 333-130949, No. 338168, No. 333-115695, No. 333-64344, No. 333-65602,333-52893, No. 333-
85847, No. 333-86003, No. 333-10446 and No. 3333808

of our reports dated February 23, 2007, with refsfmethe consolidated financial statements andduleeof Sirius Satellite Radio Inc., Sirius
Satellite Radio Inc. management’s assessment aftaetiveness of internal control over financigporting, and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting of Sirius SatalRadio Inc., included in this Annual Report (Far@iK) of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

New York, New York
March 1, 2007



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Mel Karmazin, the Chief Executive Officer of Bis Satellite Radio Inc., certify the

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. for the period edddecember 31, 200

Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omsgitéde a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal controls over financial report{ag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulatlying the period in which this report is beingared

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial réipar, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldsire controls and procedures and presentedsimegport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coueyéhis report based on su
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any changes in the regigts internal controls over financial reportingtloccurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hagenally affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thewvedent
functions):

(@ all significant deficiencies and material weaknedsehe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information;
and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

By: /s/ MELK ARMAZIN

Mel Karmazin
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer

March 1, 2007



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, David J. Frear, the Executive Vice President @hief Financial Officer of Sirius Satellite Raditc., certify that;

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. for the period edddecember 31, 200

Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omsgitéde a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal controls over financial report{ag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulatlying the period in which this report is beingared

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial réipar, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldsire controls and procedures and presentedsimegport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coueyéhis report based on su
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any changes in the regigts internal controls over financial reportingtloccurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hagenally affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thewvedent
functions):

(@ all significant deficiencies and material weaknedsehe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information;
and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

By: /s/ DAviD J. FREAR

David J. Frea

Executive Vice President al
Chief Financial Officel
(Principal Financial Officer

March 1, 2007



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report @fi& Satellite Radio Inc. (the “Company”) on Fofi®-K for the period ended December 31,
2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Csion on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Melriazin, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01 3% adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sask@nley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejrerements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemsiExchange Act of 1934; ai

(2) The information contained in the Refairly presents, in all material respects, timaficial condition and results of
operations of the Compan

By: /s/ MELK ARMAZIN

Mel Karmazin
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer

March 1, 2007

A signed original of this written staterheequired by Section 906, or other document antibating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed forithiw the electronic version of this written staemhrequired by Section 906, has been
provided to the Company and will be retained byGeenpany and furnished to the Securities and Exgh&ommission or its staff up
request.




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report @fi& Satellite Radio Inc. (the “Company”) on Fofi®-K for the period ended December 31,
2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cwsion on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, Dadid-rear, Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted porsoigection 906 of the Sarbar@gley
Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejrgrements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemsiExchange Act of 1934; al

(2) The information contained in the Refairly presents, in all material respects, timamcial condition and results of
operations of the Compan

By: /s/ DAviD J. FREAR

David J. Frea

Executive Vice President al
Chief Financial Officel
(Principal Financial Officer

March 1, 2007

A signed original of this written statement requitgy Section 906, or other document authenticatiegnowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed forithiw the electronic version of this written staemhrequired by Section 906, has been

provided to the Company and will be retained byGeenpany and furnished to the Securities and Exgh@@ommission or its staff up
request.




